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Arthur Inghram Baker's sixteen years in Kansas spanned the tran-
sition from pre-territorial to statehood and his participation in many
of the important events of this period make hig life an ideal study'of
the various aspects of the Upper Neosho pioneer. The early years of

Kansas were characterized by violence, political intrique, and land

speculation. It is in these areas that Baker's life and death add to

the understanding of the issues which created the thirty-fourth state.

It was as a blacksmith, in 1846, with the Sac and Fox Indians,

that Baker first came to Kansas. He remained with the Indians until

1854, when he was dismissed by the agent as being ''an unfit man to be

in Indian Country.'' With knowledge that the territory would soon be
open for settlement, Baker moved west and established a store at the
Rock Creek crossing of the Santa Fe Trail just east of Council Grove.
By his pre-emption at Rock Creek, Baker became not only the
first settler in what was to become Breckinridge County, but he immed-
jately became its most prominent citizen and business and political
leader. At his home, now named Agnes City, Baker became noted as a

farmer, merchant, post master, attorney, trade correspondent and land



speculator. It was at Agnes City that the county's first seat of
government was established with Baker its first probate judge.

It is as a political leader that Baker is best remembered in
local and territorial history. During the seven years that Kansas was
a territory, Baker was an active and vocal advocate of the entire gamut
of its diverse political factions. Baker ranged from a slave-owner and
pro-slavery sympathizer to leader of the county Free-State party, founder
of the Republican party and then a Democrat advocate.

Was Baker a dedicated promoter of the frontier, a political
opportunist, or a fool? The questlion arises from his constant switching
of political parties and his desire to maintain control of the county.
His loss of such control in the 1859-60 county seat war between Americus
and Emporia resulted In his removal from Breckinridge to Morris County.
Although he retained his home at Agnes City, Baker became the proprie-
tor and editor of the Press and the proprietor of the Union Hotel in
Councll Grove.

Due to the economic upheaval created by the Civil War and the
sudden death of his wife, Baker's business ventures in Council Grove
soon failed. Regardless of his Union editorial support and his elec-
tion as commander of the local militia, Baker left the Upper Neosho
for Missouri where he was arrested and imprisoned as a secessionist.

After being held for four months the charges were dismissed,
and Baker returned to Agnes City. |t was not long after his return
that he engaged in a personal quarrel, killing the father of a neigh-
boring family, and then, in turn, the sons of the family took Baker's
life and burned his home and store in revenge.

Baker's life and death in Kansas presents a strange combination

of the paradox and conflict so inherent in its territorial history. The



satility of both his business and political ventures provide for

 historian a microcosmic study of that history.
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CHAPTER |
INTRODUCTION

Before many moons, | will place this tittle romance
of mine before the public, when | will be allowed to
use names. Untll then-«-
'"Here's a sigh to those who love me,
And a smile to those who hate:

And, whatsoever sky's above me,
Here's a heart for every fate.

il

With these words one of the first pioneers and founders of the
te of Kansas closes a letter to a well-known Kansas newspaper, de-
ding his honor and name. Unfortunately, this frontiersman never
pleted the task of placing his '""little romance . . . before the pub-
"2 He was never allowed to use those names which might have cleared
For within not too many moons, Just over three months, this man
dead in the celler of his store on the Santa Fe Trail. He was the
tim of one of the most cruel and treacherous murders in the annals
not only the Neosho River Valley, but also in all of Kansas.3

Who was the recanter who wrote these lines and who was so soon
lay but a mangled, charred remant of hls former self? His name

, Arthur Inghram Baker. When one looks through the various histories

early Kansas and the Neosho River valley, it is hard to find the

v

g Iletter to the editor from A. |. Baker in the Emporia News,
il 12, 1862.

2Ibid.

! 3For the purpose of this paper the term Neosho River valley

?rs to the present counties of Lyon and Morris in the state of

§Sas. Santa Fe Trail is used most of the time in this paper as it is
. most common name for the major trade route to the Southwestern ter-
ories. It must be noted, however, that many of the newspapers of

. mld-nineteenth century used the title of Santa Fe Road.




f Arthur Inghram Baker.h But as one takes a closer look at those
nces, it is clear that they are mixed with inconsistencies and
xes, which concern not only Baker's life, but to a lesser degree
story of the early years of Kansas. Baker's life in Kansas, from
e-territorial days in 1847 to its second year of statehood in 1862,
rectly related to many of the major historical events occurring

) that period; and thus can be considered a microcosm of those

. Since those early years of Kansas are open to a great deal of
sion and since this was a very critical era of American history,
the hope of this writer that by presenting a biographical study
thur Inghram Baker, a greater understanding may be gained of many
)se major events.

This thesis, then, will be a discussion of the paradoxes found
er's life and how they relate to early Kansas history. The study
egin with a discussion of Baker as first a blacksmith and then a
r with the Mississippi Sac and Fox Indian Agency in Franklin County,
5. Here the first major crisis of Baker's life occurred when his

s¢ to trade was not renewed and he was forced to remove himself from

| 9Some sample references to Arthur Inghram Baker are A. T.

85, History of the State of Kansas (Chicago: A. T. Andreas,

, one reference; Louise Barry, The Beginning of the West:

$ of the Kansas Gateway to the American West 1540-1854 (Topeka:

s State Historical Society, 1972), nine references; Louise

, Comprehensive Index, 1875-1930, to Collections, Biennial

ts, and Publications of the Kansas State Historical Society

ka: Kansas State Historical Society, 1959), twenty-five refer-

; Lalla Maloy Brigham, The Story of Council Grove On the Santa

211, (2d ed., n.p., 1921), two references; William E. Connel ley,

ndard History of Kansas and Kansans, Volume | (Chicago: Llewis

gﬁing Company, 1918), two references; Charles R. Green, ed.,
_Days in Kansas (Olathe: C. R. Green, 1913), five references;

torx_pf County Archives of Kansas, No. 6L, Morris County (Wash-

i, Works Project Administration, 1936), two references; John

,'History of Morris County," Council Grove Kansas Cosmos,

ary 26, 1886 to May 7, 1886, thirty-six references; Jacob Stotler,

$ of Emporia and Lyon CounExA(n.p., n.d.), three references.




jation.
e third chapter deals with Baker's removal to the Santa Fe
sing of Rock Creek in what was to become the northwestern
Breckinridge County.S It was here that Baker became estab-
one of the first, if not the first, settlers In Breckinridge
The dual historical controversy of the location of Baker's
the actual date of his settlement is discussed in this chapter.
s one of the first frontiersman in Kansas Territory, Baker
for the historian an exampie of the many activities in which
might take part. The fourth chapter presents a discussion
as a frontier farmer, merchant, pre-emptor, land ;peculator,
oter, attorney, editor and hosteler.
uring the years prior to the American Civil War, a major ques-
h affected Kansas was whether the territory would be free or
nis controversy is perhaps best seen In the various elections
e held in the years just following the creation of the territory.
e most controversial of these elections is that for the first
al Legislature of 1855 when the two sides first formulated
parties supposedly designed to further the free or slave

They were known as the Free State Party and the Pro-Slavery
aker's role as a candidate in that election creates a paradox
t what constituted a Free State or Pro-Slavery candidate. The

pter begins with a reinterpretation of that question of party

Breckinridge County, established in 1855, was named for John

nridge, Vice-president of the United States under James
After the Civil War began, the county was, in 1862, re-

n, in honor of General Nathaniel Lyon. The spelling of

dge varies from one account to another, but in this paper

er than “en' will be used.



nment in the election of 1855.

From the time of Baker's candidacy in the election of 1855,
ecomes increasingly involved in the political life of the territory
the Neosho River valley. Chapter five continues by discussing
r as a force in Breckinridge County politics, his activity in the
~-State Party, his efforts to help establish the Republican party,
finally his alignment with the Democratic Party.

The first part of the chapter is not merely a discussion of
r's version of musical chairs, but provides the needed background for
scussion of the very important county-seat question of 1859 and 1860,
of the major controversies in early Breckinridge County history. In
ection with this question, Baker plays what is perhaps his most im-
ant role. The question of political control of the county was one
h affected Baker throughout both his private and professional or
tical life. The conclusion of this chapter is designed to provide
 new insight about this aspect of Breckinridge County history.

Following the loss of the county seat by Americus and its re-
tion in Emporia, Baker removed himself from Breckinridge County
tics and became more involved in the affairs of Morris County and

cil Grove.6 In 1861, Baker became the editor of the Council Grove

s and the proprietor of the Union Hotel in Council Grove. He also

me involved with the recruitment of troops for the Union Army. All

Morris County was established in 1855 as Wise County, named
Henry A, Wise, governor of Virginia and a well-known pro-slavery
cate. In February, 1859, the territorial legislature, now in
control of the fFree-State Party renamed the county, in honor of
as Morris, a prominent United States Senator from Ohio. Baker's
. at Rock Creek was located just ten miles East of Council Grove.
/as thus geographically closer to the seat of Morris rather than
kinridge County.



tivity served as background for another major paradoxical
aker's life. In the fall of 1861 Baker was arrested in

or attempting to join the Confederate forces of General

rice. Besides providing a discussion of Baker's activities
Grove, chapter six begins by attempting to clarify his act-
issouri.

st as Arthur Inghram Baker lived in controversy, he died in
Psy. The sixth chapter concludes with the controversy of his

I the immediate events which led to it.

The very nature of Baker's life and death have presented a tre-
hallenge in searching for understanding and truth. The incon-
»s and paradoxes inherent in the various historical references
have to first be examined with a critical eye. Nearly all of
ences are from secondary sources and are seemingly the product
5 passed on to the writer. The few writers who personally knew
ere recording their remembrances many years after the events took
"Some of these writers were recording second-hand information, as
mselves were not actual witnesses to the events.7

Although those references found in the various state and local
es have served as the starting point for researching Baker, proof
yir validity became dependent upon what bits and pieces of primary
? evidence this researcher has been able to obtain. A brief dis-
of the problems associated with some of these primary sources
Jaerve to illustrate the difficulty in writing a history of a re-

ly obscure, yet important individual.

7Examples of these Inconslstencies will be used throughout
thesis In connection with the different topics mentioned earlier.



Unfortunately, any private papers or records which Baker might
ept were most certainly lost due to the fire which consumed his

‘and place of business at the time of his death. There are other

rs and records, however, which have been found by this researcher.
#rning the family history of Baker, this researcher has made use

e genealogical record kept by the Baker family. Although these re-
s contain many gaps concerning Arthur Inghram, they do provide some
rmation concerning his life. The family papers also contain a man-
Eﬂpt written by a niece of Baker's, Mary Simcock, one of the early
%eer ladies of Council Grove. This manuscript, along with an inter-
iw with another niece of Baker's, Fanny Axe of Lakewood, California,
though Tacking in many details, has provided the researcher with many
eresting sidellights concerning Arthur Inghram and the entire Baker
nily.

Baker's tenure at the Mississippi Sac and Fox Indian Agency is
ely mentioned in the histories of early Kansas. Here the researcher
, depended upon the letters and records of the Sac and Fox Indian Re-
'vation in the custody of the National Archives. Although there are
e gaps in these materials, they have proved invaluable in discovering
er's role with the agency.

A major source of material was found in the local newspapers
1ished during Baker's residence in Breckinridge County. Although

re is a wealth of material concerning Baker in the Council Grove

ss and the Emporia News, there is a major void in that the Americus

tine)l is all but completely lost to the historian.8 This creates

e difficulty for the researcher, as other newspapers were periodically

8There is only one known copy of the Americus Sentinel in existence.
s copy concerns the drought of 1860.




king reference to Baker's comments in the Sentinel. This paper
uld be of great value in understanding the Americus side of the county
2at question.

The problem of newspaper coverage is compounded by the fact that

ome issues of the Council Grove Press are missing. Many of these issues

re from the period of Baker's proprietorship.

An effort was made to develop a greater understanding of Baker's
[fe at the Rock Creek crossing of the Santa Fe Road, when the writer
articipated in and helped direct an archeological excavation of his
ome. This excavation was done under the auspices of Emporia State
niversity, under the overall direction of Professor Jeffrey Brown.9

A great wealth of material was gained from various government
ecords and documents. These consisted of county, terrltorial, state,
nd federal records. All of the early county commission records of
yon County, Kansas, were lost during the transfer of records from the
1d courthouse to the new. Other than for these records, the courthouses
f Chase, Lyon and Morris counties have supplied court, deed, probate and
ax records to the researcher in great quantity.

The three territorial Kansas censuses which were taken supply a
reat amount of information about Baker. The first territorial census
f 1855 is not considered a completely accurate assessment of the entire
opulation, but it does supply some important infprmation pertaining to
aker's relationship to the slavery question. An incomplete territorial
ensus was taken in 1859. Fortunately this census is complete for Breck-
nridge County, and provides information concerning when the various pio-

eers settled in that county. The most valuable and complete of the

9Thls was one of two digs concerning Baker by the University.
hey were conducted in the summers of 1972 and 1973.



9 _ 'U,,rlmlﬁr(:'t’ L
er(‘e‘r .

pe it

toria) censuses is that of 1860. This census has a great deal
formation concerning Baker's comparative wealth and economic po-
n in the county at that time. |

The major problem, tHen, in researching Baker has been, not
there is not historical materlal available, but rather that key
-ts have either been destroyed, lost, or so general that Baker has
e merely a peripheral part of the entire record. Regardless of
: problems, this thesis Is a definite attempt to present the faéts
2rning the life of Arthur Inghram Baker and his effect on the Kansas
leosho valley frontier. |In summary, it Is the purpose of this paper
lace Baker's ''little romance . . . before the public,'" and even to

names.“lo

10l etter to the editor from A. |. Baker In the Emporia News,
112, 1862. o




CHAPTER 11
""AN UNFIT MAN"

The employment of Arthur Inghram Baker with tﬁe Mississippl Sac
Fox Indian Agency was a natural extengion of his position as the
st son. His father's employment as a blacksmith with the agency, and
employment of family friends, notably Charles H. Withington, served
raw him into a close association with it and with a frontier way of
- directly related to the Indian nation. His family's association
' the administration of Indian reservation affairs can further be seen
he fact that two brothers, three brothers-in-law, and his mother
 also directly employed at one time or another with one or more
Icy or mission.]

The major historical question pertaining to Baker and his assoc-
jon with the Sac and Fox Indian Nation Agency is not whether he was
loyed or even why he was employed. The gquestion does not even nec-
arily pertain to the nature of his association with the agency.
er, the major historical question concerns the cause and nature of
termination of Baker's relationship with the agency.

After having served with the agency, in one capacity or another,
nearly a decade, Baker's renewal of his license to trade with the
ians was denied by the agent, B. A. James. James then demanded that

er remove himself from the reservation as '"Yan unfit man to be in

]Illustrations of employment by these individuals will be
en in this chapter.

2Alfred Cumming to George W. Manypenny, January 5, 1854,
respondence From Office (of) Superintendent of Indian Affairs to
E}ssioner of Indian Affairs (typed copy in Archives of Kansas State
torical Society, Topeka, Kansas), henceforth referred to as Correspon -
ce.
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{ian Country."3 It is the background and validity of the charges

ch James brought against Baker.and likewise the validity of Baker's

nter-charges against James, which will be the focus of this chapter.
Arthur |. Baker's association with the‘Mississippi Sac and Fox

lian Agency began shortly after the migration of his family from

ginia to lowa in 183h—l836.h

By 1839, Joshua Wells Baker became

bloyed as a blacksmith with the agency in lowa.”? There is some dis-
reement as to when Arthur |. Baker was directly employed by the agency.
uise Barry, in her monumental annals of Kansas before 1854, gives the

te of Baker's original appointment as a blacksmith with the Sac and

x of the Misslissippi as November 1, 1844.6 There is some evidence,
wever, that Baker was employed for at least a year prior to his appoint-
nt. The first year in which the '"Official Roster of Kansas' lists his
ployment is 18h3.7 It is possible that Arthur Baker was employed on
ther a temporary or ﬁrobational basis prior to his actual appointment.

In 1842 the Mississippi Sac and Fox Indians ceded their lowa

nd claims to the government of the United States by treaty. In return,

3Alfred Cumming to George W. Manypenny, January 3, 1855,
rrespondence.

h“Baker Family Genealogical History' (property of Fannie Axe).
mily history claims that Joshua Wells Baker and his family '"came from
rginia in 1834--the year that the stars fell-after Joshua's father died
. « .Overtaken by a bitter winter in Carthage, |11. they waited there.
. and during the temporary residence there, their sixth child, Eliza
n, was born there 22 April 1836."

5“Official Roster of Kansas'' Collections of the Kansas State
storical Society, 1923-1925 (Topeka: Kansas State Printing Plant,
25), p. 727. Henceforth referred to as Collections.

6L ouise Barry, The Beginning of the West: Annals of the Kansas
teway to the American West 1540-185L (Topeka: Kansas State Historical
xlety, 1972, p. 661.

Tuofficial Roster," Collections, 1923-1925, p. 729.



e Indians were to receive a tract of land somewhere west on the
issouri River or its tributaries. They were also to receive some
800,000 in payment.8 The treaty was ratified on February 15, 1843,
d finally in 1846 most of the Indians. were removed to Kansas.® The
ounger Baker moved to Kansas Indian territory as a blacksmith with

he bulk of the nation, while the elder Baker stayed with the remnant
hich remained in Ic>wa.]0 It was not long after this removal that the
lder Baker died '"at Fort Des Moines, still in the service of the In-

' With the demise of his father in 1848, Arthur |. Baker be-

jans.'
. 12
ame the head of the family.

History records that Arthur |. Baker was reappointed a black-
mith with the Sac and Fox in 1847 and again in 18h8.]3 A letter per-
aining to his 1848 reappointment also notes the reappointment of With-
ngton as a blacksmith, and the appointments of Baker's brother, Morris,

nd future brother-in-law, Emanuel Mosier, as assistant blacksmiths.]h

8lda M. Ferris, '"The Sauks and Foxes in Franklin And Osage
ounties, Kansas,'' Collections, 1909-1910 (Topeka: State Printing
ffice, 1910), p. 339.

9lbid., pp. 340-34). Ferris claims that ''the Sauk and Fox re-
iervation in Kansas embraced, generally speaking, all of Weller (now
)sage) county south of Dragoon township, to the present Coffey county
Hne, and extended six and one-half miles east into Franklin county,
jnd some three miles west into Lyon county."

100 aker Family."

I‘“Major Beach's History of the Agency,'" History of Wapello
, lowa (Chicago: Western History Company, 1878), p. 364.

12

""Baker Family."

3Barry, pp. 730, 792.

'hlbid., p. 792. Thomas H. Harvey to W. Medill, April 17, 1848,
rrespondence. Harvey states that Arthur Baker and Mosier would ''be
1d out of the Reserved fund of these Indians under the §' (sic) ar-
tle of their treaty of 1842."
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Arthur Baker remained with the agency as a blacksmith until
1843 when he resigned to become a trader with the same nation.!5 Al-
though the exact date of Baker's resignation is not known, it is known
that Baker was serving as a trader by the ninth of August of that year.
It is on that date that the Reverend Jotham Meeker records, in his diary,
officiating at the marriage of Baker's sister Sarah to Emanuel Mosier.]6
A marriage certificate signed by Meeker, states that the couple was '"'united
by Marriage, ét the House of Mr. Ingram Baker, Sauk & Fox Trader."!7
Shortly after his marriage, Emanuel Mosier, along with Morris Baker, moved
to Council Grove to accept appointments as blacksmiths with the Kanza

18

Indians.

Family history claims that Baker's mothef, Agnes Miller Inghram
Baker, came to Kansas in 1843 to visit her children.]9 She was evidently
intent on settling in Kansas, as Mary Simcock states that ''she had sold

n20

her home in lowa. Since, however, Agnes Baker is listed on the 1850

lowa census, she probably only came for the wedding of her eldest daugh-

15p. D. Mitchell to Orlando Brown, November 26, 1849, Corres-
pondence.

16”Diary of Jotham Meeker, 1804-1855" (typed copy in Archives
~of Kansas State Historical Society, Topeka, Kansas), p. 586. Baker's
~middle name, Inghram, was his mother's maiden name. The spelling of
this name varies from source to source. The spelling used in this
thesis was taken from the family genealogical record. As shown in
~Appendix A, Baker was named for his maternal grandfather, Arthur inghram.

]7“Correspondence and Papers of Jotham Meeker' (1849 file in
Archives of Kansas State Historical Society, Topeka, Kansas).

180.
pondence.
‘ 9igaker Family."

D. Mitchell to Orlando Brown, December 10, 1850, Corres-

20”Manuscript of Mary Simcock,' '"'Baker Family Genealogical
istory'" (property of Fannie Axe). Henceforth referred to as ''Simcock
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ter.ZI |t was not until after the removal of the Mosiers to Council

Grove that Agnes Baker, along with her other two daughters and youngest
son, left lowa for good and followed them there.22 Upon her arrival,
Thomas Sears Huffaker, the teacher at the Kaw Indian Mission, 'persuaded
her to take the position of matron for . . . (the) Indian school.“23
In 1852, Huffaker married the second Béker daughter, Eliza Ann (pictured
in Figure 1, page 15), in the first white wedding in Council Grove.zu

Although Baker was evidentjy serving as Indian trader by early
August of 1849, his license to trade was not granted by the agent, C. N.
Handy, until January of 1850.25 Records show that Baker's license was
renewed by the new agent, J. R. Chenault, first in February, 1852 and
again in January, 1853.26

Shortly after his 1852 license renewal, Baker employed his
brother, Perry, ''as clerk at his trading house . . . to fill the place

of E1i Sewell."27 Within six months following his 1853 license renewal,

Baker again employed his brother-in-law, Eli M. Sewell, as a clerk and

211850 Census of lowa. The 1B50 lowa census lists Agnes Baker
as living in Wapello County, lowa.

22”Simcock Manuscript."

23Ibid.

2l‘Lalla Maloy Brigham, The Story of Council Grove On The Santa

Fe Trail, (2d ed., n.p., 1921), p. 13.

25p, p. Mitchell to Orlando Brown, January 7, 1850, Corres-
pondence.

26John Haverty to D. D. Mitchell, February 27, 1852, Corres-
pondence (referring to 1852 renewal); John Haverty to D. D. Mitchell,
January 29, 1853, Correspondence (referring to 1853 renewal).

27j0hn R. Chenault to Luke Lea, April 8, 1852. Lletters Re-
ceived By the Office of Indian Affairs, 1824-1881 (microfilmed copy

from National Archives, Washington, D. C.), henceforth referred to
as letters.
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Arthur Baker's sister, Eliza Ann Baker Huffaker,
as pictured later in life. Her marriage to Thomas
Sears Huffaker, in 1852, was the first white wed-

dlng in Council Grove. (Courtesy of Kansas State
Historical Society.)



stant trader.28 Sewell was to remain a close business associate
1 Baker's untimely death.

As an Indian trader, Baker was concerned with trading on both an
ividual and a contract basis. In trading with the Indians on an in-
idual basis, Baker, like most of the traders, was known to give very
eral credit, which was paid off when the Indians received their
rly indemnity from the government.29 The issue of credit payment
ough indemnities became a major sore spot between the agent, James,

the trader, Baker.

Baker also served the agency by making contracts with the Indian
fon to supply them needed goods. In particular, Baker was known to
e supplied the Sac and Fox with burial cloth.30 A description of the
‘of burial cloth was given by lda Ferris in her history of the Sac
iFox.

: Before he expired the medicine men anointed him and he was

"~ painted for death. A grave was dug in the form of a seat, so
- the top of the head of the corpse, when seated, would be even
with the top of the ground. A piece of domestic or strong
cloth was passed around the body and tied tightly over the top
of the head. The gun, wampum and other personal effects were
buried also..... A green pole was set in the ground and bent
over so that the end of this spring-pole came over the head of
- the departed Indian. Then the spring-pole was held down by
being tied to a stake driven into the ground on the opposite
side of the grave. The cloth on top of the Indian's head was
then tied to the spring-pole. The idea was that when the res-
urrection day should come the fastenings would give way at the

stake and the s?ring-pole would elevate the Indian and set him
upon his feet.3

288. A. James to George W. Manypenny, May 30, 1853. Letters.

nge 0 Kuk, Pow a shick, Pis Ke Mah ne, Tue Quas, Pe shc she
and Cap a co me to George W. Manypenny, August 16, 1853, Letters.

30John Haverty to Orlando Brown, February 15, 1850, Correspon-



It was during the tenure of Chenault, as Indian agent, that
Baker and his family flrst came into disfavor as a trading house with
the agency. Although the two Inclidents which occurred under Chenault
did not In themselves bring about Baker's dismissal, they were cited by
the next agent as evidence of Baker being unfit to be in Indian territory.

The first incident with Chenault affected Arthur Baker only indir-
ectly. This concerned Baker's brother, Morris, yet served to lay the
seeds of distrust between the Baker family and the administrators of
Indian affairs.

Morris Baker, who had been serving as a blacksmith with the Kaw
agency in Councll Grove, returned to Sac and Fax territory sometime in
early 1852. While at the Sac and Fox agency, Cﬁenault accused Morris
Baker of stealing horses and ''ordered (him) to leave the indian

132

Country (sic). In a cover letter sent to the Commissioner of Indian

Affairs, Morris Baker proclaimed his innocence. 3> He enclosed ten
depositions which supported his plea and petition to be allowed to re-
main in !ndian territory.3h There was no evidence that Chenault's
decision was ever reversed by his superiors. It was, most assuredly,
. upheld, as the issue was resolved by the removal of Morris Baker and

~two of his brothers, Perry and William, to Oregon.35

32Morris Baker to L. lLea, September 10, 1852. letters.
331bid.

3l‘Deposition of Thomas C. Weaver, July 24, 1852, letters; Depo-

sition of E. M. Sewell, June 30, 1852, Letters; Deposition of Mellekers
Wallode, July 30, 1852, Letters; Deposition of Thomas Crabtree, July 27,
1852, Letters; Deposition of Richard Bachster and Wan de waw, June 29, 1852,
Letters; Deposition of Richard Backster and Jacob Miller, July 28, 1852,
Lletters; Deposition of Tylower James, June 30, 1852, Letters; Deposition

of Thomas J. Connolly, July 27, 1852, Letters; Deposition of Susan J. Baker
and Franinia M. Powers, July 27, 1852, Letters.

351Baker Family."



The second incident occurred during or just prior to the month
of January, 1853, when Baker had applied for the renewal of his license
to trade. The difficulty between Chenault and Baker was described in an
affidavit by James F. Mills, a former blacksmith with the Sac and Fox.
it occurred (sic) about a mixed blood Indian, named (George)
Powers, the agent had refused to permit Powers to serve in any
trading house, but consented to alow (sic) him (to) remain at
Baker's store. And he sometimes would go in the storeroom.
Chenault took offence, supposing that Baker had employed him. .”36
Mills added that ''. . . this was all explained and Mr. Chenault gave
n37

Baker a new license afterwards.
Mills's conclusion, however, was in conflict with that of Chenault.
Chenault referred to Powers as '‘a drunken fellow who | had dismissed

from the interpreters place. . . . .“38 In writing to James, Chenault
defined Baker's role concerning this incident as '"his whole conduct

about keeping Powers in his service was such as to satisfy one conclusive-
ly that he was not disposed to show the slightest respect to the regula-
tions.'33 Chenault reminded James that

before | left the Sac & Fox Agency and after | had turned

over everything to you as my successon | distinctly informed

you that you would have no difficulty in getting along with

any of the traders then there except A. |. Baker. That he

was an unprincipled, impudenﬁ and meddlesom fellow who would

be sure to give you trouble. 0

Chenault continued by reiterating that Baker was 'distitute (sic) of

nhl

principle. Although Chenault admitted that he had in fact renewed

36Affidavit of James F. Mills, December 28, 1853, Letters.
37|bid
38John R. Chenault to B. A. James, May 23, 1854, Letters.
391211
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er's license, he changed the wording to read in such a way as to put

L2

er on probation. James claimed ''that Major Chenault had to change

» wording of the license in order as may‘be infered (sic), to save
s oath of office.”l{3

With such a recommendation from his predecessor, it was evident to
re that James came into office with a set bias against Baker as a trader.
fore James's first year as agent was completed, he took steps to re-
ve Baker from the agency by refusing to even consider the renewal of

Ly

ker's license, when Baker made application on December 20, 1853, In

e opinion of the Superintendent of Indian Affairs, Alfred Cumming, how-

er, James's refusal to allow Baker to remain as a trader with the Sac

d Fox was ''grounded upon his conscientious opinion of the unfitness

Mr. Baker to be continued (any) longer as a trader in his Agency.“l‘S
With the non-renewal of his license to trade, Baker, through his

torney, John W. Reid, appealed directly to the Secretary of the Interior

r ""the fullest investigation' of the agent's ''disservice'' since coming

L6

the Sac and Fox. Reid made clear that Baker believed that such an

vestigation 'will be satisfactory to the Department why his appeal should
L7

sustained, and a License granted to him."

In support of his appeal for a reversal of the agent's decision,

b21pi4.

43g, A. James to John S. Phelps, March 25, 1854, Letters.
uuAffidavit of Eli M. Sewell, December 28, 1853, Letters.

hsAlfred Cumming to George Manypenny, January 5, 1854, Corres-
ndence.

h6Appeal of Arthur |. Baker, John W. Reid to Robert M. Clelland,
d., Letters.

47 b 4.
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made a series of charges against James, which were later enumerated

e Superintendent of Indian Affairs:

1'' That Agent James, in the 20" December 1853, refused
to renew Baker's license, and in violation of the reg-
ulations, omitted to furnish to the Department all the
papers appertaining to the matter and the reasons which
Induced him to refuse him a license.

2" That no evidence is adduced to prove that he, Baker,
Is an unfit man to be in the Indian Country, and have
a license to trade with the Indians.

3" That Agent James had stated that there were already
~ too many traders in his Agency, and yet licensed H. S.
Randa 11, who is supposed to be a relative, and partner
of factor of the Agent.

¥ That the mode of payment adopted by Agent James of
issuing cards to the heads of families, containing the
number of each in the pay role, was injurious to many
. traders, and ruinous to one.

5" That Randa 11 was furnished by the Agent with infor-

- mation which facilitated his collections and injured those
of others.

“b'" That Randa 11 kept a store known as the 'Toy Store'' by
the Indians, and extended his credits with the expectation
of a treaty to be made with the Sacs and Foxes.

7' That a minor son of Agent James was employed as a clerk in
the store of Randa 11.

8" That Agent James improperly withheld from Thomas J. Connolly,
a private letter written to the said Connolly by Geo W. Ewing.
And

9" That Agent James paid a Winnebago Lgdian who had no right
: to be enrolled among the Sacs & Foxes.

. These nine charges became the basis of an investigation by the
of Indian Affairs into the Baker-James controversy. This in-

ation was initiated early in 1854, at the request of Baker, James,

48

Alfred Cumming to George Manypenny, January 5, 1854, Correspondence.

A9B. A. James to J. S. Phelps, March 24, 1854, letters.
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hortly after the refusal of his llicense renewal, Baker journeyed
ington with the apparent purpose of having James's decision re-
either by appeal or by the de facto method of influencing the

to reject James's appointment as agent.50 If Baker did try to

ce James's confirmation as Indian Agent, he probably attempted

o0 through a Senator from lowa, Augustus Caesar Dodge.sl I f such
mpt was made it was unsuccessful, for by June, James acknowledged
receipt of ; . . my commission as Agent for the Indians within this
as confirmed by the Senate . . . .“52

While in Washington, Baker did meet with the Commissioner of
n Affairs and perhaps even the Secretary of Interior, Robert

q.03

Baker's introduction to such high government officials

54

11an
iresumably through Senator Dodge.

Baker's appeal seems to have had little effect on his removal from

75°Appeal of Arthur Baker, John W. Reid to Robert McClelland,
letters; B. A. James to J. S. Phelps, March 24, 1854, Letters.

'S]A. C. Dodge to G. M. Manypenny, March 30, 1854, Letters. This
+ was written in support of '"my friend A. J. (sic) Baker."

52B. A. James to G. M. Manypenny, June 12, 1854, letters.

°38. A. James to G. M. Manypenny, April 22, 1854, Letters.
mentions that ''"Baker returned from Washington City to this

y about 23" of February . . . . ." and had, while in Washing-
; met with Manypenny.

~ Appeal of Arthur Baker, John W. Reid to Robert McClelland,

i, Letters. It is assumed that this petition was hand delivered
aker to the Secretary.

Sl'lt is not known whether Baker and Dodge were actually

ends or perhaps just acquaintances from lowa territorial

It is probable that Dodge may have known either Baker's

her or perhaps his maternal grandfather, Arthur Inghram. Baker's
dfather had served as the President of the Territorial Council
lowa and was well-known in that state's early history. In

her case, it is evident that Baker was attempting to use Dodge
promote his case for reinstatement.
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reservation.s5 It does, however, leave open the question of the
jidity of the agent's action against him, The question of Baker's
tness remained and has never been answered. [t Is perhaps essential
Baker's charges be now more fully examined and some judgement made
heir autherticjty.

The first charge which Baker made concerned a procedural violation
he part of James, Baker maintained that the Agent ''omitted to fur-
to the Department all the papers appertaining to the matter, and
reasons which induced him to refuse him a license.“56

In support of this charge, Baker presented an affidavit from his
her-in-law, EIl Sewell, who had been serving as.Baker‘s clerk.
11 accompanied Baker when the letter requested his license renewal
n the agent.

Sewell maintains that James ''refused to receive or examine his
er's) application.“57 Baker seems to have inferred that the agent
ound by law to take applications and forward them to the commissioner
ndian Affairs. In this, Baker seems to maintain that it is not the
tion of the Indian agent to either approve or disapprove applications,
father serve in a clerical capacity, forwarding such requests to the
58

per authority.

If such were the case, then Baker would have been quite proper in

558y 1855 Baker had settled at the Rock Creek crossing of the
ta fe Trail, on the Kanza Indian Reservation.

56A1fred Cumming to G, W. Manypenny, January 3, 1855, Correspon-
e,

S7Affidavit of Eli M. Sewell, December 28, 1853, Letters,

58Appeal of Arthur Baker, John W, Reld to Robert McClelland,
Letters.



gclalming that James had no right to deny his request. Unfortunately

éfor Baker, it seems that James acted within his proper jurisdiction to

‘deny or grant applications. The agent makes no attempt to refute in any

way this first charge and the matter is not pursued by the Superintendent

of Indian Affairs in his investigation.

It does seem evident that when James '‘refused the license & would

not examine the pépers,“59 he had made up his mind on the matter and was
thus executing his preconceived judgment.
Baker's second charge was a follow-through of the first, that
James failed to prove that he was unfit to be in Indian territory. To
refute this charge, James forwarded to‘the Commissioner the ''distitute
ﬁf principle (sic)" letter from former Agent Chenau]t.60 This letter
vas countered by Baker with an affidavit from James F. Mills, defending
Baker's side in the controversy.6]
It seems that the Chenault view was readily accepted by the
Superintendent of Indian Affairs In the investigation. James's summa-
tion was that Baker was ''a man who it is impossible for me to get along
th. . . ." and thus it was essential to remove him.62
It was the third charge which seemed to have been the major point
®f contention between Baker and James. This charge was of prime impor-

ance, as many of the other charges were dependent on it. Baker charged

that the agent ''had stated that there are too many goods & traders . . ."

5Iaffidavit of E1i M. Sewell, December 28, 1853, Letters.
60 ohn R. Chenault to B. A. James, May 23, 1854, Letters.
61affidavit of James F. Mills, December 28, 1853, Letters.

628, A. James to Geo. W. Manypenny, April 22, 1854,
tters.
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thus some had to go.63 Baker claimed that at the same time he was
smissed for being surplus, the agent was ''licensing H. S. Randoll (sic)
, near relative & personal friend. .”Gh

James claimed that he was neither a relative nor a partner of

adall and supplied the Commissioner with a letter from Randall to
65

at effect. Baker presented an affidavit from Thoma; Connally, a
f-breed Indian, claiming that Randall was a brother-in-law of James,
that '"it is correctly said and believed among the Indians that the
nt and Randol (sic) are concerned together in trade."66
Other charges of favoritism of Randall over the other traders by
s, and complaints as to the quality of Randall's goods are based
this one contention.67

Baker charged that when James became agent, he changed the method
hich the annuity payments would be made to the Indians. This new
od hurt all the traders but Randall, as Randall had been supplied by
68

s with inside information as to the method of payment. Since the
r share of a trader's business depended upon the credit which he

to the Indians, it was important that the trader attend the yearly

ent. As the individual Indian's name was called by the agent for

7 63Appeal of Arthur Baker, John W. Reed to Robert McClelland, n.d.,
ers.

65H. S. Randall to B. A. James, n.d., Letters.

66Affidavit of Thomas J. Connally, December 28, 1853, Letters.

67These charges will be considered collectively as they
dependent upon the charge of collaboration between James and

all.

68Appeal of Arthur Baker, John W. Reed to Robert McClelland,
, Letters.



25

ayment, the trader to which that Indian might owe money would step for-
ard and collect his debt.
Instead of calling out the names of the Indians, James numbered

he Indians and then called the numbers. Baker maintained that al-
hough he was not hurt by this method, as he knew personally most of
he Indians, other traders were.69 Connally charged that Randall obtained
he numbers and correspoqding names and ''was thus enabled to make col-
ections as the Indians were paid off . . . and this gave Randol (sic)
great advantage.“70 .

James's response was a letter by Randall claiming that '‘the

nll

gent never (gave) me any numbers. The agent further offered evi-

dence that prior to his dismissal, Baker praised the "manner in which

72

he payment was made,'’'~ and that he had "'always spoke of (James)

n the highest terms.”73

Concerning the charges of Randall's store being known as a 'Toy
tore'' and that James's son worked for Randall, James answered by pre-
enting an inventory of the goods furnished by Randall7“ and acknow-
edging that his son was an employee of Randall.75

The last two charges, of James withholding a letter and making

llegal payments, were not challenged by James, but were refuted by

69L2g$

70affidavit of Thomas J. Connally, December 28, 1853, Letters.
7M. s. Randall to B. A. James, n.d., Letters.

72pffidavit of John B. Foreman, May 18, 1854, Letters.

73John B. Foreman to B. A. James, n.d., Letters.

7l’lnventory of Goods furnished H. $S. Randall, n.d., Letters.

758, A. James to Alfred Cumming, February 25, 1854, Letters.



26

Cumming iIn his investigation.76 James's summation of the entire epi-
sode was a bitter denunciation of Baker and all those who supported him.
This denunciation was evident in nearly all of James's correspondence
concerning the matter.77

Baker's conclusion was that should '""he be driven from the trade.
he would be ruined.”78 He claimed to have over five thousand dollars in
credit owed_to him by the Indians and that this would be lost upon his
removal.79

In the eyes of the Superintendent of Indian Affairs, whose re-
sponsibility it was to settle the affair, the issue boiled down to the
guestion of who to believe. Both sides made wild charges and claims

8o Both sides attempted to elicit political support

81

against the other.

to bring pressure for a favorable decision to them.

When Cumming arrived at the agency to investigate the charges he

found only one side to the story. Neither Baker, nor his attorney, Reid,
re present to give the opposing view, and Cumming found it feasible

to exonorate him (James) in every important particular from the charges

76A. Cumming to G. W. Manypenny, January 3, 1855, Correspondence.

77James made several referrals to ''Baker and his clan' and the
rouble they caused, an example of which can be found in a letter from
. A. James to J. S. Phelps, March 24, 1854, Letters.

78
ggtters.
\pid.

80Connaly charged at one point that Randall had ''‘persuaded a young
Irl, only eleven years of age, to bed and cohabit with him in disgrace."
homas J. Connolly to G. W. Manypenny, April 19, 1854, Letters.

8]Baker attempted to elicit the support of Senator Dodge from

owa and James obtained the support of Congressman Phelps from
Issouri.

Appeal of Arthur Baker, John W. Reid to Robert McClellan, n.d.,
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. . . 82
brought against him by the complainant."
Cumming's decision appears a natural one, in that he was a friend
of both James and Chenault, and thus according to Cumming they were

r|83

lantitled to entire confidence for veracity. It further seemed log-

ical to Cumming that Baker was not present, having moved to Rock Creek
on the Santa Fe Road, because his charges were not defensible.gb
The controversy was apparently settled, with a favorable deci-
sion to James by his superior, and the removal of Baker to a new life

" farther west. But the issue of his being labeled unfit still bothered
Baker. If not the label, thenthe loss of his claims bothered him.85
* This issue was finally settled in 1861 when the Commissioner of Indians
; Affairs, A. D. Greenwood, ruled in favor of his claims and awarded to

| Baker '""the sum of Eight Thousand Nine Hundred Eighty Three & 46/100

186

dollars as the amount due and all owed to him.

82Alfred Cumming to G. W. Manypenny, January 3, 1855, Correspondence .

831b14.

84 .
B. A. James to G. W. Manypenny, April 22, 1854, Letters.

85 etter from A, 1. Baker, Emporia News, April 12, 1862,

86Certificate of payment from A. B. Greenwood, March 12, 1861,
letters.




CHAPTER 111

""NE-CO-1TS~AH-BA"

Subsequent to his unceremonious departure from the Sac and Fox

indian Agency, Arthur |. Baker followed his relatives and friends west
to the vicinity of Council Grove. Council Grove and the area encom-
passed by the upper Neosho River drainage had seemed to become a haven
for the malcontents of the Sac and Fox Agency.

It was to the upper Neosho River Valley that the Baker family
tended to gravitate. The first Baker associate to locate there was
his brother-in-law, Emanuel Mosier, who became a blacksmith with the

Kanza Indians and a partner with Morris Baker in 1850.]

Baker's mother,
Agnes Miller Inghram Baker, along with her other daughters and youngest
son, soon joined the Mosier family in Council Grove.Z On May 6, 1852,
Baker's sister, Eliza Ann, married the teacher at the Kaw Indian Mission,
Thomas Sears Huffaker, and thus extended the family influcnce.3 One of
Baker's closest friends, Charles H. Withington, left the Sac and Fox
"Agency in 1851, and settled in Council Grove where he became the mail

kagent.h In 1854, Baker, along with his family and brother-in-law, Eli

‘M. Sewell, joined the enclave.

‘ 1Letter from D. D. Mitchell to Orlando Brown, December 10, 1850,

orrespondence From Office (of) Superintendent of Indian Affairs to Com-
issioner of Indian Affairs (typed copy in Archives of Kansas State
istorical Society, Topeka, Kansas).

2
"Manuscript of Mary Simcock,' Baker Family Geneological History
property of Fannie Axe).

3a. T, Andreas, History of the State of Kansas, | (Chicago: A. T.
Andreas, 1883), p. B806.

hLouise Barry, The Beginning of the West: Annals of Kansas Gate-
ay to the American West 1640-1854 (Topeka: Kansas State Historical
ociety, 1872), pp. 1058, 1114, 1185 ¢ 1187.




Baker's resettlement in the Council Grove vicinity might have been
but a minor footnote in local history. VYet, in several ways it is of
considerable importance to students of upper Neosho River valley history,
There are two interreléted historical questions concerning Baker's re-
sidence which will be answered in this chapter. These two questions
concern the actual date of Baker's residency and the location of his
home.

As one enters the Lyon County Historical Museum, one of the first

jtems to be seen is an excellent historical map of the county during
territorial days. One of the major features of this map is a listing

of the early settlers in Breckinridge County from 1855 to 1862.S The

map names Charles Withington, pictured in Figure Il, as the first set-
tler in the county. Withington is the only settler listed for 1854, For
the year 1855, there are forty-two settlers listed. Oliver Phillips and

Chrisopher Ward are listed as the second and third respectively. Arthur

Baker is the thirty-third name on the list, although the settlers

are not numbered following Phillips and Ward. Withington is credited
with establishing the first store or trading post in 1854, while Baker

is noted as opening his the following year.6 Most Lyon County historians
appear to agree with the map's implied chronological listing of settlers,

Jacob Stotler, in his Annals of Emporia and Lyon County, states

that Withington, '"'at the time of his death, was the oldest settler in

this county,'" and that Phillips ''thought he was next to the oldest

5As previously noted, Lyon County was originally established in
855 as Breckinridge County. On February 6, 1862, the name was changed
n honor of General Nathaniel Lyon.

6Historical Map of Early Lyon County: Breckinridge County from
855 to February 6, 1862 {property of Lyon County Historical Society,
mporia, Kansas).
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Charles H. Withington, a close friend of
Baker, settled in Lyon County in 1854,
Withington has been considered, by many
local historians, as the county's first
settler. (Courtesy of Kansas State His-
torical Society.)
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|I7

attler in the county. It is interesting to note that Stotler re-

"' rather than as the county's

¢ to Withington and Phillips as ''oldest,
first'' settlers. Stotler's reference is important as it is generally
epted as the earliest written Lyon County history. It is assumed that

such, this work, and its ambiguous use of ''oldest,' was used as a

purce for later historians.

Lyon Couqty historians located the stores or trading posts of both
er and Withington in the northern part of the county on the Santa Fe
d. Withington's store was located at the One Hundred and Foerty-two

9

Baker's store was popularly

10

}le Creek crossing of the Santa Fe Trail.
hought to have been located at the Bluff Creek crossing.
I't is the contention of this writer that thege historians are in-

;curate in their acceptance of Withington as the county's first settler

id storekeeper, as well as their location of Baker's store. This writer

urther maintains that Stotler was in error when he stated that '"The only

:JI received by the people at first came from the office at Withington's,

7Jacob Stotler, Annals of Emporia and Lyon County: 1857-1882
tmporia, Kansas: n.p., n.d.}, p.

: Some sample references agreeing with Early Lyon County map and
ritten since Stotler's Annals, are Andreas, p. 845; Frank W. Blackman,
yclopeda of Kansas History zChicago: Standard Publishing Company,

2), p. 196; Laura M. French, A History of Emporia and Lyon County
poria: Emporia Gazette Prlnt 1929), p. 176; Flora Rosenguist Godsey,
he Early Settlement and Raid on the 'Upper Neosho''', Collections of
Kansas State Historical Society, 1923-1925, XVl (Topeka: Kansas

tate Printing Plant, 1925), pp. 452 ¢ 456; Lucina Jones, 'History of
arly Lyon County, Kansas'' (unpublished manuscript read before the

mporia Chapter, Daughters of the American Revolution, 1933, property

if Lucina Jones), p. 2.

9

Historical Map of Early Lyon County.

]olbid. This popular conception of Baker's store being at Bluff
reek is perhaps best seen in Betty Mason, ''Agnes City,'" (unpublished
nuscript found in White Memorial Library, Emporia State University,
uly 10, 1962 ), pp. 1-2. ’




ch was the first and only office in the county in 1855-]856.”]] It

Arthur Baker who was Lyon County's first settler and storekeeper.
urthermore, there is some evidence that Baker might have had a post

fice in the éounty at the same time as Withington.

In discussing the complex historical question of when and where

laker originally settled in Breckinridge County, one must begin by con-
3dering the possibility that Baker, like Withington, first established
imsel f in Council) Grove and then moved back along the Santa Fe Trail.

jome historians, like Laura Malloy Brigham, maintained that this was so.
righam states that Baker and his brother Joshua were among those involved

ommercially in Council Grove prior to 185h.]2

This writer, however,
ejects this statement on two counts. First, as previously noted, Baker
as involved with the Sac and Fox Agency until 185h.]3 Secondly, Joshua

aker was only twelve in 1854, and thus unlikely to be a tradesman at

A second writer who inferred that Baker was involved early in
ouncil Grove was Andreas. He states that ''The first house built in
he town. . .was erected by Baker and Sewell.“]5 This writer maintains
that the individuals here referred fo are not Arthur Baker and E. M.

iSewell, but rather Morris Baker and Emanuel Mosier. |t should be noted

I]Stot]er, p. 6.

2Laura Malloy Brigham, Story of Council Grove on the Santa Fe
Trail (n.p., 1921), p. 11.

% ]3For an account of Baker's activities at the Sac and Fox Agency,
., see Chapter 1.

1 ]hl860 Census of Kansas. The 1860 census gives the age of Joshua
Baker as seventeen.

ISAndreas, p. 803.
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‘men established themselves at Council Grove in 1850.l6 In
that year they sold a house, field and corral to Jacob Hall for
d dollars.‘7 This house then became a mail station for the

{ rading firm of Waldo, Hall and (Zompany.]8

It is possible that
s Baker shortly to leave for Oregon and Arthur Baker soon to
minent in the "Upper Neosho valley,'" that the activities of
blended in the mind of the historian.

eas, on his map of the 1854 election districts, pictured in

, also erroneously gives Baker's home as being in Council

is error was probably based on Andreas's previously noted

“to the '"Baker and Sewell house'' in Council Grove.'9 Andreas

¢t in that the election was held at the house of Arthur Inghram
he was in error as to the location of Baker's house. The
according to official records, was held at the Baker home at
reek Crossing of the Santa Fe Trai].20
ke Withington, there was no need for Baker to first settle
Grove when he moved to the upper Neosho. For Baker, with
ly ties in Council Grove, was probably familiar with the

g territory. Thus he was able, upon leaving the Sac and Fox

preempt one of the choicest locations on the Santa Fe Road.

r references concerning Morris Baker and Emanuel Mosier in
rove see Chapter 11, .

11 v. Huffaker (Circuit Court of U.S. for District of Kansas),
Barry, Beginning of the West, p. 950.

id.
dreas, p. 88.
xecutive Minutes Recorded in the Governor's Office During The

tion of Governor Andrew H. Reeder,' Collections, 1881-188%4
Kansas State Printer, 188L4), I, p. 232.
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The map gives the

Andreas was

it was located eight miles east of Council

1854.

Grove.

!
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Eighth Electoral District at the '"House of Ingraham (sic)

- at Council

v,

ker's home, as
® Rock Creek crossing of the Santa Fe Trail.

§ State Historical Society.)

jas's map of electoral districts

gton, November,
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rmore, by virtue of his recent sojourn in Washington, D. C.,

was undoubtedly aware that Kansas would soon become an organized

21 When the Kansas=-Neb-

ory and thus legally open to settlement.

gill was introduced in Cbngress, January 1854, Baker was in the

1, and privy to much of the Congressional debate which the issue
2

Baker evidently anticipated that the territory would soon be

as shortly follﬁwing his return from Washington, he abandoned hfs
for reinstatement as a Sac and Fox trader, and moved west to pre-
- The Sac and Fox agent, in a hitherto unpublished and evidently
letter, dated more than a month prior to the passage of the
ebraska Act, written to the Commissioner of Indian Affairs,

d that Baker was ''improving a place within eight miles of the
James further stated that ''mo doubt he (Baker).
4elling goods whenever he can do so secretly.“zh
contemporary of Baker's and Withington's in territorial Kansas,
iley, wrote that "in Lyon county, formerly called Breckinridge,

t settler so far as | know was Arthur |. Baker, who settled on

reek where the old Santa Fe wagon road crossed (sic) . . . and

' . 25 .
(there) a place for a trading house.' The Rock Creek crossing

For a discussion of Baker's visit to Washington, see
1.

B. A. James to George W. Manypenny, April 22, 1854, Letters
2d by the Office of Indian Affairs, 1824-1881 (microfilmed copy
ational Archives, Washington, D.C.).

L. D. Bailey, ""Along the Santa Fe Trail,'" Early Days In
v(Olathe: Charles R. Green, 1912), p. 45,
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s located just eight miles east of Council Grove and thus was pro-
¥aMY the area mentioned in the James letter.

John Maloy, in his 'History of Morris County,' agreed with this
sarly arrival of Baker. Maloy stated that Baker came to the upper Neosho
Hin 1854, some months before the territory of Kansas was organized,

olding to the doctrine that the people had a right to locate upon the
public domain.”26
With Nitﬁington not settling in Breckinridge county until June

7

1854, a month after the enactment of the Kansas-Nebraska Bi]l,2 Baker
was thus the first settler in the county. There is perhaps some ques-
jon as to whether Withington had actually settled that early at the

bne Hundred and Forty-two Mile Creek crossing of the Santa Fe Trail.

n the Territorial Census of 1855, Withington is listed under the house-
hold of Baker and perhaps was at that time residing with him at Rock

€reek.28

This census was taken by James R. McClure in the early months
of 1855. McClure, in his memoirs, recalled that upon leaving Council
Grove he ''fol lowed the Santa Fe Trail, and some eight miles from the
Grove, stopped at the cabin of a Mr. Baker, on Rock Creek, . . .(who)
as at that time the only settler between Council Grove and '110' (lo-
cated in Osage County).“29

Regardless of the precise location of Withington's residence

in 1854, he was living in Breckinridge County according to the ter-

26Council Grove The Kansas Cosmos, May 7, 1886. Maloy wrote his
history as a feature article in Kansas Cosmos.

27Stotler, p. 5.

28census of 1855, Territory of Kansas.

3 23 james R. McClure, "Taking the Census in 1855, Collections, 1903-
- 1904 (Topeka: Kansas State Printer, 1904), VIII, p. 234,

. —
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.3rial census of 1859. One of the features of this census is that
\rovides for the historian the date of settlement of each voter listed.
his list there are five voters who settled in the county in 1854,

jse persons were Baker, éewell, Withington, C. Montgomery, and S.

E%fith.30

From 1854 to 1862, Baker's home at Rock Creek becomes the pivot
nd which the events of his life and death revolve. Baker's home at
location has been given several names by different people. fhe
fe Rock Creek was given to the stream on account of the "rocky bluffs

31

line its banks."

n32

The stream was originally named by the Indians,
Co-its-ah-ba. Concerning later events which were to occur at
ﬁr's home, the Indian name, meaning ''Dead Man's Creek”33 was perhaps
'nnre appropriate name.

Rock Creek crossing later became known as Agnes City, incorporated

34

uch in 1857 by Baker, Mosier and Sewell. In a letter, dated Dec-

ber 22, 1856, to the editor of the Kansas Weekly Herold, Baker claimed

t Agnes City consisted of 'one store, one Mill and one Blacksmith
and Post 0ffice.“3S Most sources state that Agnes City was named

either Baker's wife or daughter.36 This assumption, however, is

30ansas Territorial Census of 1859. (Original copy in archives
he Kansas State Historical Society, Topeka.)

3]Andreas, p. 796.

331bi4.

3l‘“Extinct Geographical Locations,'" Collections, 1811-1912
ka: State Printing Office, 1912), X1, p. 472.

35Letter to the Editor from A. J. Baker (sic), Leavenworth
hsas Weekly Herold, January 10, 1857.

36The following sources make this claim. Andreas, p. 871; Bailey,
; French, p. 176; and Mason, pp. 1-2.




ted, as Baker's wife was named Susan. In all probability the
"was named for Baker's mother, Agnes Miller Inghram Baker.

The Agnes City Post Office was established on November 1, 1856,38
‘Mosier as the first postmaster.39 Withington's post office at

was established the previous year on February 26, 1855.
ems that Stotler was nearly correct in his assertion that Withington's
the first and only office in the county in 1855-5
he same day that Withington received his appointment, Baker was
inted postmaster at Miller, K.T.hz Miller existed for nearly a
until it was discokﬁtinued on February 12, 1856.
The location of Miller is not known. The record of Kansas Post
ces states that the city was located in Wise County.h
uary of 1855, there were no counties in Kansas, and thus it may
jifficult to determine the precise Iocation.u
Since it has been established that Baker, by 1854, had been

oving his home at Rock Creek, it is the opinion of this writer

Miller was an early name given for Baker's home at that location.

37Census of 1860, Territory of Kansas.

38Robert W. Baughman, Kansas Post Offices (Wichita; McCormick-

trong Co., 1961), p. 1.

3bid., p. 201.
Ibid., p. 2.
Stotler, p. 6.
42

Baughman, pp. 84 and 201.
431bid., p. 84,

—

bhpig,

11 later in 18665,

hsCounties were not determined by the Territorial Legislature
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?ﬁbly, like the later Agnes City, Miller was also named for Baker's
: r, taking her middle name. |If Mjller was located at Rock Creek,
Bn there were two ”firstf post offices in what was to become Lyon
yty, both established on the same day.
When Arthur Baker preempted in Breckinridge County, not only was
he first to do so, but the structure which he built was, until his
%h, one of the finest, if not the finest, private homes in the county.
¥ a time and ﬁlace when a small dwelling of ''. . .sometimes two rooms

16

d a3 lean to kitchen was considered to be comfortable,

's home, at Agnes City, was said by his peers to be a collection
.all the comforts of Iife.”h7 Baker, himself, referred to his

4
.the gem of Breckinridge," and as the scene of his ''.

k9

as "

ast happiness . In attempting to obtain a fuller picture
Baker and his role in the history of the upper Neosho, it is perhaps

ful to present here a brief description of his home at Agnes City.

Baker's home, pictured in Figure IV, was a two-story stone dwel-

ﬁng with outside dimensions of forty-four by eighteen feet. The basic

esign and floor plan was a scaled-down facsimile of the Kaw Indian Mis-

50

ﬁon in Council-Grove. It should be remembered that Baker's mother

as the matron of the mission and his brother-in-law, the teacher. The

b6R. M. Armstrong, ''Sixty Years In Kansas And Council Grove,"
ollections, 1923-1925 (Topeka: Kansas State Printing Plant, 1925),
VI, p. 555,

h7Cottonwood Falls The Kansas Press, July 25, 1859,

b8Council Grove Press, June 22, 1861.

491bid., July 20, 1861.

50w. Michael Shimeall, unpublished field notes taken on an arch-
ological excavation of Arthur Baker's home at Agnes City, July,

972.



FIGURE 1V

sts conception of Baker's house at Agnes City. This

e was probably built in 1857 or 1858 and served as the
Fst county seat of Breckinridge County from 1855 to 1858.
building was destroyed by fire on July 3, 1862, when

r was murdered by ''Bloody Bill'" Anderson. This drawing,
Peggy lLefler, was based on field notes from an archeo-
pical excavation of the home in July of 1972. (Courtesy
‘Emporia State University.)



h

milarity between the two buildings was extremely striking, even down
the ornamental detail of the masonry design of lintels and portals.s‘
is simplarity can be seen by comparing the artists reconstruction of
sker's home, Figure IV, and the photograph of the Kanza Mission, shown
i Figure V.
The downstairs consisted of a kitchen and dining area at the south
rt of the house. There was an outside door in this section, which
jned to the south and within a few feet of its pathway was a cistern.
frectly in the center of the home was a rather spacious hallway, with
rairs ascending to the upper floor. There was a large front door on
east side of the house which opened into the hallway. At the west
of the hall was a smaller back door. The stairs ascended from the
t end of the hallway to the west, with the second floor landing above
near door. At the foot of the stairs and directly inside the front
r were two smaller doors, respectively on the north and south walls
the hall. The south door of the hall opened to the kitchen and dining
as. The north door opened to a large parlor room. The central
f}ture of this room was a large fireplace directly in the center of
north wall.”?2

The central floor plan can be seen in Figure VI. The photograph
taken from the parlor looking south past the central hall, to the
chen and dining area. The hearth of the kitchen fireplace can be
n at the center of the south wall and the kitchen door can be seen

the right of the hearth. Figure Vil shows the writer, fourth from

t, helping to direct the excavation of Baker's home.

5Tbid.
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" The Kanza Indian Mission, taken cira 1890, in Council
Grove. Baker's mother was the matron for the school
held in this building and his brother-in-law served
as its teacher. This building, which later became
the Huffaker family home, served as the basic design
for Baker's home at Agnes City. (Courtesy of Kansas
State Historical Society.)
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FIGURE VI
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Photograph of archeological excavation of Baker's
home, July 1972. View was taken from the north
wall, looking south, The parallel stone founda-
tion walls, running across the center of the
picture, outline the central hall. The room to
the back of the picture was the kitchen and dining
area. The kitchen hearth can be seen at the cen-
ter of the back wall, and the kitchen door can be
seen to the right of it. (Courtesy of Emporia
State University.)
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Photograph of archeological excavation
of Baker's home, July 1972. View was
taken from the kitchen doorway on the
south wall looking north. The writer,
fourth from left, is directing the re-
moval of the roots of a tree stump from
the west wall. (Courtesy of Emporia
State University.)
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The second floor consisted of from two to four bedrooms. Con-

jering the number of people who were said to live in the house at any

ien time, it seems probable that the larger number was correct. The

54

%0 census lists a total of eleven people living in the Baker home.

It has been reported that besides the large stone dwelling, there
55

Baker's store was located

56

re also several out-buildings nearby.
rectly one hundred feet southeast of the house.
It is not known exactly when Baker built his large stone dwelling.

us7 and thus it

Clure, in 1855, referred to Baker's home as a ‘'cabin,
assumed that the stone dwelling was not his original home at Agnes
ty. By 1857, however, eyewitness accounts of the upper Neosho began
refer to Baker's home as far superior to other private dwellings.58
is writer's conclusion is that the large stone dwelling was built, by
ker, sometime between February 1855 and August 1857. The building
isted until Baker's death on July 3, 1862, when it was destroyed by
re. 2%

Arthur Baker, as a historical figure, is important to the upper
osho River valley. His home and trading post, at the Rock Creek

ossing of the Santa Fe Trail, was the first dwelling and store in

eckfnridge County. His post office, called Miller, was possibly one

531bid.
5l‘(‘.ensus of 1860.
55

Emporia News, July 12, 1862.

56Shimeall.
57McCIure.
58Emporia Kanzas News, August 8, 1857,

59Emporia News, July 12, 1862.
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f the two '"'first' mail facilities in the county. The stone house

hich he built was considered by the editors of the local newspaper

160

o be ', .the mest comfortable looking place we have seen. It
)as, undoubtedly, one of the finest homes in the territory during its
ime. The location of his home tied Baker not only to the Santa Fe
rail but to every major event in the territorial history of the two

ounties which encompassed the upper Neosho River valley.

60Emporia Kanzas News, August 8, 1857,



CHAPTER |V
"A TRUE TYPE OF THE PJONEERS"

Judge A, |. Baker was one of the first settlers in the terri-
ory of Kansas, arriving from lowa with the Sac and Fox Indians in
|856.] in 1854, '"'some months before the territory of Kansas was or-
;anized,“2 Baker moved to the Rock Creek crossing of the Santa Fe Trail,
hus becoming the first settler in what was later named Breckinfidge
ounty.

As an early settler in Kansas, Baker was described by a contem-
orary as '‘a bold, rough, open-handed, large-hearted man, a warm
friend and an open foe; a TRUE TYPE OF THE PIONEERS of the border.“l4
't is the purpose of this chapter to look at this description of Baker
and to use Baker as an illustration of what a '"true pioneer type' was
in the territory of Kansas.

As a frontiersman, Baker was one of the wealthier individuals in
the upper Neosho valley. According to the census of 1860, Baker had a

real and personal estate value of six and one thousand dollars respect-

ively.S When one compares Baker's worth to that of the other heads of

!Council Grove Kansas Cosmos, May 7, 1886. 1In 1886 the Kansas
Cosmos printed a series of articles written by John Maloy entitled
History of Morris County.' Also see Louise Barry, The Beginning
of the West: Annals of the Kansas Gateway to the American West 154n-
ﬁEE_ZTopeka: Kansas State Historical Society, 1972), P. 661.

2C0uncil Grove Kansas Cosmos, May 7, 1886.

3L. D. Bailey, '"Along the Santa Fe Trail," Early Days in Kansas
(0vathe: Charles R. Green, 1912), p. 45.

hlbid., p. 47; emphasis added.

>Census of 1860, Territory of Kansas
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pousehalds in Breckinridge and Morris counties, as shown in Table 1,
the tozz! estate value of seven thousand dollars would put him in the

upper three percent in Breckinridge and two and one-half percent in

Morris.
TABLE 16
PERCENTAGE OF TOTAL VALUE OF ESTATE - 1860 -
BRECKINRIDGE AND MORRIS COUNTIES
(Heads of Households and/or males
- twenty-one years and older)
wo $1 $500 $1,000 $2,000 3,000 $4,000
LOUNTY ‘A LUE to to to to to to above
| $499 $999 41,999 $2,999 $3,999 $6,999 57,000
BRECKIN- 11 27 18 22 1 3 5 3
R1DGE

MORRI'S 17.5 30 17 20 2 | 2 2.5

Bzker was thus, economically speaking, not necessarily typical of
ghe early pioneer. Yet Baker's business activities, to obtain such wealth,
‘are perhzps worthy of study, as they éover a variety of interests and
}herefc'e crovide for the historian an informative collage of pioneer
;OCCQpaCRCﬂs.

Shcrtly after his settlement at Rock Creek, Baker began to engage
in two zctivities. He established a farm and opened a store on the

Santa Fe Trail.7 Agriculture, in territorial! Kansas, was the basic

occupatitn of the majority of settlers. According to the census of

®1bid.

| 7Nanuscript of Mary Simcock, ''Baker Family Genealogical History"
(Property of Fannie Axe).



360, as illustrated in Table 1|, the percentage of adult males, in
reckinridge and Morris counties, who engaged in farming as their pri-

ary occupation was sixty-two and one-half, and fifty-nine respectively.

TABLE I|8

PERCENT~3E OF OCCUPATIONS OF ADULT MALES - 1860
BRECXINRIDGE AND MORRIS COUNTIES

NOT
COUNTY FRRMNG  TRADE SERVICE PROFESSIONAL  GIVEN
RECK [N -

RIDGE 62.5 9.5 13 4 10
ORRI'S 59 13 19 L] 5

——

By 1859, Baker's home was described by his friends as a ''fine

9

arm . . . (with) one of the best corn fields in the Territory." In
B60, Baker had seventy-five acres of land under cultivation, with an
dditional eighty-five acres of unimproved land.]0 The f860 census
ists the cash value of Baker's farm as three thousand dollars, with
arm implements valued at two hundred and fifty do\lars.l]

As a farmer, Baker was principally engaged as a stockman. In

860, he had one of the largest herds of cattle in Breckinridge county.

he census of that year lists Baker as having twelve milk cows, two

8Cen5us of 1860, Jerritory of Kansas
9

Cottonwood Falls Kansas Press, July 25, 1859,
10

Census of 1860, Territory of Kansas. Crop reports for the
860 census were given for the year ending June 1, 1860.

Ibid.



king oxen and thirty-five other cattle.12 The value of this live=
ck was listed at seven hundred dollars.l3
By the time of Baker's death in 1862, however, the volume and thus
v worth of his livestock had been considerably reduced. Thomas S.
‘faker, Baker's brother-in-law and administrator of his estate, listed
. sale of six cows for ninety dollars; three two-year-old steers for
rty-nine dollars; three yearling heifers for twenty-four dollars;
ien calves for twenty-four dollars and fifty cents, and an unknown

14

wer of hogs for fourteen dollars. This would be a total worth of

. one hundred and ninety-one dollars and fifty cents.

The only crops reported to have been produced on Baker's farm in
0 were two thousand bushels of Indian corn and forty bushels of oats.IS
is assumed by this writer that these were used primarily as feed for
er's livestock. By 1861, however, Baker reported that ''wheat and corn

ul6

prodigious size were being cultivated on his farm.
A contemporary of Baker's, L. D. Bailey, claimed that Baker used
iians from the Kaw Reservation to herd his cattle and to do the farm
17

res . in return for their labor, Baker furnished the Indians with

gar, flour and beef.]8 By 1861, however, Baker had begun to pursue

121p54.

131pid.

Il“”BiIl of Sale of property belonging to the estate of Arthur I.
er, deceased,' Probate File of A. |. Baker, File Number 390 (property

Lyon County Probate Court, Emporia, Kansas), henceforth referred to
Baker Estate File.

Beensus of 1860, Territory of Kansas
16

Council Grove Press, July 20, 1861.

I7Bailey, P, 47,

‘8|bid.
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er interests and no longer took direct charge of his farm. In July
that year Baker spoke of George Newberry, who was overseeing his
rm.]9 It was possible that Newberry was compensated for managing
ker's farm by receiving a share of the crop. In Baker's estate re-
rd, his administrator lists the receipt of eighteen dollars for farm
1tal and eighteen dollars and thirty-nine cents for sale of wheat .20
Baker, however, always seemed to retain his love for agriculture.
claimed that he ''felt . . . a keen sense of pleasure, on viewihg the
llow shocks of wheat, drying beneath the bright beams of a July sun."21
is love can be seen in his membership in the Breckinridge County Agri-
ltural and Mechanical Society.22 One of the first functions of the
ciety was to promote a county fair or exhibit of farm produce and
vestock. At the first exhibit, Baker was on the ''Awarding Commit tee"
the ''Category of Cattle--First Division.“23 The fair was to be
1d "'on Oct. 10-11, 1860 (sic) at or near Thomas Armor's mil].n2h
was, however, never held, presumably due to the severe drought of

at year.25

The year of 1860 was remembered, by the historians of the upper

" 19¢ouncil Grove Press, July 20, 1861.
20

""Addi tional inventory of the personal property of A. I.
ker, deceased,' Baker Estate File.

21touncil Grove Press, July 20, 1861.

22Emporia News, June 23, 1860.

231bid. Other judges listed were 0. Weaver, E. Sewell, John
rer, and M. Kirkendall.

241bid., July 14, 1860.

251bid., September 29, 1860.



sho, as the year of the drought.26 The first crop grown by white
in the upper Neosho valley, was the corn planted in 1851 by Baker's
ther-in-law, Thomas S. Huffaker. Huffaker, pictured in Figure VIIiI,
w the crop for the Kaw Mission School.2?  From that year to 1860, there
a tremendous increase in the cultivation of crops. New settlers
ing to the valley looked to this agarian life with an assurance of
d crops. Maloy states that, ''The Beginning of the year 1860 was
favorable for a bountiful harvest as any previous year. Crops were
nted as usual..”28 The drought began to show when May passed without
usual rains. Then June produced such a heat wave that 'by the first
July nearly the entire vegetable growth had perished.”29
The farms of territorial Kansas were primarily developed for
sistence agriculture, and thus a drought, as in ]860, would ser-
sly threaten their existence. Maloy claims that the drought was so
ere that ''There was not a bushel of corn raised . . . (in Morris)
nty that year."30
The drought was equally severe in other parts of the territory.
phen J. Spear, an early settler in southeast Wabaunsee county, re-
ted that ''"The drouth was so severe that the streams stopped running,

| mst of the pools in creek beds went dry.”3] Samuel N. Wood, reported

26 a11a Maloy Brigham, The Story of Council Grove On The Santa Fe
il (h.p., 1921), p. 19.

27¢council Grove Kansas Cosmos, April 16, 1886.

2817 4.

23bid.

301p;4.

3]Step_hen J. Spear, '"'"Reminiscences of the Early Settlement of Dragoon
ek, Wabaunsee County,' Collections of the Kansas State Historical Society,
3-1914 (Topeka: Kansas State Printing Plant, 1915), X111, p. 355.
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Thomas Sears Huffaker, Baker's brother-in-law,
business associate, friend and estate adminis-
trator, as pictured later in life. Huffaker
was the first school teacher of white children
in Kansas and the most distinguished citizen
of Council Grove in its early history. (Cour-
tesy of Kansas State Historical Society.)
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in the Council Grove Press, that the wells of Emporia were all dry.

Jjood, who was prone to some exaggeration, claimed that water from the
(ottonwood River was selling for five cents a bucket in Emporia.32 | f
a lemon was dropped into the bucket, according to Wood, then the water
would sell for a nickel a glass.33 To further illustrate the plight of
Emporia, Wood gave the following description of its celebration for the
fourth of July.

On the day previous to the '"4th'' our friends down at

Emporia hauled water from the Cottonwood and filled up

the town well, and hauled ice from Elmendaro and Water-

loo which they put also in the well in order to have

"eold well water,' (italics in the original) but it

was ''no go,'"' the water sunk away, and the crowd on the

“4th'" had to content themselves with pure Cottonwood
water without ice.3

The Americus Sentinel, In an extra edition on the drought, de-

scribed the conditions in Americus and Cahola townships as being
'without a parallel in the history of our country.”35 To prove the
urgency of the plight of its citizens, the Sentinel compared the local
farm situation of 1860 with that of 1859. These statistics, shown in
Table Ill, provide for the historian an illustration of horrid condi-
tions for the Breckinridge county farmer.36

The prospect of the farmer, for both the immediate future and the
\oné term, was not a pleasant one. |t was evident that there was not

enough food for the settler to feed either his family or his livestock.

Furthermore, upon using what grain was available for subsistance, there

32Z¢ouncil Grove Press, July 30, 1860. ,

331bid.

341bid.

35 pme ricus Sentinel, October 27, 1860.

361bi4.



TABLE 111

COMPARISON OF AGRICULTURAL PRODUCTION
FOR THE YEARS 1859 AND 1860

(Americus and Cahola Townships, Breckinridge County)

55

AMERICUS TOWNSHIP CAHOLA TOWNSHIP
1859 1860 1859 1860
Egper of familes --- 67 -=- 23
wumber of people --- 331 --- 10h
of Acres paid for  --- L1123 --~ 0
r?brtggge on land —-—= $1,135 --- --=
 Interest on mort. --- 6 - L8% -=- ===
Acres planted 655 1,408 100 296
_Bushels Raised 13,065 835 6,810 431
Acres sown 267 553 12 198
_Bushels Raised 2,912 129 200 21
, of POTATOES raised 773 56 125 21
iead of HORSES --- 107 --- 80
ead of CATTLE --- ____hio -=- 148
ead of HOGS --- 292 --- 120
| HAND --- $695a --- $193b
f garden vegetables G&13RC § 674 --- -
AL-bushels on hand --- T4l -—-- 70Le
n hand - 1bs -== 5 9551 —-- 300
f Groceries on hand  --- $185.509 — $20

—

Total amount belonging to eighteen of the sixty-seven families.

-eakdown as follows:

- two families $10 - four families $ 50 - one family

- two families $20 - two families $ 75 - two families

- one family $25 - one family $250 -~ one family
$30 - one family

Total amount belonging to three of the twenty-one families.

-eakdown as follows:

- one family of six persons

- one family of five persons

) - one person

Not including turnips.

jIncluding turnips.

One family had seven hundred bushels.

FOne family, numbering four persons, had three thousand.

JOne family, numbering seven people, had one hundred dollars.
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s no seed for planting the following year.

To help in bringing relief to the Kansas farmer, two committees
re created to solicit aid in the East. The first of these were the
nsas Territorial Relief Commission under the leadership of Samuel

Pomeroy. The other was known as the New England Kansas Relief Com-
ttee under George W. Collamore. Subcommittees of each were argan-

q.37

ed at local areas to help in the distribution of any possible ai

38

Morris county, Wood became the local agent for the Pomeroy committee
d Baker for the Collamore committee.3-

At the same time as this activity was taking place, Kansas was in
e process of becoming organized as a state under the Wyandotte Consti-
tion.uo With the likllhood of Kansas soon gaining statehood, Pomeroy
gan to work towards becoming one of its first two United States Sena-
ws.h]

The Pomeroy committee thus became a tool of his senatorial campaign.
d was distributed only by those who could help Pomeroy to benefit po-

42

tically. The Morris County relief committee was first organized with-
t regard to the political overtones and thus when wagons were sent to

chison for supplies they were ref‘used."'3 Finally, Wood became Pomeroy's

37George W. Glick, "The Drought of 1860," Transactions of the Kan-
s State Historical Society, 1905-1906 (Topeka: Kansas State Printing
ant, 1907), IX, pp. LB80-L84.

38

Council Grove Press, April 13, 1861.

391bid.

“0yit1iam Frank Zornow, Kansas: A History of the Jayhawk State
orman: University of Oklahoma Press, 1957), p. &8.

blcouncil Grove Kansas Cosmos, April 16, 1886,

b2 141 4.

LEITS

——
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bn:in Council Grove and as a result was criticized for the favori-

b

and method he used in distributing aid.

The attacks on Wood became so bitter that Baker, who was associated

i

th the Collamore committee and not with Pomeroy, was forced not only
}defend Wood and Pomeroy, but also to issue a defense of himseH’.l‘S
an agent of Collamore, Baker distributed for seed: one hundred and

fty bushels of wheat,l'6 fifty bushels of potatoe':‘.,l*7

a lot of garden
r‘cds,"'8 and fifty bushels of corn.h?

As a farmer, Baker was undoubtedly hurt by the drought, yet due
 his pursuance of other interests, his economic existence was not en-
ngered to the degree of one solely engaged in agriculture. Besides
s farm, Baker also established a trading post at the Rock Creek crossing
the Santa Fe road. Maloy maintains that "merchants and business men.
. had about their usual amount of trade, and did not feel the effects

150 As evidence of

"a crop failure so keenly as did the farmer.
ker's relative security during the drought, one can point to his ab-
ity and position of serving as conduit of help for others.

It was quite natural for Baker to establish a store at his home

Rock Creek. 1t should be remembered that prior to his settling

ere, Baker had been a trader with the Sac and Fox Indians in Kansas.

“hColumbus, Ohio The Crisis , April 25, 1861.

hsCouncil Grove Press, April 13, 1861.

46144,
471bid., April 27, 1861.

48 pi4.

491bid., May 18, 1861.

50Council Grove Kansas Cosmos, April 16, 1886,
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when his license to trade was not renewed, Baker was faced with a large
inventory of trade goods on hand and no immediate means to liquidate them.
As a result, in the early months of 1854, Baker built a new store on the
tanta Fe road and moved his inventory there.2! Shortly after opening his
store, Baker named the site Agnes City.52 The store at Agnes City op-
erated for eight years until it was the scene of Baker's violent death
in 1862.°3

The activities of Baker as a merchant were probably similar to
other merchants in Kansas territorial days. William F, Shamleffer,
who was a merchant in Council Grove following the Civil War described

a frontier merchant

.as a good mixer, and (one who was). . . at home in
the Indian tepees or in the humblest bachelor's dugout
or hut on the plains. . . .The more languages he could

speak the better; and he should have on hand in his
store a supply of everything from Bibles to whiskey and
strychnine for he had to deal with all kinds of peOple.5
The bulk of Baker's business probably came from ''the freighters
and traders to New Mexico and the mountains.“55 The Santa Fe traffic

was prodigious during the years immediately preceeding the Civil War.

Seth Hays, a trader in Council Grove and pictured in Figure IX, reported

518. A. James to George W. Manypenny, April 22, 1854, Letters
Received By the Office of Indian Affairs, 1824-81 (microfilmed copy
from the National Archives). Henceforth referred to as Letters.
For a discussion of Baker's activities with the Sac and Fox Agency,
see Chapter 11, )

52

Leavenworth Kansas Weekly Herald, December 13, 1856.

53Bailey, p. 46.

S%itliam F. Shamleffer, '"Merchandising Sixty Years Ago,"
Collections, 1923-1925 (Topeka: Kansas State Printing Plant, 1925)
XVI, p. 567.

b

55Council Grove Kansas Cosmos, April 16, 1886.




FIGURE IX

Seth Hays, the first settler in Council Grove
and a trader with both the Kanza Indians and
the Santa Fe freighters. As a business leader
of Council Grove, Hays was an associate of
Baker's. (Courtesy of Kansas State Historical
Society.)

59
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e seventeen-day period from June 28 to July 15, 1853, "There
Grove during this time, 415 men, 289 wagons, 56 horses, 74k

51 oxen and 23 carriages engaged in trade, and they transported

lains over one thousand and seven hundred tons of freight."56

“entire summer of 1859, Santa Fe trade involved ''2,440 men,

ns, 429 horses, 15,714 oxen, 5,316 mules, 67 carriages; and

ported over the plains nine thousand six hundred and eight

t.“57

eigh
ough the bulk of this traffic would have undoubtedly received
plies and repairs in Council Grove, a share of it likely

ed at Agnes City. Besides his store, Baker claimed to main-
mes City, a mill, blacksmith shop, and post office.58 With
lities, although there was no evidence that the mill actually
laker was able to provide the teamsters and traders with

1 supplies as they needed."59

leffer states that:

- was the business of the local trader to keep an eye
it for sore-footed oxen which usually pulled the great
eight wagons, who would buy them for from $25 to $35

iece, and keep them about thirty or sixty days, have

em shod and sell them back for from $100 to $125 each.60

xperience as a blacksmith and claim of having a shop at Agnes

ias possible that Baker took advantage of the opportunity to

ttonwood Falls Kansas Press. Jaly 25, 1859,

uncil Grove Kansas Press, Movember 28, 1859. |talics and
n original. In August 1859, the Press was removed from
| Falls to Council Grove,

avenworth Kansas Weekly Herald, January 10, 1857.

iley, p. 46.

amleffer, p. 568. -



61

vide such a service, if it could be considered a service.

A second source of business for Baker's store was the Indians

61

n the Kaw Reservation.” It should be noted, however, that Baker

never a licensed trader with the Kanza, as he was with the Sac and

. Thus, any trade which Baker incurred with the Indians, could not

e been paid for by the usual manner of credit. Bailey maintains

t the Indians worked for Baker to pay for what goods they received.62
As more and more settlers moved into the vicinity of Agnes City,

63

er's store began to do business with them, although for major

ms, most settlers undoubtedly traveled to the larger cities of
ricus, Council Grove or Emporia.
Shamleffer states that:

The merchant had to hustle with business customers
all day, and then entertain them royally at night;
for some of them came hundreds of miles to trade,
and the business house had to furnish many of them
with sleeping quarters, places to cook their meals,
corrals in which to keep their stock, gnd open ac-
cess to the corn cribs and other feed.0Y

ge was evidence that Baker's hospitality for his friends and cus-
grs was well received. Bailey states that he ''repeatedly enjoyed
!hospitalities of . . .(Baker's) house during the lifetime of his
165

ier's) first wife. In 1857, the Kanzas News printed a letter,

6]Bailey, p. 45.

62145 4.

: 63Betty Mason, "'Agnes City,'" (unpublished manuscript found in
te Memorial Library, Emporia State University, July 10, 1962),

GhShamleffer.

65Bailey, p. h7.
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66

ved M. Quad, who testified concerning Baker that !''"Genuine hospi-

Ity reigns here, supreme.“67 A year later the editor of the News

tions that after 'partaking of his (Baker's) hospitality, we re-

ed speedily home . . . refreshed in mind, 68

[t was claimed by Bailey that El{ Sewell, '"a younger brother of
(Baker's) wife lived in his famlly and acted as clerk and general

p.”69 Sewell, pictured in figure X, had served in a similar capacity

70

n Baker was a trader with the Sac and Fox, In 1856, Sewell mar-

d Baker's sister Margaret,7' "

72

connecting the two families so close-
It was perhaps at this time that Baker and Sewell became
tners in the store. The 1861 tax assessment roll for Breckinridge
nty lists them as partners at Agnes Clty.73 Baker's estate records
lude bills unpaid by the firm of Baker and Sewell.7h

Baker family history describes Sewell as

66The name M. Quad does not appear on any Breckinridge County
sus and it is the supposition of the writer that 'M. Quad'' was a
~name, possibly that of the News's editor, Preston B. Plumb. A
ad' in printing is a blank piece of type used for spacing.

67Emporia Kanzas News, August 8, 1857.
68)pid., July 24, 1858.

69Bai]ey, p. 46.

708, A. James to George W. Manypenny, May 30, 1853, Letters.

7]A. T. Andreas, History of the State of Kansas, L_(Chicago:
T. Andreas, 1883), p. 807.

7?'”Simcock Manuscript."

73Breckinridge County Assessment Roll, 1861 (stored in base~
t of the Lyon County Courthouse, Emporia).

7“”Mes$. Baker & Sewell, Agnes City, Breckenridge Co., To
D. Jayne & Son,' Baker Estate File,




FIGURE X .

B Y Y T N /T T ———— * SNV G e

Eli M. Sewell, Baker's brother-in-law, closest
friend, business associate, neighbor, and poli-
tical ally. Sewell had worked for Baker since
his Sac and Fox days and in 1856 became his part-
ner. (Courtesy of Kansas State Historical Soc-
iety.)



one of those good natured men, never taking a thought

for anything but ease, which (was) the cause one time

of nearly making an end of his earthly career. The store
was full of traders and Indians and E1i lighted a pipe

to be soctal with the Indians and sat down on a keg of
powder. In a moment he was blown through the roof and
when he was picked up he was in such a poor condition
that they couldn't 1if& him but rolled him in a blanket
and carried him into the_house. He was barely breathing
and was perfectly black./>

r's mother, Agnes Miller Inghram Baker, was called to doctor Sewell.
ly history states that Sewell lost one of his eyes and it took a
) time for him to heal.76

Andreas claims that Sewell was a farmer and a stockman at Rock
tk and makes no mention of his employment at the store.77 Property
ords show that Baker owned the West one-half of the Northeast quarter
the East one-half of the Northwest quarter of section twelve. Town-
) sixteen, Range nine; and Sewell owned the West half of the South-

8

. quarter of the same section.’% 0On the 1860 census, Sewell's oc-

ation was listed as a farmer.79
At times Baker and Sewell evidently employed other individuals

care for the store. The 1860 census lists a Albert D. Griffin as

rader with Baker and Sewell.BO At the time of Baker's death in

2, George Sequr, the brother of his new bride, was employed in the

75”Simcock Manuscript.'

61bi4.

77Andreas, p. 807.

78“Records of Land Ownership,' Morris County Land Deeds
operty of the Register of Deeds, Morris County).

79£Spsus of 1860, Territory of Kansas.

80pid.
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tore.

The Leavenworth Herald states that the Agnes City post office

as ""at the house of A. J. (I.) Baker.“82 In all probabllity this

as actually in the store and not in Baker's house itself. The post

ffice was established on November 1, 1856,83 with Baker's brother-in-

84

aw, Emanuel Mosier, as the first postmaster.

By April 1, 1859, Baker was serving as the postmaster of Agnes

ity.8S In 1861, the United States Official Register shows that Baker

as paid eight dollars and eighteen cents as postmaster of Agnes City.86

Baker performed one other function as a merchant at Agnes City.
e served as a reporter for the Emporia Kanzas News for information
oncerning commerce on the plains and in New Mexico and Arizona. The
ews noted, "This he can easily do, from his posit}on on the road, and
s correspondent of several heavy firms doing business in Santa Fe, who
urnish him the latest news from the mines, §££3“87

Baker family history states that '"Running his farm and taking care

f his store kept him busy.“88 These two activities, however, were just

8lEmporia News, July 12, 1862.

82Leavenworth Kansas Weekly Herald, December 13, 1856.

83Robert W. Baughman, Kansas Post Offices (Wichita: McCormick-
rmstrong Co., 1961), p. 1.

84 ig., p. 201.

85List of Post Offices In the United States (Washington: John
. Rives, 1859), p. 6.

85ynited states Official Register, 1861 (Washington: Government
rinting Office, 1862), p. 430.

87Emporia Kansas News, September 11, 1868.

88”Simcock Manuscript."



mall portion of Baker's economic life as a pioneer in the upper
sho valley. As greatly as he was involved in agriculture and as
merchant, Baker's interests soon began to develop in other areas.
Bailey claims that Baker ''professed to be a lawyer.”89 On the
T(O census Baker attests to this by listing it as his occupation.90
he re is no evidence as to just when Baker became an attorney, nor is
he re any evidence that Baker ever received any formal training for the
?r'
The first advertisment for Baker as an attorney appeared in the
bnzas News on July 25, 1857. This advertisment, pictured in Figure
i, gave his office and residence as Agnes City and claimed that Baker
as an ''Attorney and counsellor at Law . . . . Will practice his pro-
ession and collect debts in all the Neosho River Counties.“9]
There is very little available evidence with reference to Baker
s an attorney in criminal cases. This writer has been able to find
aker's name mentioned in connection with only two criminal cases,
oth in Morris County. Maloy states that in November of 1858, when
he first case appeared before the new Justice of the Peace of Wise
ounty, H. J. Espy, ''The Territory of Kansas was plaintiff against
ome malefactor, and J. B. Collier and A. |. Baker figured as attorneys.

he records do not show to what extent justice and law was vindicated."9?2

89Bailey, p. L5,

tensus of 1860, Territory of Kansas.

9]Emporia Kanzas News, July 25, 1857 to December 11, 1848. With
e start of its second volume on July 31, 1858, the News changed the
pelling of Kanzas to Kansas. When the third volume came out on
ugust 13, 1859, the name was changed to Emporia News.

92¢ouncil Grove Kansas Cosmos, March 12, 1886.
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Business card for A, |. Baker,
"Attorney and Counsellor At
Law,'" which appeared in the
Kanzas News from July 25,

1857 to December 11, 1858,
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A second crimiral case in which Baker served as an attorney oc-
cured in 1860. On the fourth of May, an Irishman by the name of Daniel
Lanihan was found dead in hls cabin, located about seven miles west of
Council Grove. Lanihan had been shot to death and a Donald McDonald
was arrested the next day as a suspect. The editor of the Council
Grove Press, Samuel N, Wood, was at that time county prosecuting
attorney.93 Wood, who never seemed to be bothered by conflicts of
interest, or the rights of the accused, gave the following account of
the arraignment:
The justice, after a full examination, ordered defendent
to give bail in §1,000, for his appearance in court, which
failing to do, he was committed to jail to await the action
of the grand jury in September next. . But little doubt is
entertained of his guilt, and the circumstances show one of
the most cold blooded murders on record. It is supposed,
however, that McDonald will set up self-defense . . .(as
his justification).d

The nature of the defense used by McDonald's attorneys, Baker and

B. F. Perkins,95

is not now known. Maloy states, however, that
McDonald '"escaped conviction through some means or other, moved away
and has not been heard of since.“96

Baker participated as an attorney in two of the fifty-four
cases at Americus on the United States District Court docket for
September 1860.97 It is not known, however, whether these cases

involved criminal or civil matters.

As an attorney, civil matters seemed to have been Baker's forte,

I3council Grove Press, May 1h4, 1860.

941bi4.

95|bid.

96Council Grove Kansas Cosmos, April 23, 1886.

97Emporia News , September 15, 1860.
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lcularly those involving real estate. Beginning the first of

ﬁ 1859, Baker inserted his business card in the Council Grove

, as an ''Attorney and Counsellor at Law AND GENERAL LAND AGENT.
Attend all the Courts of the Second District. Will Buy and Sell
Warrants, And do a General Land Agency Business. Agnes City K.
]

On December 11, 1858, Baker's business card in the Kansas News
hanged by adding "REAL.ESTATE AGENT, Dealer in Land Warrants, Town

1dd

and Shares, Clalms, etc. The notice also stated, ''Pre-emption
ess promptly attended to - - Money invested and debts collected - -
| instruments carefully drawn up and recorded - ~ Claims filed on
)eclaratory statements promptly forwarded etc., 932:“100
The News endorsed Baker and took note of his opening '‘an office
ericus, in this county, for the practice of Law and attending to
Agency business generally. The Judge will devote himself to his
less exclusively for the future, and no doubt will render satisfac-
to all who may employ him.'101
The District Court Record for Breckinridge county shows only one
| case in which Baker was involved. The case became rather involved
lasted for over a year.

On June 16, 1859, a Samuel McCaul loaned to Henry Parker of Wise

y the sum of eighty dollars, to be repaid in six months along with

98Council Grove Press, August 1, 1859 to November 10, 1860. Em-
s in original.

99Emporia Kansas News, December 11, 1859 to March 17, 1860. Em-
's in original,

10014,

————

10714id., December 11, 1858.
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p per cent interest per month. For collateral Parker offered the
ed to his property in Wise county. Needless to say, Parker defaulted
the loan, and McCaul filed suit, 102
Baker became involved in the case when it was discovered that pre-
ous to the time that Parker borrowed the money from McCaul, he secured
loan of six hundred and twenty-five dollars from a Thomas McLain of
atte County, Missouri. As collateral for this loan, Parker put the
me piece of property in trust, that he later used as a basis for the
Caul loan. Like the McCaul loan, barker defaulted on the Mclain loan
d thus the property was signed over to MclLain, on December 1, 1858.]03
To retain what he thought was his property, Mclain became a co-
fendent with Parker in the McCaul case and hired Baker to represent
m.IOM To compound the situation, MclLain, through his attorney, Baker,
untersued Parker and McCaul to secure not only the property, but also
e repayment of the six hundred and twenty-five dollars.‘OS
The McCaul case was decided in McCaul's favor, with the court

106

ling that he should be paid $107.73 by Parker. Concerning MclLain,

e court ruled that his case should be taken up separately, which was
obably the reason for the countersuit. 07

There was no statement in the court record as to the actual

IOZBreckinridge County District Court Final Record Book A, p.
(stored in basement of Lyon county Courthouse, Emporia, Kansas).

1031 bid., pp. 52-3.
104454

IOSEmporia News, January 5, 1861.

‘06Final Record, p. 50.

107(bid., p. 5h.
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disposition of the property in contention. Final decision of the case
might not have been made by the time of Baker's death in July 1862, as
McLain filed a petition with the administrator of Baker's estate for
reimbursement of a six-dollar fee paid Baker.‘08
Baker evidently did some other work for Mclain concerning land
transactions. During the drought of 1860, Mclain hired Baker, for ten
dollars, to purchase some property for him. Baker acknowlcdged the
receipt of the money in a letter to Mclain and said, 'l will buy in
the place for you should you not be here yourself, | will get it for
a mere song probably for times are hard here (and) money scarce: but
| will do for you the same as if it was for myself.“lo9 What property
Baker was referring to and whether he actually aquired it is not known,
Baker's interest as a land agent and in the promotion of settle-
ment in the upper Neosho valley was perhaps something more than a means
of livelihood to him. Maloy stated that when Baker first settled at
Rock Creek in 1854, he did so '""holding to the doctrine that the people
had a right to locate upon the public domain, wherever such occupancy

did not interfere with the rights of ot'hers..“”0

Baker seemed to believe
that the purpose of land was exploitation, that property was to be im-
proved and not left to its natural state. In 1861, he made the state-
ment that "'in the absence of the amelorating art of husbandry, nature

presents to us a dul monotonous waste.“]]]

1081petition of Thomas MclLain," Baker Estate File.

109, 1.
Estate File.

Baker to Thomas Mclain, July 28, 1860, Baker

N0council Grove Kansas Cosmos, May 7, 1886,
111

Council Grove Press, July 20, 1861.




Baker was a promoter of settlement in the upper Neosho valley
pefore taking the quasi-offlcial title of '"Land Agent.'' In Dec-
1856, Baker began to promote the upper Neosho in the Leavenworth

Baker, who perhaps fancied himself a poet, used the following
to entice the prospective settler.

Oh! don't be afraid, the disturbers are gone,

And now is the time to preempt a new home.

Come emigrants -- come you've trumps in your hand,
Play them and reap the fat of the land.

| Kansas invites you all, beauteous as a bride,

: With a wreath in her hair, and a plow by her side;

- Bright symbol of Kansas, who'll be a bride groom,
And marry this virgin in her youth & her Bloom.

Rich Prairies and woodland bespangled all over,
Awalt you, sweet flowers grass and wild clover, 112
Clear waters beneath, above you a clear blue sky;

0f all of Kansas, Baker expressed the greatest faith in the
re of the upper Neosho valley. Hls description of the area was al-
one of praise,

The source of the Neosho River, and its numerous
branches of clear sparkiing waters, all meandering
through well timbered and beautiful vales, with
springs of pure limestone water, gushing out of every
hill, matchless soil, rank grass, with unsurpassed
building and fencing stone (in the region only lime
stone deposits are found) lays almost wholy within Ehe
Counties of Madison, Breckinridge, Butler and Wise. 13

Even the drought did not dim Baker's enthusiasm for land promo-
and the future of Kansas.

The blighting drouth, which hung over this country in 1860,
like the shadow of death; naturally lead people into an en-
quiry (sic) concerning the future prosperity of the State,
its resources, etc., The snow and rain this winter, has dis-
pelled the apprehension of another drouth; and the people
confidently expect to produce a large surplus of grain this

llzLeavenworth Kansas Weekly Herald, January 10, 1857,

131pid.
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season. In view of this pleasant prospect, our mind
very hopefully seeks other gratifying objects for the
encouragement of immigration, and the substantial wealth
of the future population of the commonwealth. Very
little has ever been published by the press of Kansas,
in regard to the boundless quantities of riﬁh minerals
known to exists (sic) within our borders.!!

Baker constantly maintained that the future of Kansas was in the

pper Neosho valley. 'And should the State of Kansas be square, which

5 probably wi]],' said Baker, ''then here upon the Neosho, will accord-
%g to the late Surveys, be the geographical Centre (sic) of the State
& Kansas. The emigrant with the History of all the western States
%fore him, must settle here if he wishes to locate near the final
épital of Kansas.””5

- Baker's vision of the state capital's eventual location in the
pper Neosho was not, for the time, an idle fancy. Maloy states that
he first territorial governor of Kansas, Andrew Reeder, visited Council
rove in October 1854, '"with the view of making it the capital of the
erritory, but learned while here that no treaty could be made with
he Indians for their lands.“”6 Thus, according to Maloy, the first
erritorial capital became Pawnee, near Fort Riley.]17

There was also the belief, at that time, that the first trans-

ontinental railroad would transverse the upper Neosho valley. Jotham
eeker, the missionary to the Shawnee Indians in Kansas, claimed that

his would be so. ''The recent explorations of routes,'" said Meeker

n a letter to the commissioner of Indian Affairs, '‘and especially the

Whcouncil Grove Press, February 16, 1861

115 e avenworth Kansas Weekly Herald, January 10, 1857.
116

Council Grove Kansas Cosmos, March 5, 1886.

]]7lbid.
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iupuntain Passes, shows that it is at least possible that the road may
be built on what is called the 'Central' or 'Kansas Route!.'118

Meeker pointed out that the State of Missouri was then building
"what they call the 'Pacific Railroad,' and that it will soon be com-
pleted from St. Louis to Jefferson City.“”9 He claimed that the railway
was then to be extended to Jackson County, Missourl, and from there to
Bent's fort in what later became the State of Colorado, along the way
to "touch Council Grove.'120  This feasibility, of the first trans-
continental railway crossing the upper Neosho, undoubtedly encouraged
land speculators such as Baker, in their efforts to promote settlement.

The one major obstacle in the way of either establishing the state
capital at Council Grove or building a transcontinental railroad through
the Neosho valley, was the Kanza Indian Reserve. The location of this
reservation was to remain a constant thorn in Baker's side.

In 1846, the Kanza Indians signed a treaty giving them a reserve
approximately twenty miles square surrounding Council Grove. In the
spring of the following year, the Indians moved to their new reservation.
The precise boundaries of this, as well as other reserves, were unclear
and when the Kansas Territory was organized, in 1854, Governor Reeder
requested from the Bureau of Indian Affairs an official map delineating
Indian Reservation. The governor was given one of 'Eastman's Maps,'

which was certified as correct by George W. Manypenny, the Commissioner

118 6tham Meeker to George Manypenny, January 16, 1854,
Letters.

13514,
12041 4.

121Andreas, p. 796.

121
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122

Eflndian Affairs. Maloy states, ''This map located the Kaw Re-

l|]23

erve west and south of Council Grove. Baker was well aware of

Eastman's map'' and mentioned it in his letter promoting the upper
feosho for settlement.lzu
""Assuming that map to be accurate,' added Maloy, 'settlers made
-laims east of here{Counc!l Grove) on Rock Creek, and north and south
f here on the Neosho, under the impression that they had located on
he public domain."]25 One of these settlers was, of course, Baker.
The problem, for Baker and the other settlers, arose when, in
857, the government surveyed the reservation and marked the bound-

126 The newly established boundaries placed Council Grove in

ries.
he center between the north and south lines, with the east and west
lines fifteen and five miles from Council Grove respectively.]27 "This
wove changed to a great extent all preconceived ideas as to the actual

.“128

joundaries of the Reservation. thus technically putting set-
lers, such as Baker, in a position of being ''trespassers upon Indian
Iands.”]29 This would explain why a patent for Baker's property at

lock Creek was not filed and deeded until after his death, when Kanza

122¢5uncil Grove Kansas Cosmos, March 12, 1886,

1231514,

124 ¢ avenworth Kansas Weekly Herald, January 10, 1857.

'25¢ouncil Grove Kansas Cosmos, March 12, 1886.

]260riginal Township Plats, Morris County, pp. 7, 9, 14, 19, and
6 (located at the Morris County Courthouse).

27

Council Grove Kansas Cosmos, March 12, 1886,

128414,

.

1291pid.
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1ad been officially open and cleared for settlement, |30

The government's response to the situation was to order all

settlers off the reservation. These settlers then forwarded a
on of grievance to the Bureau of Indian Affairs, resulting in a
sion appointed by the government ''to appraise improvements and

w131 Morris county history records that although

compensation.
ompensation was made, ''the United States treasury lacked funds
id in 'Kaw Land scrip' on which the settlers realized only about

cents on the dollar.“]32

There has been no evidence found by

riter pertaining to how much, if any, '"Kaw Land Scrip' Baker

3id by the government.

Although the white settlers were supposed to have been removed

he reservation, in actuality there was no real attempt to do it.
‘tuation soon materialized in what Morris county historians have

ed to as ''the Indian raid of 1859.“]33

On June/zﬂl?859, some ninety Kaw warriors rode up to the store

h Hays in Council Grove. The immediate issue had to do with two
s’ horses which had been stolen. Héys had demanded that the horses
urned and that those responsible for the act be turned over to him,
idians had come to comply with the first and reject the second of

134

demands.

]30”Records of Land Ownership' Morris County Land Deeds (property
> Register of Deeds, Morris County). Records note that Baker's
"ty claim was filed September 13, 1863.

131

Ibid.

]32|nventory of County Archives of Kansas, No. 64, Morris
s (Washington: Works Progress Administration, 1936), p. 17.

]33Brigham, p. 19.

3hcouncil Grove Kansas Cosmos, April 9,{386.
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n the rejection of his second demand, and perhaps because he

5y due to the attitude of the Indians, Hays produced two pistols
{ them into the air.|3S This action, needless to say, startled
ans , who, thinking they had been shot at, began making cries

e. On hearing those cries, Hays retreated inside, leaving
iffaker, who was acting as an interpreter, and Charles Gilkey,

136

|-keeper, outside to face the Indians. Gilkey was then
n the breast with an arrow, and a young man named Parks, who
5ing the street - - - to the hotel, was shot with a rifle and
) the ground, and everybody supposed he was killed."137
er's brother-in-law, Huffaker, then heroically warned the
o leave town, which they promptly did.]38 The immediate danger
d, the townspeople began to prepare for a war with the Indians.
scribes the scene:
.A "council of war' (was) held, which decided that
'war was inevitable,' and that the Kaws must be exter-
ninated. H. J. Espy. . . .was elected Captain and Thomas
lhite. . . . was elected Lieutenant. Up to 12 o'clock
sbout forty men were enrolled; some with old shot guns,
thers with rusty squirrel rifles, and others entirely
narmed; all anxious to take part in the obliteration of
hat pestiferous tribe of '‘noble red men.''!39
0 evidently was not impressed with the wisdom of such a
litary campaign, then gave the following aside. 'Think of

[t of such a contest! Forty men armed as stated above court-

gagement with 400 well-armed Indians who were securely pre-

1bid.

Emporia Kansas News, June 27, 1859,
7Council Grove Kansas Cosmos, April 9, 1886.
3Emporia Kansas News, July 11, 1859,

)Council Grove Kansas Cosmos , April.9, 1886.
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ed for a long %gyge.”]bo

Fortunately, wiser counsel soon prevalied and it was decided to
d a messenger to negotiate with the Indians for the surrender of
se who had done the shooting. ''One magf) only was found who was wil-
g to go to the Indian camp. That man was T. S, Huffaker.“]h]
Huffaker, was successful in his efforts and returned with the
Indians, who were 'Without the formallty of a Court, judge or
Y. . . .immediately hung (sic).“”‘2
The purpose of presenting the above incident was not to make
udgement concerning the actions of the settlers, but rather to illus-
te the intensity of feeling by both the Indians and the settlers. The
ensity on the part of the settlers was so strong that, shortly after
incident occurred, Colonel Milton J. Dickey, the newly appointed
ian agent, expressed ''the opinion that it is useless to attempt to
ove the settlers from the Kaw Lands, and that the Indians will soon
removed.“M3
Shortly following the ''Indian raid,' the settlers decided that a
e permanent miljtary force was needed and thus a meeting was held for
e organization of the 'Morris County Frontier Rifle Guards.'“]bu

ording to their constitution and by-laws, the ''Guards'' were an ad hoc

itary company for ''the protection of our homes and the instruction of

[EANTSPY

EYATS VR

]h3Cottonwood Falls Kansas Press, June 13, 1859,

'thouncil Grove Kansas Cosmos, March 26, 1886.
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youth in military exercises.””’5 Baker's name was listed among
forty-two who signed the constitution, along with the names of
brother, Joshua and brother-in-laws, Huffaker and Mosier.“’6
degree to which the ''Guards'' were active has not been mentioned in
of the histories, nor in any of the newspaper accounts of the time.
r constitution did-state that regular meeting would be held '"on
first Saturday of October, January, April and the fourth of July
ach year, for the purpose of instruction, (mounted) (Parenthesis
wiginal).“l“7 The minutes of the organizational meeting state
there was to be a meeting '‘on Saturday the 20th day of Aug.,
3 1859.”'b8 No evidence has been found by this writer which
cated that this meeting ever tock place.

H. J. Espy was elected the captain of the "Guards.'' Espy's
tion, ''was attributed to the fact that he was slow of movement and
'prudent."“‘9 With such leadership, the '"Frontier Rifle Guards"
aps died of benign neglect, which could explain the reason why it
never again mentioned.

On October 5, 1859, Alfred B. Greenwood, Commissioner of
an Affairs, signed a new treaty with the Kanza Indians,lSO

thich they ''‘ceded the northern portion of their reserve to

45¢ouncil Grove Kansas Press, December 12, 1859.

146

Ibid.

]b7|bid.

lbgCouncil Grove Kansas Cosmos, March 26, 1886.

]SO“Indian Treaties and Councils Affecting Kansas,'"
lections, 1923-1925 (Topeka: Kansas State Printing Plant,
;S, XVl, p' 765.
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he Government.”]sl The settlers on the reservation objected to the
reaty as there was no ''provision inserted recognizing the rights of
he settlers who had settled upon the lands prior to the Montgomery
urvey (1857)."152  The treaty called for the sale of the Indian trust

and by sealed bids, to the highest bidder.]53

Thus, under the Green-
ood treaty, there was no way for the squatters to retaln their claims.
A meeting of all the settlers on the Kansas reservation was held

154

n October 22 to protest the Greenwood treaty. Baker played a pro-

inent role in that meeting. He “Qas called for, to give a brief his-

ory of the settlement of this portion of the country.”]55 The minutes

f the meeting state that Baker ''responded, by setting forth the claims

f the settlers, to the lands they now occupy, and urged upon the meeting

he importance of immediately taking some measure to prevent the ratifi-

ation of the recent Treaty.“]56
Baker, along with eight others, including Huffaker and his wife's

rother-in-law, Elisha Goddard, also served on the resolutions committee.]57

he resolutions, which were unanimously adopted, basically outlined the

osition of the squatters, presenting arguments for the justification of

heir settlement. |t condemned the Greenwood treaty and petitioned the

IS]Morris County Archives, p. 12. The northern section was
eferred to as the Kaw Trust lands, and what was left of the reser-
ation became known as the Kansas Diminished Reserve.

152Council Grove Kansas Cosmos, March 19, 1886.

1531bi4.
15k

Council Grove Kansas Press, October 31, 1859.

155 1bid.
1561414
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lent and the Senate not to ratify it.158

The appeal was evidently successful, as the Senate amended the

/ to allow the squatters on the trust land to purchase their

st the appraised value of one dollar and seventy-five cents per
159 Baker was thus able to purchase the property on which his

at Agnes City was located.

Baker's attitude towards the Indians was evidently more mellow
rany of his contemporaries, Where individuals such as Wood would
t their frustration directly at the Kanza Indians and refer to

1160 Baker's frustration was

3s ''a set of lazy lousy savages,
ted towards the government for being unwilling or upable to pursue
e viable land policy, conducive to settlement. 1t should be re-
red that Baker was a promoter for settlement and thus interested
curity for those he hoped to entice to the upper Neosho.

Although Baker referred to the Indians as his '"'copper-colored
ds,“le] he did not hesitate to air his displeasure with the
ment's handling of them when they interfered with his own econo-

nterest.

In November 1859, Baker wrote to the Americus Sentinel concerning

n trouble on the Santa Fe road.

It is with painful feelings of reluctance that | ever
write a cencere (sic) against the powers that be; but,
we sometimes are driven to it in pure defence (sic).

.Why have not some steps been taken by th

158 bid.

153Marris County Archives, p. 17.

]60Council Grove Kansas Press, December 12, 1859,

‘G]Council Grove Press, March 3, 1861,
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Government to chastise these Indians? Why
are they allowed to prowl along the Arkansas,
robbing and murdering with impunity? The
Frontier is now daily iIn danger of a fear-
ful massacere at some point. The Indians
have openly made threats to that effect and
God only knows upon who it will fall. . . .
If some measure it not taken, the spring
trade and tgave] upon this route will be
broken up.] z

Concerning the location of the Kansas reservation and its
ingment upon white sett]emenQ/and thus Baker's promotional act-
es, he wrote

It is well known that we have always taken the posi-
tion that the present Kansas reservation is not, ’
according to the treaty of 1847, the lands designed
for this people -- We, with others, used all the
influence we had to prevent the present Treaty. We
urged (upon) Commissioner Greenwood the claims of
the Whites to these lands, and the necessity and
propriety of removing the Kaws to unoccupied lands
farther to the South and West, about which there
was not, nor ever would be, any controversy about
the title.!

Baker's work as a ''Land Agent'' took many forms. Apart from
interest in obtaining settlement of the Kaw reservation boundary
tion, Baker became quite active as a town promoter. It was quite
onable for Baker to expect that if the capital of Kansas was to
>cated in the upper Neosho, then why should it not be in a com-
ty in which he had an interest?

The first town Baker was known to be involved with as a pro-
r was Agnes City. It should be remembered that Agnes City was

location of Baker's store, home and farm. Although some historians

maintained that locations such as Agnes City were in actuality only

]62AmeriCus Sentinel, date unknown., Quoted in the Council Grove
as Press, December 5, 1859.

163council Grove Press, March 23, 1861.
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164

ships and rural post offices, this writer believes that there
every intention on the part of promoters, such as Baker, to make

ese locations into prominent cities, 1In his letter to the Leaven-

}th Herald, Baker describes only three communities in the upper

Eﬁho valley. These three cities were: Columbia, ''the county seat

?Hadison County“;]65 Council Grove, which 'will be one of the most
portant towns in the Territory of Kansas on account of its increas-

166

g trade with New Mexico'"; and Agnes City, "in one of the most
vely valey (sic) in the world."167

Although Agnes City was incorporated in 1857 as a family-owned
168

wn corporation, its future became immediately uncertain due to

e Kaw land survey of that year. When a correspondent of the News
sited the city in early August 1857, he described it as one which
""did not discover . . .at first, but it was pointed out to me.

e site is a good one, but being on the Reservation no attempt has as
t been made to improve it, and probably will not be until the ques-
. . » . a ||'69
on concerning the title is definitely settled.

Agnes City, however, did obtain some prominence that year, when

e territorial legislature established Breckinridge county and desig-

16byivtiam E. Unrau, ''The Council Grove Merchants and Kanza
dians,' The Kansas Historical Quarterly, (Topeka: Kansas State
storical Society, 1968), XXXIV, No. 3, p. 274.

65

Leavenworth Kansas Weekly Herald, January 10, 1857.

167 bid.

]68”Extinct Geographical Locations,'" Collections, 1911-
12 (Topeka: State Printing Office, 1912), X1, p. L72. Agnes
ty was incorporated by Baker and two of his brothers-in-law,
anue] Mosier and Eli Sewell,




ed it as the county seat. 170 The seat of government remained at

es City until October 1858, when it was moved to Americus. 7!
With the problem of land ownership hindering its growth and

ricus becoming the new county seat, the Agnes City town company

172

er plated the town into lots. Thus the name Agnes City soon

e to refer to a township, rather than a town.”3
As a land agent, Baker became a specialist in obtaining land
les for town companies. He was responsible for obtaining title to

ge sections of the two great Breckinridge rival towns, Americus
Emporia.]7u
The town in Breckinridge county that Baker was most closely
ociated with, besides Agnes City, was Americus. Baker purchased
north half of this town site on March 10, 1857, '"for the use and

efit of the occupants thereof.“175 The Americus Town Company was

anized on June 1, 1857, with sixteen members,]76 and the title to

170\ aws of the Territory of Kansas, 1857 (Lecompton: R. H.
nett, Public Printer, 1857), p. 90.

171
172 . .
Emporia News, September 1, 1860. The paper listed the

ber of town lots in the county. There are no lots listed for
es City.

Emporia Kansas News, December 25, 1858.

]73Agnes City Township was created in 1857. It has existed
r since.

]7QWarranty Deed, March 10, 1857, Book B of Deeds, p. 593
gister of Deeds, Lyon county). This deed is in reference to
ricus and henceforth will be referred to as Book B. Warranty
d, December 16, 1858, Book C of Deeds, p. 418 (Register of
ds, Lyon County). This deed is in reference to Emporia and
ceforth will be referred to as Book C.

]7SWarranty Deed, March 10, 1857, Book B, p. 593.

]76Emporia Gazette, May 28, 1957.

84
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property was deeded to them by Baker for the sum of one dollar.'77

mile-square townsite was divided Into blocks of sixteen lots each.

178

town company member was then given one lot in every block.
r's prominence in the company was shown by the fact that he was

president.]79 Besides Baker, Sewell and Goddard were also founding

180

ers of the company. It was while Baker was involved with the

181

company, that he moved his law practice to Americus.

The great rival of Americus in Breckinridge county was Emporia,

82

ty which Wood claimed to be '"'selfish and dictatorial”] towards

other cities of the county. The city was ''located in February,

y + . .by Preston B. Plumb, G. W. Brown, Geo. W. Deitzler, Lyman

n, and Columbus Hornsby.”]83 The town was to be, like Americus,

le square, but title could only be obtained for the northern half.

e the town company had already plated the site and ''erected a hotel,

n184

es, and dwelling houses thereon, not having a clear title to the

erty presented a problem. Baker, acting as the county probate judge,

]77Warranty Deed, March :10, 1857, Book B, p. 593.

]78Emporia Gazette, May 28, 1957.

]79$tock Certificate Number 203, November 28, 1857, Americus
Company (property of the Lyon County Historical Society). This
ificate bears Baker's signature as president of the town company.
ria News, December 11, 1858 to March 17, 1860: below Baker's
ness card, the paper added an editorial comment, ‘'Mr. B. is also
ident of the Americus Town Company.*

‘8OWarranty Deed, March 10, 1857, Book B, p. 593.
]8]Emporia Kansas News, December 11, 1858,
182

Cottonwood Falls Kansas Press, July 11, 1859,

]83Jacob Stotler, Annals of Emporia and Lyon County: 1857-1882
oria: np., n.d.), p. 5.

184

Warranty Deed, December 16, 1858, Book C, p. 418,
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tered the case and obtained the title, which he signed over
town company for an unknown reward.185
The method used by Baker to obtain title for Emporia was rela-
simple and was perhaps used by him In other such cases. To
title for one of the two quarter sections, Baker located a
n of the Seminole Indian War, Marmaduke Wofford, who then was
d by Baker, after first filing claim on the property as bounty
to assign the property over to him.]86 What compensation was
ed to Wofford by Baker is not known.
For the second quarter section, Baker used the same method.
ime he located a widow of a revolutionary war veteran, Eleanor
1, who assigned the property to him.‘87 The deed to these two
of land was then transferred from Baker to the town company.
y after this the News gleefully announced,

The town site of Emporia has been preempted, and

the Town Company will be ready, in a few days,

to give deeds for town lots. -- Those having

shares would do well to forw§rdléaem to the

Company at Lawrence or Emporia.

interesting to note that although the News did not credit Baker

s efforts, the town site would never have been possible without

Baker was also involved as a speculator and promoter with sev-

yther towns in the upper Neosho, all of which are now defunct. In
1814,
186

Patent, December 10, 1860, Book F of Deeds, p. 540
ter of Deeds, Lyon County). Henceforth referred to as

]87Patent, December 10, 1858, Book F,

]88Emporia Kansas News, December 25, 1858,



Baker was, along with five others, including Huffaker, an
porator for the town of Sonora in Breckinridge county.]89 The
ion of Sonora is not known and this writer was unable fo find
on of the city in any of the newspapers of the day.

In 1858, Baker was an incorporator of Waupego, in what later
190

e Chase county. Records of the Chase County Historical

87

ty have located Waupego near the mouth of Diamond Spring Creek. 19!

members of the town company were Goddard, Plumb, W. A. Phi]]iﬁs,
Bancroft and A. Z, She]don.]92

At the time of his death, Baker was involved with filing the

for the town of Toledo, in Chase county.]93 The town company
een organized in 1858, but never fi]ed.lgu Evidently it had been
d, as Baker owned lots in the town.]95

Exactly what financial benefits Baker received for his efforts
wn promotion is not known. Records state that in some of these
nities, if not all, Baker had town lots. These lots were then

by Baker, most probably for profit.]96

The year 1861 brought a temporary change of Baker's residence

n part to his economic activities. [In January of that year, he

S

1831Extinct Geographical Locations," p. 486.

]90Chase County Historical Sketches (Emporia: Emporia Gazette,
, 1, p. 29.

191

Ibid.

|

I95”Chase County Treasurer's Receipt,' Baker Estate File.

196

Emporia News, July 21, 1860.




'd to Council Grove, where he became involved as a businessman.
woted previously, the location of Baker's home at Agnes City, not
/ linked him to events in Breckinridge but also to those in Morris
1ity. His close family ties to Council Grove seemed to make it in-
rable that he would eventually become involved in the economic
» of that city. And thus in January 1861, Baker became the
yrietor of the local newspaper and the only hotel in Council
e .

The first newspaper in Morris county, and the one of which Baker

became editor and proprietor, was the Council Grove Press. This

r was founded by Samuel N. Wood at Cottonwood Falls.]97 with the
5t issue dated May 30, 1859. Wood, shown in Figure XIIl, originally

2d the paper the Kansas Press.

In his last issue from Cottonwood Falls, Wood states, ''The next
ber of our paper will be issued at Council Grove, this will be

198

xpected by our readers and was by us three days ago." Not having
m for an explanation, Wood promised to inform his readers at a
er time.]99 On September 5, 1859, hg moved his paper to Council
ve. 200 wood's reasons for relocating were purely mercenary.
in the first issue of his paper printed at Council Grove, Wood

ntained that

from Cottonwood Falls we were receiving no support because
there was nothing there, COUNCIL GROVE on the other hand

]97Cottonwood Falls is located about thirty miles south of
ncil Grove, in Chase County.

]98Cottonwood Falls Kansas Press, August 29, 1859,

1991bi 4.

2OOCounci] Grove Kansas Cosmos, March 26, 1886.




FIGURE X1

Samuel N. Wood, editor and proprietor of

the Council Grove Press. Wood originally
established the paper at Cottonwood Falls,
Chase County, under the name of the Kansas

Press. In January, 1861, Baker purchased

the paper from Wood and published it until
the fall of that year. (Courtesy of Kansas
State Historical Society.)

89
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is a business place; doing a large (r) business than

any other town in Southern or Western Kansas.

The people here wanted a paper, offered us induce-

ments which we believe it our duty, as well as in-

terest to accept. And here we are at what is des-

tines to be one of the most important places in

Kansas.20]

The "inducements' which Wood found to be his ''duty to accept"
were spelled out in a later issue of the paper, when an agreement
between Wood and the Council Grove Town Company, was printed. This
agreement was a bonanza for Wood, in that if Wood would print his
newspaper in Council Grove for two years, the Town Company would
furnish him "'a room for his press free.”202 The Town Company also
furnished Wood with a lot on which he co;ld build his printing office,
a lot for his house and '‘one fifteenth of the town of Council Grove.'?203
In addition the Town Company agreed to purchase a total of two hundred
and fifty copies of Wood's paper, at a dollar a copy, with a guarantee
that he '"would not be taxed to pay any portion of the 250 papers above
mentioned.”zou
The printing of the agreement between Town Company and Wood was

evidently a mistake and a source of embarrassment to him. In the very
next issue of his paper, Wood claims that its publication was an accident

and that "It was a paper thrown away as useless, as no such agreement

exists between us and the Town Company.”205 This writer believes that

) 20l¢ouncil Grove Kansas Press, September 26, 1859. Emphasis
In original,

Ibid., October 17, 1859,
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as, in denying the agreement, trying to save face by making
tives seem more noble than they actually were, Wood was, at

me of the printing of the agreement, involved as a candidate for
rritorial legislature and this might have been a reason for his
g to save face.206
William E. Unrau, in his article on the merchants of Council
~stresses Wood's financial inducements from the town company

aims that Wood became the ''principal spokesman' for the business
st in the community.207 This writer, while agreeing that Wood
tedly moved to Council Grove for financial reasons, disagrees
Inrau that Wood was a spokesman for the business interests. |t
have been true that Wood was to have been the merchants' spokes-
yut in fact the very document that evidently '‘induced'" him to

o Council Grove, also put the paper ''under the entire control of
Jood,”208 and thus the merchants seemingly had no control over him.
Instead of promoting the merchgnts' interests and serving as
spokesman, Wood seemed to have lost favor with them. There might
een several reasons for this. One was the abrasive manner in

Wood treated nearly everyone in his paper. Shortly after re-

ing his paper in Council Grove, Wood became a candidate for the
torial legislature, running against one of the men responsible

e agreement which brought him there. This was Huffaker, Baker's
2r-in-law.

During this campaign Wood became a spokesman who promoted himself,

206¢ouncil Grove Kansas Cosmos, March 19, 1886.

207

Unrau, pp. 273-74.

208Counci] Grove Kansas Press, October 17, 1859,




- community. He began a series of editorial attacks on the

tic Party, his opponent, and anyone who supported his opponent.209

Huffaker's staunchest supporters was none other than Baker, and

emed to have taken a perverse delight in his attacks on him.Zlo

wpaign reached such bitterness that Wood finally conceeded that

destroyed his relationship with the community when he stated

e here, expecting aid in our enterprise, but when we found that

" received at all, must be received at the sacrifice of principle;

idiated it, and must depend upon the liberality of the people of

inty, to sustain us, if we continue our papér here.”zl]

From the election of 1859 on, the feasibility of Wood's ability

tinue his newspéper diminished. Just as the chances for the

s of the paper declined, so had Wood's relationship with the com-
Within a year following the election, the local bhusiness com-

began to discontinue patronage of the paper. On October 28,

the community's leading merchant, Seth Hays, withdrew all sup-

12 and the paper soon began to show a noticeable lack of local

isements. Wood responded with an extremely bitter and perverse

ial, extolling the virtues of the free press and attacking the

business community, Hays in particular.

Hays & Co., own more property here than any other
two men; but Hays feels jealous of new comers. He

——

2031hid., October 31, 1859 and November 7, 1859.

Ibid., November 28, 1859 and December 5, 1859. Wood won the
on by a forty-five vote margin over Huffaker. For a dis-

n of the election of 1859 and Baker's role in that election,
apter V.

Ibid., November 28, 1859,

2]2C0uncil Grove Press, November 10, 1860,



has monopolized the trade here so long, that he
cannot bear the idea of sharing it with others;
In hls own language ''people are getting too thick
here for him.!"" Hays seeks to kill our paper by
withholding his support. This is all right, we
hope next spring to see a different class of mer-
chants here altogether; men who will sell for
reasonable profits, men who will not sacrifice
thelr own interest to vent a little spite on a
political opponent. I|f this cannot be done, let
the paper die, let our place sink into insigni-
fance (sic). Let Emporia, upon our South-East,
and Junction City on our North, become the rival
towns for the trade of the West. {f Mr, Hays can
stand it we can; so crack away. Better so than |
that we be the slave of any man, or set of men .2 3

Durihg that same year vandals pursued what seemed to be a con-

-ated and deliberate plan of harassment against Wood. On October

859, '"'some person set fire to three Ricks of Hay which we (Wood)

n the Cottonwood, containing over fifty tons, which was a total

w2 th

ce.

Just eleven days later, ''some one entered our (Wood's) re-

and stole our only pair of pants, which we happened to

off, whilst we were taking a short sleep.”z‘5 An attempt was

made to set fire to Wood's home, 'but it failed to burn."

216

solution, according to Wood, was to form ""A Vigilance Committee

anging of every man who has not an honest countenance, or any

>le means of support, may correct the evil, nothing else will.”2I7

Evidently the recommendation was never taken, as in April 1860,

's home was destroyed by fire. Wood claimed arson and offered

500

——

reward for information that will lead to the detection and

213141 4.

214

Council Grove Kansas Press, November 7, 1859.

21511 4.

21611 4.

217114,



of the person or persons; (gj¢) who committed the act.”2]8

writer has found no evidence concerning where Woocd could ob-
oney to pay either that reward or the twenty-five dollar

219

ered for information concerning his stolen pants. Even
d claimed to have a weekly circulation of over one thousand
i; was evident that the local business boycott of his paper
ying his profit. By May 1860, Wood began to appeal for pay-
bts by writing, '"This is designed as personal to all indebted
fice, and hope you cannot eat, sleep or rest, until you pay
r.”22]
- claimed that over two thousand dollars In debts were due to
ust 1860 and openly admitted ''Our paper has not been a paying
ut has been a continual drain upon our resources during the
By November, Wood had ''resolved to a strictly cash business
w223 yood was becoming so hard up for community support that
ling to take local "orders at seventy five (sic) cents on the

i

At one point Wood became so desperate for support that he

bid., April 16, 1860.

ouncil Grove Kansas Press, November 7, 1859,

ouncil Grove Press, July 30, 1860. Wood's circulation

doubted by this writer as the Census of 1860 listed the
ws circulation at nine hundred and fifty and the Amer-

nel at Six hundred and fifty. No record was given

ess, but Baker, when he was editor only claimed a cir-

f five hundred.

bid., May 14, 1860.

.

bi

o

, August 6, 1860.

o
a

., November 10, 1860.
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d with his subscribers:

Don't somebody want to subscribe for our paper or

pay his subscription. We are out of money, and out

of patience, and had to borrow $1.50 to hire a stray

printer to work the press, in order to send you this

paper - - we want enough money to refund the 51.50225
It soon became apparent that Wood would either be forced to close
per or sell out to someone more freindly to local business in-
. According to Andreas, Wood, in 1861, sold his paper to Baker,
ng that his reason was that he was going to the army.226 This

has found evidence, however, that Wood had sold his paper prior

s and that Baker actually purchased the paper from a third party.
riter further maintains that the paper was sold by Wood for ec-
- rather than patriotic reasons, as stated previously.

fn January 1860, Wood had withdrawn as publisher of the Press, yet

ed as editor. The Emporia News reported that the new publisher

rank E. Smith, a printer who formerly worked in the office, and
Ifellow.“227 The News wished Smith success, '"but his predecessor

an unfavorable result when he states that the receipts of the office
it five dollars a week and the expenditures thirty.“228 Finally
ember, the News printed that Smith bought out Wood and ''The paper
yrobably be discontinued. Mr. Wood has not received a very hearty

't at hands of Morris county, according to his figures.“229

Baker evidently then purchased the paper from Smith in early 1861,

s probate record shows five, one-hundred-dollar notes outstanding

2251bid., June 11, 1860

226Andreas, p. 80k,

227Emporia News, January 21, 1860.
228114

229lbid., December 8, 1860.



96

E. Smith, all dated January &, 1861.23%  This writer submits that
notes were Jlet in payment for the purchase of the paper. Shortly
wing the letting of these notes, the News announced that ''The

il Grove Press, has been purchased by our friend A. |. Baker, who

hereafter run that 'masbeen' (sic) as editor and proprietor."

The earliest exis£ing issue of the Press with Baker as editor and
ietor, a photocopy of which is shown in Figure Xlll, was Volume
number ten, dated February 16, 1861. The last extant issue with
as editor was number six of the second volume, dated November 10,
and thus according to existing records there are three issues of
aper missing. These missing issues were probably published by

, as the Emporia News announced on February 2, 1861 that 'We have

ved the first number of the Council Grove Press, issued under the

e of A. I|. Baker.“232 If that first Baker issue was published the
prior, as it undoubtedly was, then the three missing issues can be
y identified as Baker's.

Unrau's conclusion that Wood was the spokesman of the local business
nity was thus wrong. On the contrary Wood was driven from the paper
erhaps the community because he failed to assume this role. As ev-
e and proof of this conclusion, Unrau used several quotes from the

, which promoted the business community.233 These quotes were at-

230iNotes of Debt of A, I. Baker,' Baker Estate File.

23]Emporia News, January 12, 1861. The editor of the News was
antly critical of Wood and typographical errors found in his
" This was probably the reason for the deliberate misspelling
e word '‘hasbeen."

232

Ibid., February 2, 1861.

233unrau, pp. 276-78.
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The Council Grove Press, February 16, 1861. This is the
earliest existing issue of the Press with Baker as its
editor and publisher. Baker's business card, with R. M,
Ruggles as his partner, is the first one in the left-

hand column. Baker published the.Press until the fall

of 1861. (Courtesy of the Kansas State Historical Society.)




ributed by Unrau to Wood. This conclusion was a historical error on
"rau's part, as these so-called Wood quotes were made in 1861 and thus
ere made by Baker, not Wood.23l+
It was Baker who served as the spokesman of the business community.
t should be noted that the alleged debts for the purchase of the Press
ere countersigned by Huffaker, one of the leaders of the community.235
urther evidence of the business community's support was that shortly
ollowing his aquisl;ion of the paper, Baker printed a special thanks
o Huf faker, Hays, Nathan Dix, J.-F. Dodds, James Phinney and G. M.
imcock, all local businessmen, “Fér a large number of subscribers to the
53353“236 When Baker aquired the paper, there was also a noticable

ncrease in the amount of local advertisement.237

The Emporia News described the editorial position of Baker's

aper as '*!

238

nary politic' for the present, but goes in strong for the

nion." Later, the News noted that '"The Council Grove Press has

mproved very much under the management of Judge Baker, both editor-

ally and typographically.”239

Baker's tenure as an editor, however, was short-lived. The last

23hyy s possible that Unrau merely overlooked Baker in his Council
rove study. The fact that Wood returned to Council Grove in 1863 and
ecame once again the publisher of the Press, might have caused Unrau
0 assume that he was its one and only publisher and editor,

2351Notes of Debt of A. I, Baker,'' Baker Estate File.
236

Council Grove Press, February 16, 1861,

2371bid., February 16, 1861 to July 20, 1861.

238Egporia News, February 2, 1861. For a discussion of Baker's
olitical career and position concerning slavery, the South and the
ivil War, see Chapter V.

2391bid., February 23, 1861,



existing issue of his paper was dated July 20, 1861, but he undoubtedly
published some issues beyond that date. The News in August of that year,

stated that '""The Council Grove Press has just announced that It will

u2ho

suspend for two months, Later in October the News noted that ''The

n2 bl

Council Grove Press has come to life again. This was the last

reference found to Baker's paper, and it was probable that with either
that issue or shortly after the paper folded.
The reason for discontinuing the Press by Baker was uncertain.

The Burlington Register maintained that the Press was closing, as well

as numerous other papers, due to economic hard times.iﬁ‘2 The News pur-
ported that the Press was in economic difficulty when Baker resumed
publication in October. Stotler, the News'’ editor, and a proponent

of Lawrence as the State capital, claimed,

It is supposed that Topeka has breathed into its (Press)
nostrils the breath of life, as it advocates the claims

of that village for State Caplital, even with as much
eloquence and earnestness as it did those of Lawrence

the week before it died, last summer. Time or something
else has wrought a change in Baker's opinion -- especially
something else.243

The News hinted in its next edition that perhaps ''something else'
was a financial inducement by Topeka interests, who

succeeded pretty well in getting the services of the
newspapers in advocating her claims for the Capital.
Besides some of the respectible papers of the State,
all the dingy looking ones are 'pitching in' for
her, and many that were dead revived for that

2!’Olbid., August 17, 1861. This was a quote from the Burlington

Register, n.d.

2Mlbid., October 26, 1861,

2l'zlbid., August 17, 1861. This was a quote from the Burlington
Register, n.d.

283 1bid., October 26, 1861.
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244

purpose.

Maloy states that Baker's business difficulties were compounded

the unexpected death of his wif"e.zu5 Susan Baker died on March 8,
)1, ''at their residence in Council Grove. . . . of pulmonary affec-

n, in the 34th year of her age. Maloy asserts that the death

> weighed upon his (Baker's) mind as to disqualify him for business.“zl‘7
fortunately Baker's immediate response to his wife's death is unknown,
the issue of his paper for that week is missing from existing files.
Baker's economic difficulty might have been a detisive factor in
> demise of his paper, as the notes of credit which he used to purchase
> paper from Smith were still unpaid at the time of his death in July

248

52, even though they were due in January of that year. Baker per-

s had some hopes of again publishing the paper, as he retained his
2ss and fixtures. In October 1862, Baker's administrator, Huffaker,

n2 k49

id five dollars ''for removing printing press from hotel. By April
the following year, Huffaker had sold the printing press and fixtures
r two hundred and eighty doHars.250 These items were probably sold
Wood, as he returned to Council Grove that year and once again pub-

251

shed a newspaper.

2M‘lbid., November 2, 1861.

2I‘S(Iouncil Grove Kansas Cosmos, May 7, 1886.

21'6Emporia News, March 16, 1861,

247 council Grove Kansas Cosmos, May 7, 1886.

2h8”Notes of Debt of A, |. Baker,' Baker Estate File,
2491cash paid for the Estate of A. I. Baker," Baker Estate File.
2501711 of Sale of property belonging to the estates of Arthur |.

ker, deceased,'' Baker Estate File.

251

Andreas, p. B0L.



Shortly after Baker purchased the Council Grove Press, he expanded

is business activities by becoming the proprietor of the Gilkey House,

v252  Charles A. Gilkey

one of the best Hotel(s) in Southwestern Kansas.
ad been the hosteler at the Hays' House, but in the fall of 1859 he

egan construction of his own establishment.253 This building, thought

o be later used by Shamleffer and James as their store, is shown in
igure XIV. Gilkey, who was noted '"'to be a courteous, liberal-hearted

1d agreeable gentleman to the full extent. . . 1254 planned a grand
vening of ''"his magnificant hotel . . . with a grand supper and ball."255
his affair was scheduled for December 26, 1859 and was promised to be

1256

the most brillant fete of the Holiday season. There is no record,
owever, that the event was ever held.

Gilkey ran his new hotel until the middle of March 1860, when he
aught the gold fever and left for Pike's Peak.297 He was evidently
s successful in the mining fields as he was as a hosteler in Council
rove. The News claimed that, by July, Gilkey had made over five
258

housand dollars in Colorado.

Upon Gilkey's venture to the gold fields, Wood evidently pur-

hased the hotel. In November 1860, an announcement was placed in the
ews that there would be '"'A Presidential Ball . . . . in honor of
252

Council Grove Kansas Press, December 5, 1859,

2531bid., October 10, 1859.

25l’Emporia News, December 17, 18569,

255\bid., December 10, 1859.

257\bid., March 17, 1860.

258 hi4., July 14, 1860.
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The Texas, a store owned by Shamleffer and
James in Council Grove. This picture was pos-
sibly taken in 1865. The store building is
thought to be fhe former Gilkey House and Union
Hotel in 1861. (Courtesy of Kansas State His-
torical Society.)
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yam Linco\n.“zs9 The advertisement was signed 'S, N, Wood --

rietor'' and he showed his hospitallty by charging admission of

dollars and fifty cents a person.260

Advertisements in the Press in February 1861 also showed that

was the proprietor of the hotel and that he had changed the name

i
e Council Grove Hotel.26] Baker noted that Wood held a party that

W which ''was the best of the season.“262‘

By mid-March 1861, the hotel again changed names and proprietors.,
arch 16, a new advertisement appeared in the Press for the former

ey House. This advertisement, shown in Figure XV, was for the

263

y renamed '"Union Holtel (sic)' and its proprietor was Baker.
This writer has found very few references to the Union Hotel or to

r as a hosteler. The Press noted that Baker added to the hotel a

¢ 126k

on, which was ''kept by John |. Delashmut Baker claimed that

saloon was ''always furnished with the very best of liquors, lager

, osyters, cigars, tobacco and every other luxary. Besides pleasant

ements furnished gratis.”265

An Independence Day ball was given by Baker in 1861, Tickets
266

sold for either two dollars and fifty cents per couple or one

259\bid., November 17, 1860.

Ibid.

26]Counci\ Grove Press, February 16, 1861 and February 23, 1861.

26214, February 23, 1861.

263,14, March 16, 1861 to July 20, 1861,
2641 4

e

., March 16, 1861.

2651,

Q.

2661514, , June 1, 1861.



FIGURE XV

UNION HOLTIEI.
[FORMERLY THE GILKEY HOUSE,]
A L Bage,---e-cc--cono-o Preprietor,
Council Grove, K. T.

AVING becomo tho proprietor of this well
known louse, I take this method of inform-
ing the traveling Eub)ic that 1 shall spare no
pains to miako thia housec a fuvorite resort for the
truveling public. -

OUR TABLE

Will a’wava be furnished with the best the market
atfords. The houseis large and commodious, and
separute rooms are always furnished gueats.

OUR STABLES

Hava becn completely repaired ; each furnished:
with a good lock and key,a dog and night watch;
whilst stock cun have plenty to eat,they will thus
be secure*fromSthicves. - ,

=2 A {cw boarders will be taken on reasonasble
terms. g

Baker's ad for the Union Hotel in the Council
Grove Press. This ad appeared from March lg,
1861 to July 20, 1861. Baker closed the hotel
at the same time that his paper folded in the
fall of 1861. (Courtesy of Kansas State His-
torical Society.)
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ar and fifty cents per coup]e.267 Although the admission price
unclear in newspaper advertisements, Baker was clear that he ''ex-

ed (guests) to take care of their own horses, or be charged extra

||268

(

Maloy states that Baker and Sewell were partners in the hotel

aken care of and fed at .the stable.

||269

h was ''the only hotel of . . .(that) time, in Council Grove.
as possible, however, that Baker, while serving as proprietor of
Union Hotel, never directly involved himself in the daily operation
t. As mentioned previously, the saloon was managed by De]ashmutt,27O
the News mentions a Josh Smith in reference to affairs which occur-
at the hotel.27l

Although no evidence has been found by this writer concerning
tly when Baker relinquished his interest in the hotel, the assump-

is that Baker closed the hotel at the same time that his newspaper
ed. Maloy states, ''During the latter part of the year (1861) the
| was unoccupied.272 When Baker closed the paper in November, he
Council Grove and never returned as a businessman.273
Baker's career as a hosteler and his career as a publisher ended

ltaneously and for the same reasons. Maloy maintains that '"Business

so paralyzed by the breaking out of the war, as well as by disturbing

2671bid., June 22, 1861,
2681 4

269Council Grove Kansas Cosmos, April 30, 1886.
270

271

Council Grove Press, March 16, 1861.

Emporia News, June 7, 1862,

272Council Grove Kansas Cosmos, April 30, 1886.

2 . . .
73For a discussion of Baker's activities following his departure
' Council Grove, see Chapter VI,
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es of a local character, that no one would risk keeping a hotel,

' with rent free.“27h Thus Baker's short-lived business ventures
ouncil Grove came to a close(/ The demise of these activities was
tened by the economic hard times of the day and the personal tragedy
the death of his wife.

Webster defines a pioneer as ''one who goes before into that which
inknown or untried, to prepare the way for others."275 As a fron-
rsman, Baker readily fits into this definition. For Baker's whole
omic existence was one of promotion and development of an unknown

untried new land. His various pursuits provide for the historian
oncise overview of some of the many facets of frontier activity.

To those of us who live in an age of specialization, Baker's seem-
ly easy and casual transition from one occupation to another might
first seem incomprehensible., But as a pioneer in territorial Kansas,
er in all of his various roles was amazingly constant as a promoter
settlement and growth of the upper Neosho valley. His occupational

satility was merely a means of achieving this end.

274

Council Grove Kansas Cosmos, April 30, 1886.

275\ebster's New Twentieth Century Dictionary, Unabridged Second
tion (Cleveland: The World Publishing Company, 1970), p. 1366




CHAPTER V

e

""THE NAPOLEON OF BRECKINRIDGE COUNTY'

The year 1854 was, to a great extent, a political watershed in
can history. This watershed was centered around the passage and
ng of the Kansas-Nebraska Act on May 30 of that year. The major
, concerning the creation of these territories, according to Paul

in his study of Kansas land policy, could be summarized as ''the
ry question.'

Although the question of the extension of slavery into territories
een in the forefront of American politics since before the Missouri
omise of 1820, it was the creation of the Kansas territory which
d the political bruises of previous years into ulcerated wounds,

g a prelude to the American Civil War.

Under the Kansas-Nebraska Act, the question of whether the dual
tories would be admitted as ''free'' or ''slave' states would be
dent upon a provision called ''popular sovereignty.'" This, in
ce, meant that it would be the settlers in the territories them-

s, not Congress nor any other source, who would decide the slavery
ifon. This provision opened up the possibility that the territories
| be slave, which had been impossible under the Missouri Compromise.z

es Robinson, a contemporary of Baker's, declared, ''The field of

]Paul Wallace Gates, Fifty Million Acres: Conflicts Over Kansas
Policy, 1854-1890 (New York: Atherton Press, 1966), p. 4.

2William 0. Lynch, '"Popular Sovereignty and the Colonization
nsas From 1854 to 1860," Proceedings of the Mississippi Valley
rical Association, 1915-1918 (Cedar Rapids: The Torch Press,
» 1X, pp. 380-392-




tle was thus removed from the halls of Congress to the plains of
sas .3

Robinson's ''field of battle' lasted for the entire seven-year
jod that Kansas existed as a territory. Historlans haQe traditionally
ced with the editor of the Kanzas News, when he declared in 1857 that

battle was beina fought by only two polarized groups. In that year,
tor Preston B. Plumb claimed, ''"There are but two Parties in Kanzas:

e State and Pro-Slavery.”b Plumb, as Robinson, apparently left no

m for anyone to take a position outside of those two parties.

It is the purpose of this chapter to look beyond such simplistic
erpretations. To many of the early settlers in Kansas, allegiance
one of the parties was not a clear-cut decision. Kansas territorial
itical history was not only violent, it was paradoxical. The political
Ivity and views of Arthur Baker, taken as a microcosm, are illustra-

e of the variable temper of the times.

Prior to any portrayal of Baker's political life, it would first
advantageous to develop a working definition of the views of these
parties. According to John C. Van Gundy, an early Lyon County set-
r, the ''distinction in party names in use then (1854-1861). . . are

made now.“S Proslavery people consfdered themselves defenders of

6

e law and constitution.'"” They insisted, recalled Van Gundy, that
Ir party's name ''meant not only the lawful right of African slavery

all states where it then existed but also the right of extending it

3Char]es Robinson, The Kansas Conflict (New York: n.p.
2), p. 6.

’

“Emporia Kanzas News, November 28, 1857.

5John €. Van Gundy, Reminiscences of Frontier Life on the Upper Neosho
1855 and 1856 (Topeka: College Press, 1925), p. 15.

6

lbid., p. 18.
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 other territory.“7

Van Gundy observed that followers of the Free State party likewise
idered themselves to be defenders of the constituiton. They believed
the institution of slavery had the legal right to exist where it
ady was established: as it was ''‘protected by the law (and) consti-

n8

on The difference between these people and those who were pro-
ery was that free-staters ''were opposed to any other further exten-
 of slavery.”9

Van Gundy further claimed that the Free State party has been con-
d with ''the upholders of abolitionism.“]0 Although the abolition-
might have agreed that slavery was lawful, he felt in no way obli-
d to abide with that law. |In fact the abolitionist was bent on
/ing the constitution and ''believed it the duty of the free states to
olve their union from the slave-holding states.“‘] Van Gundy summed
he difference between the two groups with an extremely astute ob-
jation. "All abolitionists then were freestate men but all freestate
were not abolitionists.”]2

The difference among these three, as opposed to two groups, should
ept in mind for any consideration of territorial politics. It should

remembered that meanings of terms and events change with time, as

| as with people.




U3y

0f all the slave states, it was Missouri that was most interested
n gaining control of Kansas. As a potential slave terrlitory, Kansas
as important to Missouri for two reasons. First, Missouri was a slave-
olding peninsula, bordered on the East and North by free states of
11inois and lowa. |If Kansas became free, then leaders in Missouri
elleved that their future as a slave state would be doomed.]3 The
econd resson concerned the importance of the Santa Fe Trail, and thus
he Kansas position as the gateway to the Southwest. According to
ames Malin, if Kansas were a slave territory then the entire Southwest
erritory ''could be saved to slavery.“]h

Within such a milieu, Baker was found to be a political chameleon.
aker's political loyalties and proclivities were constantly changing.
here is no evidence concerning Baker's politics during his service with
he Sac and Fox Indian Reservation}S-His interest in politics seems to
oincide with his removal to Rock Creek, which incldentally coincides

16

ith the passage of the Kansas-Nebraska Act. Undoubtedly the envir-

nment in which Baker found himself prior to 1854, was not conducive

0 political activity. But, as noted, with the passage of the Kansas-

ebraska Act, Baker's environment and interests soon drastically changed.
Withlthe creation and implementation of territorial government in

ansas, Baker became directly involved in its political life. Upon taking

?

I3Perley Orman Ray, The Repeal of the Missouri Compromise (Cleve-
and: n.p., 1909), p. 136.

14

James C. Malin, 'The Proslavery Background of the Kansas Struggle,'
lississippi Valley Historical Review (Cedar Rapids: The Torch Press, 1923),
, 3, p. 289.

15

Lynch, p. 380.

16For information concerning the relocation of Baker, refer to
hapter |11,



‘fice, the new territorial governor, Andrew H. Reeder, called for an

17

lection to determine a Congressional delegate. In the Eighth Elec-

ion District, Reeder selected as the place of election, ''the house of

118

A\rthur) Ingraham (sic) Baker, on the Santa Fe road. Along with

sker, Reeder commissioned Thomas Huffaker (Baker's brother-in-law) and
arles Withington (Baker's close friend) as election judges.‘9

Baker's prominence in the Eighth District can be seen by the fact
hat on January 13, 1855, Governor Reeder commissioned him as its Justice
f the Peace.20 With no other territorial local government established
s yet, this commission designated Baker as the chief governmental of-
icial in a district that was bordered by the Kansas River on the North,
e Cottonwood River on the South, the Osage River on the East, and ex-
ending to the western boundary of the territory.Z]

Following a Territorial Census taken in February 1855, Governor
ceder ordered an election on March 30 to select a territorial legis-
ature. The Eighth District election polls were at this time established
at the Council Grove Mission House,' with Baker and his two brothers-in-
22

aw, Emanuel Mosier and T. S. Huffaker, serving as election judges.

The Election of 1855 has been considered one of the most contro-

17 iExecutive Minutes Recorded In the Governor's 0ffice During
he Administration of Governor Andrew H. Reeder,' Kansas Historical
ollection, 1881-1884 (Topeka: Kansas State Printer, 188L), IIT,

. 232,

Ibid., p. 233
9ipid
20014, , p. 203,

21
A. T. Andreas, History of Kansas (Chicago: A. T. Andreas,

883), |, p. 88.

2“Executive Minutes," p. 255,
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-sial in Kansas history. As a result of this election Missouri
ned control of the territorial legislature in Kansas and the years
armed conflict between Free State and Proslavery forces began.23
;souri had gained control by invading Kansas Territory on election
v with nearly five thousand fraudulent voters. These illegal voters
cured the election of Proslavery legislative candidates who were
ther citizens of Missouri or directly sympathetic to its goals.

Baker's paradoxical political proclivities began with this elec~
on, when he ran as a candidate for representative in the Territorial
gislature. State and local histories list candidates in this elec-
on as of either the Free State or Proslavery party.

To which party Baker aligned himself at this time is unclear. The
ate and Jlocal histories listing candidates place Baker in the Free
ate party.z6 Baker is also listed as a Free State candidate in the
port of a congressional investigation of this election and related
cidents in Kansas.

It is this researcher's conclusion, however, that at this parti-
lar time Baker was not a member of the Free State party, but was in

tuality either a member of the Proslavery party or at least leaned in

23Mary J. Klem, "Missouri |n the Kansas Struggle,'" Proceedings
the Mississippi Valley Historical Association, 1915-1918 (Cedar
pids: The Torch Press, 1921), IX, p. L03.

24

(bid., p. L00.

25Daniel W. Wilder, The Annals of Kansas (Topeka: Geo. W. Mar-
n, Kansas Publishing House, 1875), pp. 60-61; and Jacob Stotler,
nals of Emporia and Lyon County (Emporia: n.p., n.c.), p. 11.

26 41 4.

27Rgport of the Special Committee Appointed to Investigate the
oubles in Kansas, Report No. 200 (Washington: Cornelius Wendell,
inter, 1856), p. 32
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nat direction. Given Baker's background and past association, it
.ems Improbable that he would have been a Free State party member in
855. A

L. D. Bailey, a contemporary and friend of Baker's claimed that
nen Baker moved to Rock Creek, he ''was somewhat inclined to the pro-

128

lavery party. John Maloy, iIn his History of Morris County, claimed

nat at this time, concerning the area in and adjacent to the county,

nearly the entire population was pro-s!avery."29
In a later chapter of his history, Maloy claimed that ''Baker was

he Free State candidate for representative in the first Legislature.“30

aloy further states that ''He was bold and outspoken upon this question

hen it was dangerous to utter such sentiments in some portions of Kan-

as. He was true to his party through all the early troubles in Kansas.”3]
Bailey, however, states that at this time, Baker ''owned one or

wO slaves.”32

This claim is verified by the 1855 Census which lists a
harlott Baker, age thirty, and two minors, Narcissa and Alexander Baker,
11 as slaves in Baker's household. 33

It should be remembered that it was the antislavery party which

eturned from the Civil War and cast themselves in the role of victors.

t was these same people who wrote the territorial histories and in so

28
L. D. Bailey, "Along the Santa Fe Trail,'" Early Days in Kansas

Olathe: Charles R. Green, 1912), p. A45.

29Council Grove Kansas Cosmos, March 12, 1886.

3

Olbid., May 7, 1886.

3llbid.

32Bai]ey, p. 45.

Btensus of 1855, Territory of Kansas,




ng put their cause in the best possible light. Such was the case
the 1855 election when they presented their writings as proof that
ir side was truly in the majority and thus in the right.3h

Maloy's statement that Baker was a Free State candldate was
tten as part of a chapter defending Baker as a Northern Civil War
tyr. This writer maintains that Maloy's defense of Baker and his
lication of that defense to the 1855 election is in fact an ana-
onism. As shall be seen, Baker's loyalty to the Free State party
e at a later time and was in fact not as ''true'' as Maloy would lead
to believe.

When one studies the congressional report closely, one discovers
t the investigators listed only the pro-Missouri candidates as Pro-
very and arbitrarily listed all other candidates as Free State. This
- done regardless of the fact that much of the committee's collected
timony claimed that many candidates listed as free State actually
ed slaves or favored s\avery.35

In testimony concerning the candidacy of Baker, James R. Stewart
ited that Baker ''was a pro-slavery man, as was Mr. W. M, McGee,”36
 Missouri candidate, officially listed in the report as Proslavery,
wart added that Baker had nominated himself for the office.37 This
;tention was contradicted by Maloy when he stated that Baker ''was the
\didate nominated by the people for this district, and Mobillon McGee,

itizen of Missouri was the candidate of the Missourians or 'Border

3Malin, p. 285.

35Kansas Troubtes, passim.

36b1d., p. 251.

Ibid.
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Maloy's statement was perhaps the crux of the contradictory pro-

f party labels. This writer suggests that, concerning the election
5, the central issue was not free or slave in the traditional his-
1 sense. For citizens, such as Baker, the issue was whether the
ory would be controlled and thus governed by the local people of
or indirectly by the border people of Missouri. Freestate, in
lection, had little to do with freedom from slavery and much to

h freedom from control by Missouri.

Baker was a legislative candidate in the Fifth Representative Dis-

which was comprised of the Seventh and Eighth Election Districts.39

- basis of the returns of the Eighth district, where Baker received

~-five votes to McGee's twelve, Governor Reeder declared Baker e]ected.ho
Maloy claimed that ''Baker was elected, and received from the Gover-

e certificate of election, but McGee contested the election, and

use being largely composed of his friends, of course Baker was

ndil

ated, but McGee was. in reality, Baker seems to have been
| his seat on the grounds that the returns of the Seventh Elec-
district, returns there showed that Baker was outpolled by McGee
ote of two hundred and ten to one. Thus the House disavowed

L2

s certificate of election and seated McGee.

38

Council Grove Kansas Cosmos, March 5, 1886.

39”Executive Minutes," p. 259.

40 pid., p. 272.
4

Council Grove Kansas Cosmos, March 5, 1886.

hz”Executive Papers of Governor Reeder's Administration,' Col-
ons of the Kansas State Historical Society, 1889-1892 (Topeka:
, State Printer, 1892) V, p. 188,
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'hroughout much of the territory, this original legislature,
et first at Shawnee Mission and later at Lecompton, was not
.d. Kansans resented its control by the Missourians and its
.nts became known as ''bogus laws."~L'3 In opposition to this
legislature,'" a rival government was created which wrote its
ystitution, conducted its own elections and enacted its own
This rebel government has become known in history as the
a Movcnent.“hh
Baker's sympathy with the Proslavery party, however, continued
ing the Election of 1855. One of the first functions of the
"' Legislature was to establish the boundaries of counties and
county officials.L‘5 Wise and Breckinridge counties were at-
to the now—defunct Madison County, with Columbia established
seat of government.“6 Baker's brother-in-law, Huffaker, was
by the legislature to head the county government as Probate
At the same time, Baker's close friend, Withington, was se-
| as one of the two county commIssioners.L'7

On October 6, 1856, Baker was once more a candidate for the

orial Ic:gis,lature.h8 Maloy contradicts his previous claim that

h3Wil]iam Frank Zornow, Kansas: A History of the Jayhawk State
in: University of Oklahoma Press, 1971), pp. 70-71.

M‘“The Topeka Movement,'' Collections, 1913-1914 (Topeka: Kansas
Printing Plant, 1915), XI1i, p. 125.

bsThe Statutes of the Territory of Kansas (Shawnee M. L. School:
. Brady, Public Printer, 1855), Ch., 3L, Secs. 1-3.

Ibid.

u7Journa] of the Council of the Territory of Kansas (Shawnee M. L.
: John T. Brady, Public Printer, 1855), p. 225.

Y8 i1der, p. 110.



ker was a member of the Free State party by labeling him as one of

b ,
o Proslavery candidates from Madison county. ’ Once again Baker was
feated in his quest for the legislature, this time losing to the can-

20 Al though, as a result of this elec-

dates of the Free State party.
on, the Free State party gained strength in the lower house of the
gislature, the Proslavery party retained their control of the Council
- upper house.5]
Bailey claimed that Baker '‘soon became convinced that Kansas
uld not be a good place for that kind of property (slaves), and got
d of them"'52 Perhaps the results of the 1856 territorial election,
th Madison county going overwhelmingly in favor of the Free State
rty, persuaded Baker to dispose of his slaves.?3 Since Baker was
coming more and more involved in local politicél affairs, a change
- political allegiance would prove beneficial to him.
A second possible incentive for Baker's political conversion was
e increasing violence of 1856. By that year political conditions had
teriorated to such an extent that the territory was called 'Bleeding

msas.”5q Atrocities were being committed by both Free State and Pro-

avery forces. On September 14, 1856, these atrocities reached Breck-

49council Grove Kansas Cosmos, March 13, 1886.

O0yitder.

>lcouncil Grove Kansas Cosmos, March 12, 1886.

52

Bailey, p. 45,

53There are no records concerning when Baker disposed of
s slaves. The Census of 1860 lists no one by those names in
nsas. The Census of 1859 lists no slaves living in Breckin-
dge county.

ShThe best account of the problems of 1856 is Alice Nichols,
eeding Kansas (New York: Doubleday, 1954).
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idge county in the form of a raid on Neosho Rapids, a proslavery
tlement, which resulted in the death of Mrs. Sarah Carver.”?
The raiders were Free State ymen, supposedly attached to the for-
of either James Lane or John Erown, who were bent on terrorizing
‘settlement.ss According to Yam Gundy, who was a brother to the
in woman, the raiders claimed that they were intent ''that every
slavery man must leave this ccumtry or else we will come back,
| hang the last d--d (sic) one of them,"57
Flora Rosenquist Godsey, in her account of the raid, claimed
t the following morning the raiders ''left one of their number who
. sick at (Oliver) Phillips' hcuse, and later A. |. Baker, a free-
yte man from Council Grove, came and took him away.”58
Godsey's label of Baker being a ''free-state man'' at the time of
 raid was premature, as it must be remembered that the following
ith Baker was a Proslavery legislative candidate. Further supportive

idence that Baker was inclined toward the Proslavery party in 1856,

" be seen by his activities as a correspondent for the Kansas Weekly

rald.59 The Herald was not only Kansas' first newspaper, it was

evoted to the establishment of s1avery."60
55Van Gundy, p. 5.
56”Letter of John C. Van Gundy to William E. Connelley,' Collec-

s, 1926-1928 (Topeka: Kansas S:ate Printing Plant, 1928), XVil, p. 597.
57

Ibid.

58Flora Rosenquist Godsey, The Early Settlement and Raid on
¢ Upper Neosho,' Collections, 1223-1925 (Topeka: Kansas State Printing
ane, ]925): p. Le1.

9
Lletter to the Editor from A. Baker (sic). Leavenworth
1

J.
ft3s Weekly Herald, January 10, 1357,

) 60Noble L. Prentis, Kansas Mizcellanies (Topeka: Kansas
Slishing House, 1889), p. 80. '




There can be no doubt, however, that Baker was familiar with the
aid. Van Gundy claimed that Baker had circulated an early story con-
erning the raid. Van Gundy noted that, ''Baker pointed out that this
and of robbers were nothing more than a predatory gang of invaders
‘'or whom no commonwealth was responsible. That they would rob and
;teal from one party the same as the other.“6]

Perhaps it wag this raid that Bailey was referring to when he
stated that Baker ‘'soon became convinced that Kansas would not be a
wod place for . . .(slaves), and got rid of them.”62 For whatever
reason, it soon became apparent to Baker that the territory was
rapidly becoming free state and if he wished to enhance his political
career, a convefsion would be necessary.

Baker's political transition probably occurred sometime in 1857.
In February of that year, the Territorial Legislature reorganized sev-
eral of the counties and Breckinridge was given its own government.
Wise county was attached to Breckinridge ''for all civil and military
purposes.”63 Baker was selected by the legislature as the first pro-

64

bate judge and ex-officio head of the Breckinridge county government.

65

Baker's home at Agnes City was made the first county seat. Bailey

asserts that Baker received these honors from his friends in the Pro-

6litetter of John C. Van Gundy,'" p. 595.
62Bai]ey, 45,

63Laws of the Territory of Kansas (Lecompton: R. H. Bennet ,
Public Printer, 1857), p. 90.

hJournal of the Council of the Territory of Kansas (Lecompton:
R. H. Bennett, Public Printer, 1857), p. 254.

65

Laws of the Territory of Kansas, 1857,
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avery party.66 Bailey's information seems reliable in that the

67

57 legislature was dominated by the Proslavery party, ' and Baker's

68

mination was made by H. J. Strickler, a Proslavery member of the

>uncil.69
Aside from this original appointment, however, any further advance-
nt of Baker's political career would have to be in concurrence with the
11 of the local people, not that of a Proslavery legislature. Since
e county was becoming more in favor of a free-state position,.it would
em logical that Baker's ambition would lead him in that direction.
It might be surmised that such a rapid reversal of political
aning would be highly unlikely. Nonetheless, if Van Gundy's defi-
tions are accepted as correct, then the difference between the ab-
litionist and free-state position, with respect to the very basic
rea of law and order, are greater than those between free-state and
roslavery.70 According to Van Gundy, it would have been relatively
asy for a person to move from a proslavery position to that of free
tate, or vice-versa. Van Gundy claims that his own father, David
an Gundy, came to Kansas as a free stater, but because he was ''strong-
y against abolitionism . . . .{and) was a stickler for the law and
onstitution of his country. . . finally talked himself onto the pro-

lavery side.”7]

66Bailey, p. 45.

6770rn0w, p. 75.
68

Journal of the Council of the Territory of Kansas, 1857.

69\Jilder, p. 60.
70sce above in this chapter for Van Gundy's definitions of the
arly political parties.

"Van Gundy, p. 15.



Just as David Van Gundy switched easily from a free-state persua-
jon to a proslavery one, so too Baker's converse transition was pro-
yably accomplished without undue stress. |t was true that Baker had
to dispose of his slaves as property, but these slaves consisted of one
vyoman and two children and were undoubtedly used only as domestic ser-
vants.’2  Baker's slaves, therefore, were not essential to his existence.
No evidence has been found to show how Baker ''got rid of them,' as
Bailey claimed.

Although the exact date of Baker's political conversion is not
known, the fact that it actually occurred is certain. There is some
question, however, as to the sincerity of that conversion. Bailey
claims that Baker '‘began to act with the free state party -- but al-
ways claimed to be a Democrat.”73

As previously stated, it is the opinion of this writer that Baker's
change of politics was probably due to his increasing interest in es-
tablishing himself as a leader in local politics and that furthermore
Baker desired to use this position to promote his section of the county.
Gates acknowledged that such motives were the rule rather than the ex-
ception for individuals establishing political ties in Territorial
Kansas.7b

Though the slavery question loomed large at the
opening of the territory, it became increasingly
blurred, and the sharp division between the pro-

slavery and antislavery factions gradually dis-
solved. Filbustering, banditry, and personal ven-

72Census of 1855, Territory of Kansas,

73Bailey, p. 45,

7u|t should be remembered that one of Baker's primary econo-
mic activities was land speculation and promotion. For a discus-
sion of this activity, refer to Chapter V.
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dettas continued to f]ourigﬁ under the guise of

conflict over slavery, but underlying these activi-

ties were struggles over promotion of towns, over

the removal of the Indians and the opening of their

reserves to purchase, over the staking of choice

claims, and over the selection of Railroad routes.75

The first record ovaaker's involvment with the Free State party,
other than his listing as a Free State candidate in the Election of
1855, concerns the aforementioned Topeka Movement. When the election
was held to select delegates to the Topeka Constitutional Convention,
the polls for the Eighth District were at the ''House of A. J. (f.)
Baker.“76 It remains the opinion of this writer, nevertheless, that
Baker was not in league with the free staters at that time, Baker's
home was in a central location in the district and thus a logical place
for the polls. Baker's loyalty to the official territorial government
can be clearly seen by his candidacy in the 1856 legislative election.
Further, neither Baker nor any of his close associates were involved
either as election judges or as candidates to the convention. Since
Eaker and his close associates served as prominent leaders in that
part of the territory, it would seem logical thatAif they were in agree-
ment with the Topeka Movement, they would have been more directly in-
volved.
Baker's direct involvement with the Topeka Movement, and thus

with the Free State party, began in July 1857. It came during a ''Mass

Convention at Emporia'' of the voters of the Sixth Election District to

select delegates to a territorial convention of the Free State party.77

756ates, p. L.
76“Topeka Movement,'" p. 139.

77Emporia The Kanzas News, July 18, 1857.
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er participated as a featured speaker at the meeting and was elected

78 The Sixth District meeting

elegate to the territorial convention.
important to Baker, as it noted for the first time a definite change
his politics. The convention, in its resolutions, Indignantly con-
ned the official territorial government, while enthusiastically en-
sing the Topeka Constitution and government. Since these resolutions
e unanimously adopted, it should be concluded that Baker at least
I not oppose.them.79 Baker also fulfilled his obligations to the
e State party by attending the territorial convention in Topeka.80
Although Baker seemingly went along with a general condemnation
the ''Bogus'' legislature, as outlined in the resolutions passed at
> July meeting in Emporia, he evidently remained true to his convic-
ns concerning the adherence to duly constituted law. At a free-
ate meeting in Emporia, held just one month later, Baker disagreed
th some of the more zealous free staters over the ‘''question of par-
cipating in the October Elections.”8]
The territorial legislature, meeting at Lecompton, had called a
reral election to be held on October 5, 1857. The purpose of this
2ction was to select a new legislature and a delegate to Congress.
is put the Free State party in a quandry. |f they participated in

2 election, they would be, indirectly at least, acknowledging the

istence and thus the right of the Proslavery legislature to pass laws.

Ibid., July 25, 1857,
Ibid., August 22, 1857.

2Zornow, p. 77.
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the free staters failed to contest the election, they would be hand-
over the reins of territorial government to the proslavery forces
claim victory and possibly even gain statehood under a prostavery
stitution.

The question of Free State participation in the election was to
decided at a convention at Grasshopper Falls on August 26.83 The
pose of the Emporia meeting was to select five delegates to the Grass-
per Falls convention and to direct those delegates by passing-re-
utions.

The Resolutions Committee disagreed over the issue, and presented
the meeting both a majority and minority report. The majority re-
t favored ''an unconditional participation in that election, (and
) signed by H. J. Espy, Wm. Grimsley and E. God(d)ard (Baker's

185

ther-in-1law) . The minority report declared "'that such parti-

ation was suicidal, (and was) signed by P. B. Plumb and Orville
th."86

The committee, however, unanimously endorsed five individuals,
luding Baker, as delegates to the convention. When the resolutions
e presented to the meeting, Plumb spoke in favor of the minority
ort, while Baker defended the majority view. When the vote was
en, the minority report was accepted. Upon this renunciation of
, position, Baker withdrew his name as a delegate. The minority

ort was evidently too radical for Baker, calling for nonparticipa-

8314i4.

L
Emporia Kanzas News, August 22, 1857.
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tion in the election and advocating the withholding of payment of any
territorial tax.87

Interestingly enough, Baker's position was vindicated by the Grass-
hopper Falls Convention which decided in favor of participation in the
October election.88 The wisdom of this course was further justified by
the fact that by doing so the Free State party not only elected their
candidate to Congress, but also gained control of the Territorial Legis-
lature. 89

The August meeting is enlightening, as it shows a division more
important than participation in the October election. This division
concerned the vital question of who would control the county government,
and was basically made along geographiéal lines.

During the early years, following the establishment of the ter;
ritory, the first settled areas in Breckinridge County were the northern
and western townships. These areas were occupied first due to their
proximity to the Santa Fe Trail and the previously settled community
of Council Grove. In the later territorial years, as more settlers im-
migrated into the upper Neosho Valley, they established their farms and
communities in the southern and eastern townships of the county,

The reasons for this shift of population were twofold. First,
the more choice sections of land in the northern townships had al ready
been claimed and for the most part, it was obvious to the new settlers

that they had to locate in other areas. Many of the early settlers in

the Southern townships were interested in developing a town and thus

871bid.

88Ibid., August 29, 1857.

8920rnow, p. 77.
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hed to establish themselves in an area free from previous settle~-
t. Stotler referred to these town promoters as '‘a lot of energetic

130 The town

ng men, who came to lay all on the altar for the town.
ch they established in the southern portion of the county was named
oria.

The second reason for this population shift was the fact that the
d claims in the northwestern townships were being contested. The
ly pioneers in this region, inc}uding Baker, had settled on lands
ch had been declared part of the public domain.3! When the Kanza
ian Reservation was surveyed in 1857, however, these settlers claims
e disavowed and ''the new survey placed a large number of settlers
the attitude of trespassers upon Indian lands.“92 Maloy charged
t '"the uncertainty in regard to the Indian Reservation, a greater
tion of which lay in this county, (Wise) prevented many people from
tling here."93 Since the reservation extended for some nine miles
o Breckinridge county,9h it seems certain that settlement in that
a would also be retarded. An added effect of this controversy was
t It tended to draw those settlers on the reservation lands closer
Council Grove and Wise County, while at the same time loosening
ir ties to Breckinridge County.

The schism over political control of Breckinridge county was

9oStot\er, p. 12.

9‘The problems associated with settlement on lands claimed by settlers
the Kansa Indian Reservation are discussed in Chapter IV.

Council Grove Kansas Cosmos, March 12, 1886.

33ibid., March 19, 1886.

9l‘lnventory of County Archives of Kansas, No. 64, Morris County
shington: Works Progress Administration, 1936), p. 12.
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ws drawn along geographical lines, rather than just ideological. It
s a contest between the earliest settlers, in the northern and western
wnships, and the later settlers in the southern towaships. The reports
F the Resolutions Comm}ttee of the August 1857 meeting followed those
ame lines. The supporters of the majority report; Espy, Grimsley and
»ddard, were all from the northern and western townships of the county,
1ile Plumb and Smith, the minority report supporters, were both from
e southern townships. It is also interesting that Plumb, wh6 "'sus-
asined the position taken by the minority report,"95 was the chief
okesman for the southern townships of the county, while Baker, who
fended the majority report, was the acknowledged leader of the north-
rn and western townships.

The county's population shift and thus the power struggle began
y 1857. This was the year when Emporia was preempted and, according
5> Stotler, when Breckinridge ''received its first rush of settlers‘”96
e 1859 census gives credence to Stotler's claim, as it records not
yly the year, but in some cases the month and day, when the heads of
ouseholds first settled in the county. This census, as shown in Table
V, reveals an immense increase in the county's adult male population
2ginning in 1857 and continuing through 1859. The year 1857 saw an
1crease of two hundred and fifty-five and four-tenths percent in the
ounty's population. New settlers in that year alone accounted for
ver one~third of all the county's voters in 1859. The townships
howing the greatest increase, both in aggregate number and percentage,

are the southern and eastern townships of Emporia and Waterloo. With

95Emporia Kanzas News, August 22, 1857,

963totler, p. 12,
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gut’’
?f;/the following year showing a similar increase, Emporia and Waterloo
ownships were soon nearly equal in adult male population to the three
estern townships of Agnes City, Americus, and Cottonwood.97

The 1860 Census, as illustrated in Table V, shows a continuation
f this growth trend in the year's time between July 1859 and July 1860,
he month in which the two were taken. Not only did the county record
sixty-eight and seven-tenths percent increase in population, but the
reatest share of this was in the southern and eastern townships where
here was a growth rate of one hund;ed and eighteen and one-tenth per-
ent. This can be compared to a relatively small increase in the north-
rn and western townships of but twenty-seven and eight-tenths percent."98

This population shift, as illustrated in the tables derived from
he 1859 and 1860 censuses, not only locate the greatest population den-
ity in the southern and eastern townships, but Table VI shows that the
ast majority of these settlers listed northern states as their place
f birth. It is interesting to note that, by 1860, sixty-seven per-
ent of the adult males in Breckinridge County were born in the free
tates of the north; while only twenty-one percent were born in slave
tates. The remaining adult males were foreign born. The table shows
hat the greatest number of northern settlers were born in the mid-
estern states of Ohio and Indiana, which together accounted for nearly
ne-half of the free-state total. The middle Atlantic state of New

ork accounted for an additional eighteen and two-tenths percent of the

ree state emigrants. Nearly all of the slave state emigrants came from

97Census of 1859, Breckinridge County, Territory of Kansas.
Original copy in the archives of the Kansas State Historical
ociety) .

98

1860 Census of Kansas.
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TABLE V

POPULATION COMPARISON BETWEEN
THE YEARS 1859 AND 1860

BRECKINRIDGE COUNTY

Showing number and percent of settlers by
townships, each year.

TOWNSHIPS 1859 1860* % of

No, % No. % INCREASE %%

NORTHERN AND
WESTERN

AGNES CITY 55 10.6 43 L.g -21.8

AMERI CUS 109 21 120 13.7 10.1

COTTONWOOD 99 19

CAHOLA 43 L.9

PIKE 81 9.2

FREEMONT 98 11.2

SUBTOTAL*#* 263  50.6 385 43.9 L6 . 4
SOUTHERN AND
EASTERN

EMPORIA 162 31.2 244 27.8 50.6

WATERLOO 86 16.5 94 10.7 9.3

FOREST HILL 154 17.6

SUBTOTAL*** 248 49,4 kg2 56. 1 98.4
COUNTY TOTAL 520  XXXX 877 XXXX 68.7

*Due to an increase in population and the addition of a three-
mile strip to the county's southern boundary, township lines
were redrawn and new townships were added in 1860.

**Percent of increase in population in 1860 over 1859. Given
only for those townships listed for both years.

***Subtotal percent is of county total for that year,
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TABLE VI
BIRTH STATES OF ADULT MALES
1860 -- BRECKINRIDGE COUNTY
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'tucky, North Carolina and Virgina, with only a scattering born
sewhere in the South. Missouri accounted, as the place of birth,
- only six-tenths of one percent of the county's total adult male
bulation. The 1860 census showed that the adult males born in
ave states did not settle in any single section of the county. Per-
1tages of this group, based on the total county population, remained
rikingly similar in all the townships.99
As a result of his previous appointment as probate judge by
> territorial legislature, Baker soon discovered that he was in the
sition of defending the established order. When Breckinridge County
5 first established with its own government, all appointed county
ficials were from the northern and western townships. Besides Baker's
bointment, the legislature selected C. Columbia and A. Dow as county
mmissioners, and Baker's brother-in-law, Goddard, as sheriff.‘oo
The first meeting of the Breckinridge County Commission was at
ker's home in Agnes City on September 3, 1857. The commissioners
signated election precincts and set October 5§, which was the day of
e territorial election, for the election of permanent county officers.]O]
The conflict over who should control the county government began
th this fi}st election in 1857. On September 26, a meeting of the
ters of Breckinridge County was held at Americus to nominate candidates

r the various county offices. Baker served as secretary of this meet-

g, and William Grimsley, who was also a resident of the western town-

9 bid.

IOOMorris County Archives, p. 20.
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ships, was selected its chairman.]o2

The county nominating convention adopted but one resolution. This
resolution was in line with Baker's earlier opposition to the resolutions
passed by the August Free State meeting in Emporia. |t called for those

assembled to

support the reqular nominations of this meeting,
and . . .(to) oppose, by all honorable means,
any clique or combination of persons seeking to
divide the people with a view of preventing a com-
pliance with the terms upon which all parties have
resolved to participate in the October election.
This was, of course, a reference to the Free Staters from the southern
portion of the county who had vowed nonparticipation in the election.
The so-called ''regular nominations'' made by the convention in-
cluded that of Baker, as Probate Judge, and Goddard, as Sheriff. For
the two other major county offices the convention nominated Grimsley and
. C 104 . .
H. W. Fick, as Commissioners. The election of such a ticket guaran-
teed the continuing dominance of county affairs by the western townships,
as Baker, Goddard and Grimsley were all residents of that section. The
other commissioner nominee, Fick, was a resident of Emporla.]OS
In opposition to the ''regular nominations," the Free Staters
from the southern sections met at Kanzas Centre on the first of October
106

to select their own candidates. It is interesting to note that all

of the Free State nominees were from the southern and eastern sections

102Emporia Kanzas News, October 3, 1857.

]03lbid.

lbid.

losThe location of each candidate's residence was taken from
the 1859 Territorial Census.

106

Emporia Kanzas News, October 3, 1857,
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the county. This desire, by the Free Staters, to gain control of
county by the southern and eastern townships, can be seen in the
t that they offered candidates in opposition to all of those ''re-

107 In a letter to the

arly nominated'' except the Emporian Fick.
tor of the Kanzas News, however, Fick endorsed the '‘reqularly nom-
ted" ticket and claimed that his Free State nomination ''was done
hout my knowledge and consent.“‘08

The endorsement of the Regular Ticket by Fick undoubtedly enabled
to carry the election. The election results, as shown in Table VI,
tray the geographical division within the county. It further notes
growing electoral strength of the southern and eastern sectors of
county. The Regular Ticket won only with the aid of crossover
ers from those precincts. Only Fick, who was in fact a candidate

109

both tickets, showed any universal appeal. It is the opinion

this writer that the electoral coattails of Fick made the difference

the Regular Ticket. Although Table VI! lists only the results of

or county elections, it should be noted that the more minor positions,

h as treasurer, clerk, coroner, justices of peace, surveyer and con-

bles, were also carried by the Regular Ticket.”O
The struggle for control of the county was not settled by the

7 election. The conflict continued and actually increased in inten-

y. Following the election, the struggle took the form of attacks by

idents of the southern portions on the government officials associated

107 b d.
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ith the western townships. One of these attacks was on Christopher
olumbia. Columbia was elected to the legislature as a representative

1 the October 1857 e]ection.]]‘

Columbia had been nominated by the
istrict Free State Convention, which met in September at the Sac and
ox Agency. The editor of the Kanzas News, at that time claimed that
e was ''unacquainted (with him, and two other candidates nominated),
ut we suppose that they are reliable Free State men.“”2

The News  soon regretted its endorsement of Columbia and evidently
egan to question his reliability és a Free Stater. According to the
ews, its reversal of endorsement came as a result of Columbia having
oted ''for the members of the Territorial Legislature from Leavenworth
ounty, who were elected by the frauds perpetrated at Kickapoo.””3
he News, in publishing its account of an ''Indignation Meeting'' against
olumbié, charged him with "insincerity to his pledge made previous to
is election, and . . ., criminal complicity with his Border Ruffian col-
eagues.“llh The News further declared 'no confidence' in Columbia and
alled for "him to resign at once his disgraced seat in our Territorial

15

ouncils.”‘ Since Columbia was a resident of the western portion of
he county, his deeds in the legislature, in the eyes of the News, would
ave reflected on that entire region. If Columbia was unreliable, then

erhaps that entire region was also unreliable.

A particular sore spot, to the supporters of the southern faction

111

Council Grove Kanzas Cosmos, March 12, 1886.

]‘zEmporia Kanzas News, September 19, 1857.

Ibid., December 26, 1857.
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the county, was the fact that the county seat was at Agnes City.
September 1857, the News expressed a resentment at being '‘obliged

go to 'Agnes City,' a distance of 24 miles from this place, to

te.“1]6 As noted in Table VII, however, the Emporians did not have
make the trek to Agnes City, as a precinct was established at Emporia.

The fact that Emporia was given its own precinct did not satisfy
> News and its editor, Plumb. In January 1858, Plumb, shown in Figure
], declared that ''The county seat of this county is situated in the
treme north-west corner of the county, and is unoccupied.“”7 Plumb
en reminded his readers that the county seat was acquired for the
stern section ''by the Border Ruffians, and from a Legislative body
ich the people have ever refused to recognize.“llg From this point
, it became obvious that the southern faction would be satisfied only
th gaining the county seat for themselves.

Shortly after Plumb's declaration, the southern section began its
tempt to destroy the creditability of the county government under the
adership of the western section. In February 1858, N. S. Storrs,
unty treasurer, resigned his position. Storrs, who had been elected

the Regular Ticket, aired his displeasure with the county government
@ letter to the News, which Plumb gave a very prominent place on the

119

rst page of his paper. It is interesting that shortly following

s resignation, Storrs moved from Emporia to Butler County, where

]]6|bid.. September 19, 1857.
]]7Ibid., January 30, 1858.
H8lbid.

119

lbid., February 27, 1858. -
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FIGURE XVI

Preston B. Plumb, shown in his Civil War
uniform. Plumb was a founder of Emporia,
editor of the Emporia News, leader of the

county's southern faction and Baker's chief
adversary for control of Breckinridge County.
(Courtesy of Kansas State Historical Society.)



he became quite prominent in local and territorial politics.lzo 't

is quite possible that this move was the real reason for Storrs' re-
signation, and that his published account was merely the rhetoric of
one section of a county in its campaign for gaining control.

Storrs maintainea that the October election had been illegal and
in fact the officials were elected by only a ''small minority of the
people of the county.“IZI Storrs charged that any voters living in the
townships which were part of the Kanza Indian Reservation were “"not le-
gal voters, and all officiers claiming to elected by such votes are

liable at any moment to be ousted.' 22

According to Storrs, the
county government, which was headed by Bakef, was ''recreant to every
principle of justice and honor, {and) . . . an instrument for the
enforcement of the infamous Missouri code."]23

The fact that the southern section, under the banner of the
Free State Party, had opposed Baker in the October election and were
now attacking the county government which he headed did not seem to
deter Baker from remaining active in the party's affairs. Baker's
Free State activity centered on his involvement with the local govern-
ment.

Following their statewide victory in the October election, the
Free State Party opened the 1858 legislative session with a desire to

reorganize local government and repeal the ''bogus' laws of the previous

legislature. As a result of these legislative efforts, the boundaries

]zolbid., September 25, 1858.

12 \pid., February 27, 1858.
lzzlbid.
123
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of Breckinridge county wére changed to conform with township lines and
the county's name was changed to Cahola. Americus was established as

the temporary county seat.lzu According to the Kanzas News, the reor-
ganization bill became law ''by being retained by the Governor more than

25

three days.”] Regardless of the News' announcement, the reorganization
bill did not in fact become law. The county's name, boundary and seat
of government remained as they were before. There has been no evidence
found as to why the reorganization bill did not become law. Following
its announcement, the News filed to mention the county change again,
and returned to referring to the county as Breckinridge. There has
been no other reference found by this writer of Cahola County.

Yet it remained the intent of the territorial free State Party to
reorganize the local governmenfs and thus €énsure Free State dominance.
In February 1858 the territorial central committee of the Free State
Party appointed Baker as Cahola County party chairman and authorized
him to select '"'five reliable Free State men . . , with whom they can
correspond." Baker then took the liberty to call a county convention
for February 25 in Americus '"for the purpose of nominating candidates to
represent the Free State Party in a Convention soon to be held at the
Capital of Kansas, to frame a new Constitution.”‘z7
The editor of the Kanzas News, Plumb took a dim view of Baker's ap-

28
pointment and expressed '‘our total dissent from the call.' Plumb

12&12193, April 10, 1858.
125,114

126.@1,, February 20, 1858.
1271b14

128———_
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narged that Baker and committee weré appointed in secret and denied
their authority to act.n123
The opposition to Baker's authority was evidently such that the
ericus convention failed to fulfill ité objective of nominating con-
titutional convention delegates. 'After some discussion [t was resolv-
d that to secure hafmony and unity of action, the meeting would adjourn
'd issue a call for a 'Union Meeting' to be held at Americus on Tuesday
th.”]BO
The Americus ''Union Meeting'' was hailed as a success by Plumb.
lumb claimed that the meeting was attended by "almost one hundred and
ifty person" andithat it was "the largest meeting ever held in the

ounty.“]3]

Plumb further claimed that the Free State Party ''in this
ounty has 'harmonized' for the present.“]32 The delegates selected,

ccording to Plumb, ''reflect the wishes and views of a large majority

f the people of the county.“133 Plumb undoubtedly felt that such praise

as justified, as he was elected to head the delegation. Baker was one
f thirteen persons selected to serve as an Executive Committee for
reckinridge County. Plumb noted that.the size of the committee was
ecessary to obtain unity and to 'represent all portions of the county."
With the blessing of a unified Free State Party, Baker thus be-

ame an acknowledged leader in Breckinridge County at two levels, Be-

1291pid.

130)414., February 27, 1858.

13V bid., March 6, 1858.

]32Ibid.

e

1331bi4.

134154,

134
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sides hls Free State activities, Baker was still the duly elected
leader of the county commission.

Unfortunately, the official commissioners record of Breckinridge
during territorial days has been lost and thus much of thelr early
activity Is now unknown. There are only two known sources which re-
fer to the work of the first popularly elected board of county commis-
sioners. The Breckinridge County Commissioners Record was used as re-
ference on Morris County when their archives were inventoried by the
Works Progress Administration. These references, however, are frag-
mentary and reflect‘only what refers directly to Wise County (Morris)
when it was attached to Breckinridge.]35

A second source of knowledge concerning the first county commission
is found in the printed reports of the Kanzas News. The only minutes
of this first commission that are published, however, concern a meeting

on Dccember 21, 1827 at Agnes City.l36

The purpose of this meeting
was to divide the county into townships.

As illustrated in Figure XVil, the Breckinridge County Board of
Commissioners created five municipal townships. The northern and western
faction of the county was divided into Agnes City, Americus and Cotton-
wood Townships. The southern and eastern faction was divided into two
townships, Emporia and Kansas Center.]37

The boundaries of the townships were evidently divided only along

geographical lines. As seen in Table |V, pagé 127, there was apparently

no attempt to equalize or organize the townships according to population.

"35Morris County Archives, pp. 20-26.
136

Emporia Kanzas News, December 26, 1857.

137 1bid.
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FIGURE XVII

BRECKINRIDGE COUNTY IN 1857
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[t is this writer's contention that the townships were organized in
such a manner due to the fact that there was‘shortly to be a revision
of representation on the county board. Although there is no evidence
as to exactly when such a change took place, a new county board was
meeting by August 1858. The old board of three commissioners had been
replaced by a board of five supervisors. Each supervisor served as a
representative of his township.]38 With a majority of the townships
located in the northern and western part of the county, that section
was thus able to retain its control of the government. Under the new
rules of its membership, the duties of probate judge were separated
from those of the Board of Supervisors. Baker's role as head of the
county government thus ended. For his services as head of the county
commission, Baker received a total of twenty-one dollars in payment.]39
The election of Breckinridge County's new Board of Supervisors
was probably held on May 18, 1858. This was the day that the Leaven-
worth Constitution was voted on. This election was of great importance
to Baker. Baker had been nominated by the delegates to the Constitution-
al Convention from Breckinridge, Butler, Greenwood, Madison, Davis and
Wise counties as Circuit Judge for the Fifth Judicial District.‘uo
It should be remembered that Plumb had served as one of those
delegates and thus would be one of those recommending Baker for the
judgeship. Plumb's reasons for bestowing such a honor on Baker are

unknown. Perhaps their past differences had been truly "harmonized"

at the Americus meeting. Perhaps Plumb had been overruled by the other

1381414, , August 21, 1858.

]39|bid., September 4, 1858,

140 i4d., April 17, 1858.
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elegates of the judicial district. Or perhaps Plumb felt that if
aker were elected, his new duties would remove him from county politics.
Whatever Plumb's motives might have been, the result was that
aker's life and future became tied to that of the Leavenworth Consti-
ution. For this reason Baker soon became quite active in promoting
ts passage.]b] In an open letter to the editor of the News, Baker
ccepted ﬁhe nomination and spoke ''in favor of the adoption of the
eavenworth Constitution as a whole, because it reflects the will of a
ajority of the citizens of Kansas; and because it provides for all
ur wants and is a subline vindication of a Yiberty~loving pe,Ople.“M2
At a local convention in Emporia on April 17, Baker was chosen
s a delegate to a Senatorial District Convention -to be held in Council
irove.”l3 At the Council Grove Convention Baker served as chairman of
he meeting and helped to secure the passage of a resolution promoting
he Upper Neosho valley as the location of the permanent capital of
ansas.]hh
Although the Leavenworth Constitution was accepted by the people

145 Baker's future as a cir-

f Kansas, it was rejected by Congress.
ult judge thus ended. It is not known whether or not Baker was elected.

lumb, in commenting on the election, claimed that in the Emporia pre-

inct only eighty~-four votes were cast. The News's editor added that

MV bid., May 8, 1858.

"3 bid., April 24, 1858.

]“Albid., May 8, 1858.

‘hsMicsellanous Document, No. 4h4 (Washington: House of Repre-

entatives, 1859}, p. 24.
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UThe State offlcers on the District and County ticket generally received
the full number cast; the most marked exception being for Senator and
Circuit Judge; Mr. Baker, for Judge, receiving but 47.“]h6

The geographical division in the county government soon began to
manifest itself In the politics of the Free State Party. The harmony
that was so heralded after the Americus convention lasted for less than
a month. The old division, both geographical and political, reemerged
following the May election on the Leavenworth Constitution.

For some time, Plumb had been questioning the continued validity of
the Free State Party. Plumb claimed that the Free State Party was '‘com-
posed of men from all the parties known in the country--Republicans,
Whigs, National Democrats, Free Soil Democrats, and Know Nothings."”“7
The News's editor charged that '"'Any person at all acquainted with the
Free State Party of Kansas . . . and who has seen its workings for the
last six months, cannot fail to have been convinced that a separation
of these elements must soon take place.“m8

It was Plumb's contention that since the '‘external agitation hav-
ing ceased,' meaning presumedly the defeat of the Missouri forces in the
territorial legislature, that the Free State Party should now concern

149

itself with self-purification. The issue was no longer one of saving
Kansas from Missourian control, but one of principle. The News's editor

had previously stated that rather than be forced ''to sacrifice a prin-

hsEmporia Kanzas News, May 22, 1858,

W ibi4.
T8 11

————rn.

143114,
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ciple, we would rather the party should split into a thousand pieces."
The principles which Plumb wished to defend were those of ''the
Republicans, composing what is known as the Anti-Slavery wing of the

party.“ls]

It was now time, according to Plumb, for the Republicans
to organize and prepare for action. Plumb believed that
After the first skirmish the various small factions
will unite with either the Republicans or Democrats,
as their affinities lead them, and the battle will
be between slavery, centralization, and have the
government administered as in the early and purer
days of the Republic.152
Baker's position was one of steadfast opposition to the proposed
dismemberment. He declared, '"The union of the Free State party must be
preserved.”]53 Baker claimed that a split in the party was ''"morally
impossible," and that the only course was compromfse by the various
L
factions.]s
Plumb, however, countercharged that any 'compromising party,
without a single living, vital principle to keep it together. . . will
fail, it should fail. There should be no compromise between right and
wrong."]55 Those who called for compromise, according to Plumb, were

those who were the recipients of '"public patronage'' and were "polluting
g

and tainting public morals and virtue with . . . (their) dishonesty

1501 bid., March 6, 1858.

lsllbid., March 13, 1858,

lszlbid.

153\bid., May 8, 1858.
154 pig.

et

1551bid., March 13, 1858.
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156 Alfhough Plumb did not state exactly who he was

corruption.'
rring to in his charges, he did, two years later, in an open pub-
ed letter, make it clear that he was referring to Baker and the
lers in the western townships.]57
The problems of ''the last six months,'' that Plumb referred to
two-fold. Both problems concerned the relationship of the Free
e Party to local affairs. As previously discussed, the Free State
y gained control of the Territorial legislature in the Election of
In that election Breckinridge County was in a district ''composed
ineteen counties, embracing almost all of Southern and Western Kansas,

III]58

known as the 'nineteen disfranchised counties. The district

given that name ''from the fact that they were allowed only three

n159

ers. Besides Columbia, who has already been discussed, the

rict was represented by Robert B. Mitchell and Dr. A. Danford, both
. 160
inn County.

The first of these two problems concerned the quality and quantity
his representation. It should be noted that this issue was a point
nity for the settlers of Breckinridge County, but tended to disen-
t them with the territorial party. These settlers believed, as
ed in their Americus Resolutions, that one of the first functions of

new Free State legislature should have been to reapportion the re-

entation of the nineteen counties. The second act of the legisliature

1564 4.

‘57Emporia Kansas News, February 4, 1860.
158

Council Grove Kansas Cosmos, March 12, 1886.
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should have been to repeal ''the entire bogus code.“‘sl The problem was

that the legislature, including Columbia, had failed to act on either
matter. Plumb claimed that '"There is a deep feeling bf indignation
amongst the masses of the people in regard to the base betrayal of their
interests by the Free State lLegislature, and the will assuredly put the
seal of their condemnation upon it.“]s?

The condemnation that Plumb predicted came in a series of reso-
lutions passed at various meetings. The first outcry came at the afore-
mentioned '""Union Meeting'' at Americus. Here the settlers repeatedly
attacked the legislature. The foremost issue was apportionment, which
was considered unjust. The resolutions questioned how the '"nineteen
disfranchised counties, containing nearly one-half the population, are
allowed but three Representatives out of thirty-nine, and but two mem-
bers of the Council out of thirteen."163

The Americus resolutions continued attacking the legislature for
its "irresponsible banking'' policies and because the ''Legislature did,
through fraud and corruption . . . locate the Capital of the Territory

164

at the paper town of 'Minneola,'" Here Plumb's quest for principle

might be brought into question, as he evidently did not object to Min-

65

neola because of the legislative fraud involved,] but because it was

"neither in the geographical center of the Territory nor in the center

‘GlEmporia Kanzas News, March 6, 1858,
162414,
163114,
16l’lbid.

5Zornow, p. 79. Zornow claimed that thirty-five of the fifty-
two leglislators were financially interested in Minneola. i



w166 | f the capltal would have been placed according

of the population.
to these criteria, then [t would have been in or close to Breckinridge
County. Such a location for the territorial capital could have been
financially enriching to town promoters such as Plumb and Baker.

On the last day of August 1858 a second meeting was held at Amer-
icus. The purpose of this meeting, which was chaired by Baker, was to
formulate a procedure for selecting delegates to a nominating convention
to be held at Ottumwa, for candidates to the territorial legislature.

It was deicdéd that Breckinridge County's delegates would be apportioned
and chosen by the various precincts.‘67 As a result, Baker became a re-
presentative at the Ottumwa Convention of not only Breckinridge County,
but Agnes City as well.

Besides Baker, Breckinridge was representéd at Ottumwa by five
other delegates, {ﬁ%uding Baker's sometime rival, Plumb.]68

Given the local grievance over the territorial legislature, the
Ottumwa meeting took on a great importance to its delegates. Here
Baker and Plumb entered into one of their increasingly frequent disa-
greements. This was a procedural matter concerning proxies. Plumb
had requested that ''where the delegation from any county is not full,
those delegates present from such county, be authorized to cast the full
vote of the county.“‘69 Since nearly half the counties consisted of but

partial delegations, the matter was of some importance as it placed a

good deal of power in the hands of but a few individuals. For this reason,

]66Emporia Kanzas News, March 6, 1858.
'67\bid., September 4, 1858.

Ibid., September 25, 1858.



150

Baker moved to reconsider Plumb's resolution and "'After some discussion
: H ||]70
the motion to reconsider was put and lost.

The matter of voting, however, was the only recorded disagree-~
ment between Baker and Plumb at the Ottumwa meeting. Since they both
served on the resolutions committee, and there was only one report pre-
sented, it is assumed they were in agreement on the resolution attack-
ing '"disfranchised counties.'" The resolution claimed

That the apportionment fastened upon us by a Pro-
Slavery Legislature, and perpetuated by a pseudo
Free State lLegislature, places us practically in

the position of ''taxation without representation,"

a principle which we repudiate as being anti-Re-
publican, and that we demand of the next lLegis-
lature that they redistrict and apportion the
Territory in such a manner as to do justice to those
who have_so long been deprived of their dearest
rights.]7]

In these resolutions, Plumb and Baker outlined some more of their
principles. As a second reason given for a need of reapportionment, they
stated their belief that the territory was about to receive ''some large
grants of land made to the Territory of Kansas for the purpose of build-
. . 172 . .
ing railroads." 7 According to the resolutions, the southern and west-
ern counties needed equitable representation to insure equitable distri-
173

bution of these railroad grants. Needless to say, if Breckinridge

County received its share of any proposed land grant, then any local
promoters, such as Baker and Plumb, might become financially enriched.
The first problem which the settlers in Breckinridge County asso-

ciated with the Free State Party concerned the political rights of equal

17011 4.

]7‘Ibid.

———
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o
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representation in the territorial legislature. Without this repre-
sentation, according to these settlers, the county would suffer in
the important area of land promotion. Concerning thl;, as well as
other matter, the local Incumbent in the legisiature, Columbia, had
failed to represent his constituency in a manner that they considered
adequate.

The second problem concerned the aforementioned question of who
should control the affairs of the county. As previously mentiéned,
the issue here was basically geographical and not necessarily ideo-
logical. But just as Plumb was beginning to advocate division in the
Free State Party at the territorial level, he likewise expressed sup-
port of such a division at the county Ievel.]7h

The problem of who should control the county government became
an overriding issue which soon involved every township of the county
and created longstanding divisions between them. Local historians
have referred to this division as '‘the county seat question.“]75

Following their election in.1858, the new board of county sup-
ervisors began to concern itself with three major items of business.
The first was the establishment of roads; the second was the assess-
ment and collection of taxes; and the third, the most hotly contested
of the three items, was the permanent establishment of a county seat.

With a majority of supervisors coming from the western townships,
control of county affairs remained with that séction. This control can

be seen by the fact that Grimsley was chosen chairman and that all three

issues were decided in the favor of the western townships by a three to

7% bid., March 13, 1858.

]75Yesterday and Today (Americus: n.p., 1957), p. 17.
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two vote. The roads that were established by the supervisors, were all
designed to tie the southern portion of the county to the western. The
issue of tax assessment was sent back to the townships for consideration.”6
By allowing the townships to set their own assessments, the western town-
ships were able to €nsure that their share of the county total would be
kept at a minimum.

The last issue, selection of a permanent county seat, was the most
controversial and brought the greatest anguish for the early settlers.
As previously stated, the fact that Agnes City had been established by
a pro-slavery legislature as the temporary county seat was of great
concern to the residents of the southern townships. Plumb complained
that not only was the county seat, at Agnes City, unoccupied, it re-
mained there only because of what he called ''vested rights.'" Plumb
asked, "Will the lLegislature override the wishes of a majority of the
people to save these 'vested rights‘?”]77 Plumb was thus linking the
county government to what he considered a corrupt legislature.

It was obvious, however, that Agnes City was merely a temporary
county seat and plans would have to be made for the selection of a new
site. Agnes City was unsuitable due to its location. It was inacces-
sible to a vast majority of the county residents and was located on
contested Indian land.

The question of where to locate the county seat was of immediate
importance to every citizen in every township. |If the seat of govern-
ment could be obtained by @ town in which a person was involved as a

promoter, then the land values of that town would increase and its future

]76Emporia Kanzas News, September L4, 1858.

I77lbid., January 30, 1858.



153

would be assured. Although every township hoped to obtain the Breck-
inridge County seat, from the very beginning of the controversy only
Americus and Emporia were serious contenders.

The clity of Americus was established in the fall of 1857 for the

178

sole purpose of becoming the county seat of Breckinridge County. For
the settlers of the western townships, Americus was an ideal location
for the county seat. As shown in Figure XVil, page 142, Americus, al-
though it was in a western township, was located near the center of the
county, both geographically and democgraphically.

Unlike Agnes City, Americus was not located on the contested lands
of the Kanza Indian Reservation, a fact which made its property titles
clear of any possible legal entanglements. At the same time, the lo-
cation of the city enabled its founders to maintain their close ties
to Council Grove.

The founders and promoters of Emporia were determined that it
would become the county seat. To obtain this goal, the community's
leaders, in particular Plumb, dedicated their constant and intense ef-
forts.

As a candidate for county seat, Emporia suffered from a drawback
similar to that of Agnes City. [t was located on the extreme edge of
the county, Unlike Agnes City, however, Emporia was able to overcome
this handicap. Emporia's plan to correct the problem of its location
was simple. It was obvious that they could not move their city to the
center of the county, so the only alternative was to effect a change in

the boundaries of the county so that Emporia would be more centrally lo-

cated. As shown in Figure XVIt, page 142, although Emporia was located

]78Emporia Gazette, May 28, 1957.
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on the southern boundary, on an east-west line it was near the center
of the county. |f the southern boundary could be lowered, Emporia could
be the only city of any size near the center of the county. Thus, it
would be obvious that Emporia would be the logical choice for the per-
manent location of the county seat.

Before Emporia could implement its plan, however, the county
board of supervisors, on which the western townships retained a majority,
ordered tha; the matter of choosing a permanent county seat would be
brought to a vote at the territorial election on October 4, 1858, Ac-
cording to local history, Emporia attempted to have the election post-

poned '"'until after the three-mile strip on the south had been attached

n179

to the county. To the dismay of the southern township this proposal

was outvoted by the board's representatives from the west.]80
Plumb, the leader of the southern faction on the county board, was

particulary upset with the decision to put the matter to an immediate

vote of the people. It is interesting to note that Plumb, who on other

matters had called for division, now decried this vote for being divisive.

Plumb suggested that ''such questions remain silent until the proper

time when the proper authority will submit them to the people.“ls]

Plumb vowed, ''The question of the permanent location of the county seat

of this county will not be settled for a couple of years, and if we

begin to wrangle about it now it is time and money spent in vain.”‘82

The editor of the News claimed that the selection of a county

seat should have been delayed because

179Quoted in Yesterday and Today p. 17.
180I

bid.
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Emporia Kanzas News, June 12, 1858,



It Is to their (Breckinridge County's) advantage
rather to build up one good town thereby creating
a market for their products, than to have a dozen
half started things that will be of no account
whatever to the county.

Plumb's allegation concerning the establishment of new communi-
ties was not an idle statement. On the same page of the News that he
made his charge, Plumb printed the minutes of a meeting which was cal-

led to plat and organize a town site, known as Breckinridge Center.

Breckinridge Center, as its name implied, was to be located ''as near

" and thus would be

L]

the center of Breckinridge county as practicable,
a contender for the seat ''on what is called 'equality.
Altogether there were four candidates for county seat in the
1858 election. Besides Americus, Emporia, and the newly platted com-
munity of Breckinridge Center, Fremont was mentioned by the News as in
contention for the seat.]85 The News, of course, backed Emporia,
believing that for the present, at least, it will
accommodate a larger number of the inhabitants of
the county than any other point, and because we be-
lieve it is to the best interests of the county to
have one good town within its borders, rather than
hal f-a~dozen half-starved things that will afford
no market for the produgg of the farmer, nor ac-
comodations for trade.!
Baker's role in the county seat question was a vital one. Just

as Plumb was the chief spokesman for Emporia, Baker became the leader

of the Americus faction. Baker was responsible for obtaining the land
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title for Americus and served as Its first mayor.]87 By December 1858,
followiﬁg the territorial election, Baker had opened a law office in Am-
ericus to '"devote himself to his business exclusively for the future.“]88
Baker's business, it should be remembered, was land promotion and spec-
ulation. And any success in his business endeavors was directly related
to the future of Americus as the county seat.

Plumb charged that ''Different candidates for the county seat are

89

. . . | .
making 'bids' -- offering to give them the county seat.' ft is in-
teresting that while Plumb deplored such a practice, he claimed ''that
although Emporia does not desire to make any bids for the county seat.

. she will give double the amount to the county that any other town will
give for the location of the county seat.'190
As noted in Table VIIl, however, the Breckinridge County elec-

torate rejected Emporia's bid. Since the margin of victory for Americus
was narrow, the News noted that the voter turnout was low.

Two-~thirds of the vote of Cottonwood township was

not out at all, and about that proportion of Kansas

Center township was absent. Emporia polled a larger

vote than ever heretofore, but it was lessened some

dozens by sickness and absence form the precinct.]9l
Such a low voter turnout in Cottonwood and Kansas Center could account
for the electoral reversal of their previous allegiances. It is this

writer's opinion, that had the turnout been greater in those two

precincts, then Cottonwood would have cast a majority for Americus

] . . . . .
87For information concerning Baker's role in the establishment
of Americus, refer to Chapter V.

]88Emporia Kanzas News, December 11, 1858,
l89Ibid., September 18, 1858,
190 hi4.

91 bid., October 9, 1858.
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and Kansas Center for Emporia. Thus a greater voter turnout would
not have changed the result of the election.
Plumb seriously quéstioned the validity of the Americus and
Agnes City vote and claimed that it '"was such as to give rise to a
question of its entire legality, and the matter will probably under-
go legal investigation.”I92
Following Emporia's loss in its bid for the county seat, Plumb
began to work for a new election. Prior to any new vote, however,
Emporia would have to secure the change in the southern boundary., At
the same time that the mechanics of gaining the change were started,
Plumb Began a new attack on the county board. Although Plumb was a
member of the board, he, along with the other southern representative,
divorced himself from it. Evidently Plumb believed that since Emporia
could not have the seat of government, then he would refuse to partake
in any of its deliberations. Simultaneous to his absence from the
county board, Plumb renewed his attack on the representatives of the
western townships when they decided not to publish their proceedings.
If it is necessary to have ‘a county tribunal, it
is just as essential that the people should be
acquainted with the business transacted by it;
this knowledge will best be obtained by its pub-
!ication, and if the county can SUp?ort the one,
it can afford to pay for the other.193
To reopen the county seat question, the Emporia faction, led by
Plumb, maintained the same strategy that they had previously developed.

This strategy was basically three-fold. The first phase was to relo-

cate the southern boundary of the county. As previously discussed,

., January 1, 1859.
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'his relocation would place Emporia in a more central location as wel)
és increase the voting power of the southern townships.

| The second phase of the Emporia strategy was to discredit the
Americus faction and divide them from the rest of the county. This
division was of a polarizing nature, with the electorate placed in a
position of being pro=Americus or pro-Emporia. Although the division
concerned primarily the county's governing board, it also pertained and
affected an individual's party allegiance.

The county's political division and the relocation of the southern
boundary would lead to the last phase and ultimate objective of the Em-
poria faction. This was to obtain control of the county board. By ob-
talning this control, the southern faction could then arrange for a new
election for a permanent county seat.

The Emporians had been working for some time to obtain the change
In the southern boundary of the county. This change did not come by
accident, but was carefully planned and executed by the Emporians.
Stotler noted that immediately following the settlement in 1857 of the
Emporia townsite, "A struggle was at once commenced . . . to detach a
strip three miles in width from the north of Madison county and attach
it to this county in order to take into Breckinridge the settlements
along the Cottonwood river‘]gh

At a meeting to protest a possible change in the county line,
citizens of Madison county condemned such a chénge and resolved ''That
we believe that designing men of Emporia, Lawrence and other places,

were in favor of changing the line's of Madison County to benefit them-

]9“Stotler, p. 7.
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selves persona]ly.”]95 Plumb, In an editorial, responded to the Madison
County accusation with a denial of any wrongdoing. As part of his denial,
however, Plumb admitted that the people in the three-mile strip were im-
portant to Emporia's Interest because ''The Cottonwood settlement is the
heaviest in the county, containing about one-third of its entire popula-
tion, and will always exert a controlling influence in the election of
county officers, 9353“196

- The News's editor added, '"Nineteen-twentieths of the settlers
along the Cottonwood are desirous of having such a change made in the
county boundaries as will bring them into this c0unty.”]97 Regardless
of Plumb's claim, the Madison County citizens living within the three-
mile strip passed a resolution deeming ''It inexﬁedient at the present
time to act according to the change of county 1ines.“]98

Plumb also admitted that the Emporians were responsible for a

"petition that was gotten up and presented to the Territorial Legis-
Iature.“199 Local history of Americus claimed that at the same time
that the Emporians circulated their petition, '"The Americus people
got up a remonstrance against the plan."200 This remonstrance was
then to have been taken by Baker to the legislature for consideration.

The same history stated that on the way Baker became sick and stopped

at an unnamed hotel. While Baker was there, C. V. Eskridge, the clerk

]95Emporia Kanzas News, March 13, 1858.
1961912.

1971219_

Ibid., April 24, 1858.

Ibid., March 13, 1858,

2OOYesterdaxand Today, p. 17.
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of the county board, came along with the Emporia petition and

He agreed to carry the Americus remonstrance to
the legislature. When the petltion was presented
to the legislature it carried the names of both
the petition and the remonstrance, so there was
no remonstrance. The leglslature granted the
petition of Emporia and it was all over before
word reached Americus.20

Although this researcher has found no verification of this claim, it
could possibly be the reason that Plumb claimed '‘we believe every
voter . . . signed (the petition).“202

Regardleﬁs of the method used, the Emporians gained the three-
mile strip for the southern boundary of the county. By February 1859
the News announced the change by act of the legislature.203 In an ed-
itorial aside, Plumb claimed that '"This change makes Breckinridge the

1204

best county in the interior, although he did admit

There are doubtless those in this and Madison counties
who were opposed to the change; but we firmly believe
that a majority of the citizens of both counties fav-
ored It, and are glad that [t is made. 0
For the Emporians the first phase of their campaign to gain
control of Breckinridge County was completed. An attempt to obtain a
reversal of the change in the southern boundary failed. Just a year

from its enactment, the News decried the introduction of such a bill

in the Territorial House of Representatives by Samuel Wood. Plumb

charged:

201 4.

202EmporialKanzas News, March 13, 1858.
203L§i§:, February 19, 1859.

2041 .

2051b1d.
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The united efforts of a few destruction-workers
north-west of us, and some countyseat speculators
in the central part of Madison County may ignore
the united wishes of the settlers upon that strip
to remain in this county, and get it through the
House, but we cannot but think that there is good
sense enough in the Council to '"floor'" It obli-
viously.20

vidently the attempt failed as predicted, because two weeks later the
ews announced ''[t's '0.K.', and the Cottonwood stil] continues to run
n an easterly-direction.”207

Qith the three~mile strip as§ured of permanent attachment to
ireckinridge, the Emporians turned their full attention to discredit
\mericus supporters. These efforts came on two frohts. The first and
lost important was in questioning the credibility of the county govern-
ent while it was under the control of the western townships. As pre-
/iously noted, Plumb had been doing this for some time. New opportun-
ties for attack came with every new decision of the county board.

On the first day of 1859, the board decided that the territorial
ax collected by the county treasurer would be withheld from payment to

208

the territorial government in order to meet local expenses. Plumb

rjvm Prap et y}
immediately charged improbity on the part of the board, by declaring

that the money was to be used only for '‘paying the perdiem, mileage,
and other expenses of the Board of Supervisors, that have as yet accom-
1209

plished nothing of substantial benefit for the county.

In his condemnation of the county board, Plumb uvsed some of his

206Emporia News , February 18, 1860.

207{bid., March 3, 1860.
208Emporia Kanzas News, February 5, 1859.

203)b1d., February 12, 1859.
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harshest language ever,
The only thing, in fact, for which they are particu-
larly noted, is drawing their perdiem and mileage with
commendable punctuality, The county is to be plunged
into debt and an expensive litigation with the Terri-
tory, to gratify the inordinate propensities of these
superannuated grannies, to feed at the public crib.210

'n April, Plumb again questioned the credibllity of the board
on county financial mattersfor causing

a system of extravangance which will entail upon the
people a high rate of taxation, burdening them with
debt, and preventing . . . growth and prosperity.

With the geographical and demographical changes resulting from
the addition of the three-mile strip, the board, in March 1859, rede-
signated townships in the county. As shown in Figure XViil, the
county supervisors added the three new townships of Cahola, Fremont
and Forest Hi]l.212 Kanzas Center Township had been renamed Waterloo
at a previous meeting.2]3

Placing the Americus backers in a defensive position, it is in-
teresting to note that they retained control of the county government
by adding two townships to the western faction, and one township to
the southern. The Americus group thus retained a possible five to
three majority.

Plumb immediately attacked the board's redistricting of townships.

foncerning Forest Hill Township, Plumb stated, ''t includes the towns

of Forest Hill and Neosho Rapids, and should have been called 'Neosho,'

2101454,

———————

21 bid., April 9, 1859.
212|414, March 12, 1859.

2131bid., February 5, 1859.
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FIGURE XVLLI

BRECKINRIDGE COUNTY IN 1859
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as it seems to us =~ but there's no accounting for tastes.“zlh The
establishment of Cahola, however, drew sharper criticism from the News's
editor.

Cahola Township is located near the mouth of Rock
Creek, and takes off a portion from Agnes City and
Americus Townships. As Agnes City has usually cast
about 25 votes and Americus about L0 or 50, of
course it was necessary that a new Township should
be created to enable such a crowd of people to vote
in one day! Cahola Is as necessary to a certain
Interest as the English Borough system was to the
British Tories.215

A new board of county supervisors was elected, at the annual
spring election on March 28, 1859. Baker was elected township re-
presentative from Agnes City to the county board of supervisors.zl6
Then, or shortly after, Baker resiéned his positién as Probate Judge
and was replaced by Eskridge,u7 who had previously resigned as Clerk
of the Probate Court.z‘8

At the same meeting that the previous board had decided to with-
hold the territorial tax, proposals were approved for the construction
of a courthouse and jail in Americus.ZI9 This decision raised such a

furor from the rest of the county that the new board was forced ''to

rescind the order of the Board making appropriations for the erection

of County Buildin95.”220 The commotion over this issue was led by ?lumb,
24 bid., March 5, 1859.
2]51212:
2161414, April 2, 1859.
2]712133, April 30, 1859.
ZIBLELé:, March 5, 1859.
2'919Lg,, February 5, 1859
220

Ibid., April 30, 1859.
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sho began his attack in March 1859 with an editorial in which he re-
ferred to the proposed buildings as ''Spanish Cast1es.“22]

Even though the new board had reversed the decision, Plumb con-
tinued to use the issue as a ''bloody shirt' in his attacks on the Am-
ericus government. Plumb and his supporters In the southern faction
made it clear that if Americus built any county buildings, they would
refuse to pay any county tax to cover the expense. The News was es-
pecially upset over what it considered an unequal tax levy.

Now, it is well known that about one-half of the

land pre-empted in this county was pre-empted after
the assessment last June, and just before the land
sales. Not one foot of all this land -- not one

foot of all the Kaw Reserve -- will ever be taxed

one cent to pay for these buildings, and the whole
cost of them, together with the other indehtedness of
the county, will leave to be paid this winter by those

few who pre-empted before the assessment was made in
June last.2

On the day before Christmas 1859, the Emporians held an anti-tax
meeting at which they vowed not to pay any tax. S. G. Brown, one of
the organizers of that meeting, claimed that

Most of those who had been instrumental in levying

this tax for county building, lived on the Kaw Re-

serve; and would not be compelled to pay a cent of

the tax, which was levied for the benefit of a few

speculators in one-horse town lots.

When the county board once again voted on the construction of

county buildings it is interesting that several townships reversed their

previous allegiances. The western township of Cottonwood voted against

the construction, the southern and eastern townships of Forest Hill and

221\ bid., March 5, 1859.

222Emporia News, December 17, 1859,

223Ibid., December 31, 1859,
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waterloo Joined A43nes City, Cahola and Fremont in passing the resolution.

Americus abstairi¢d from the voting.zzq

The News maintained that the election which placed the county
seat at Americus was not legal and thus the location was only tempor=-

ary. It was claimed that the election was conducted ''under a defective

né25

law and contary to the course advised by the governor. In an open

letter to the News, signed by ''Taxpayer,' it was charged that Breckin-

ridge was the only county that

located its seat of government in pursuance of this
defective law, and the reason why a vote was taken
on the question in this county under it, was because
the people on the Kaw Reserve wanted the county seat
at Americus, and thought, . . .that if they did not
go into the election, the people in the eastern and
southern portions of the county would, and by their
default, the county seat be claimed at Emporia. On
the other hand, the people .in the southern and east-
ern portions of the county were suspicious that |f
they neglected to go into the election, the people
on the reserve and about Americus would, and Mr.
Baker, at that time Probate Judge and wholly inter~
ested in the latter place, by default of a vote in
the other parts of the county, would declare, as the
defective lgw required, the county seat located at
Americus. 22

Reminding his readers that the question was settled in favor of
Americus by only fourteen votes, the letter writer concluded that

| have not the least doubt but that there were three
times as many illegal votes polled as the majority by
which it was claimed to have been located. This, in
connection with the fact that since that vote was tak-
en about 600 voters have been added to the county, seems
to make it nothing more than proper; right and just,
that the question should be re-submitted, before the
county is plunged into debt, and the people highly

224414, , December 17, 1859.
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taxed to put up building at a county seat,227

The Emporians first challenged the Americus faction by directly
attacking the credibility of the county officials meeting there. A
second method was more subtle, however, as it entailed a division in
the Free State Party. Prior to the 1858 county seat election, Plumb
had been calling for such a division, and shortly after it he announced
the party's demise. In a report concerning the Free State Territorial
convention, the News's editor claimed that the convention '‘was essentially
a failure . . . (and) the main reason was that there is not enough res-
pect left among the adherents of the Free State Party to come up to its

funeral.“228

As previously noted, Plumb was in favor of replacing Free State
dominance with that of the Republican Party. By April 1859, when the
first Republican meeting in Breckinridge County was to have been held,
Plumb made it clear that the three western townships of Agnes City,
Americus and Cahola were excluded from the organizational call.229
The minutes of that meeting, however, show that not only were the
three townships in attendance, but the leaders of those townships, Baker,
Grimsley, and Goddard, were prominent in the meeting. Baker served as
a delegate from Agnes City and on the credentials committee. He also
spoke in favor of a resolution which defended popular sovereignty and

230

any formation of new states 'With or without Slavery.' That resolu-

tion was the only point of controversy in a meeting called to organize the

227 1 bi 4.

Ibid., November 27, 1858.
lbid., April 9, 1859.

Ibid., April 30, 1859.
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local Republican Party, The voting on that resolution closely followed
the division between the Americus and Emporia factions.23]

The first Republican meeting in Breckinridge Canty produced a
total of nine resolutions. Beslides the one which Baker défended, other
resolutions basically praised the natlonal Republican Party for ''its
disinterested devotion to the cause of freedom and right by its stead-
fast and consistent defense of the people of Kansas in the darkest

232

hour of their tribulation, and condemned ''the debauched and de-

233

moralized Black Democracy of this country. The resolution also
attacked the Dred Scott decision and condemned ''with equal abhorrence
Jay Hawking and Fillibustering.“zab Although the resolutions regarded
“the institution of Slavery as a great moral, social and political
evil,"235 they were '"'opposed to extending the rights of suffrage to
free negroes in Kansas,'" and were '"'in favor of the United States pur-
chasing by legal and just means, some portion of Central America and
encourage the colonization of our free blacks thereon."236

Their resolutions very obviously show that these early Republi-
cans were not abolitionists, but stiil carried on the Free State tra-
dition as outlined earlier by Van Gundy. Freedom for these settlers

meant the right for free labor dominance in Kansas and not, in any

modern liberal sense, equality for the Negro.
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The final action taken at this meeting was to select a Republi-
can Centra)l Committee to contlinue the organlzational work of the party.
The three individuals chosen to serve on this committee were nominated
by Baker. With only one member coming from the Americﬁs faction, however,
the Emporia group gained control of the party's leadershlp.237

The first function of thé central! committee was to recommend the
use of primary elections for the nomination of all candidates for county

office.238

If the party accepted this recommendation then the Emporia
faction would be assured of control of all future county offices. Pre-
viously, candidates had been nominated by a county convention system.
Under this system delegates were chosen to represent the various town-
ships for the nomination of candidates. Since tHe selection of these
delegates was based on geographical representation, rather than by pop-
ulation, the smaller western townships were able to maintain a propor-
tion of power greater than their electorate would warrant under the
primary system.

The western townships were not about to give up their power to the
Emporians without a fight. At the next county Republican meeting, the
Americus faction took steps to €nsure the continuance of their political
base of power, the convention system. The western townships used their
delegate power to elect Baker as chairman, and gain control of both the
credentials and resolutions committees. In its resolutions, the conven-
tion deemed ''it injudicious to depart from the delegate Convention system

without the expressed will of the people in convention assemb]ed.”239

237tbid.

2381514, , July 16, 1859.

2391p1d., July 30, 1859.
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ey did, however, allow for the use of the primary system for the selecr
ion of delegates to the county conventions.zl’O
In September 1859, the Republicans met at Fremont to select ''de-

egates to the State and Council District Convention.“zn]

Al though
aker was defeated as a candidate for delegate to the district conven-
ion, the Americus faction was able to add more members to the central
ommi ttee, and thus strengthen their voice In that body.2h2
Baker's political life was constantly one of controversy and
eeming contradictions. Of all his activity, however, no single
spect was more controversial for Baker than his relationship to
he Republican Party in 1859. The nature of that relationship af-
orded Plumb and the Emporia faction their most aggressive attack
n not only Baker's credibility but that of the entire Americus faction.
As previously noted, Baker was prominent in the formation of the
arly Republican Party in Breckinridge. Since the Republican Party was
ecoming the dominant party in not only territorial, but local poli-
ics, it was obvious to the leaders of the Americus faction that they
ould have to assume an active role in order to maintain their power base
n the county.
On October 4, 1859, Baker was chosen an Agnes City delegate to

243

| county convention called '""for the purpose of selecting five dele-

ates to represent Breckinridge county in a Senatorial, Representative,

240 i 4.

Zhlggporia News, September 24, 1859,

2h2 444,

243 5i4., October 8, 1859.
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and Judlcial nominating Convention to be held at Ot tumwa. 1244

For the
first time in county conyentions, the number of delegates allotted for
each township was apportioned demographically. Thus the southern town-
ships, where the greatest population was 1ocated; received the greatest
number of delegates. A second function of the county convention was to
nominate candidates for county of’fice.zl'S
Neither the selection of delegates or the nomination of candidates
seemed to arouse any division at the time of the convention, which was

246

held in Americus. The Emporia faction, led by Plumb, did attempt to

have some of the nominations rescinded at a later convention called for
that purpos«a.zn7 Plumb claimed that ''the true and only cause of the

0248

‘bolt', which is that the whole ticket is not Republican. The edi-

tion of the Americus Sentinel, however, charged that the move was '''sec-

tionalism' . . ., that is a move of the south side of the river against

the north.“z)"9 This charge was referred to by Plumb "as ridiculous as

250 i

it Is untrue." Plumb continued by counter-charging that "If a 'war

of sides' has been or is to be inaugurated, it is the Sentinel's fault
. e .. 251
with a few individuals around it.

No matter what reasons motivated the reconsideration of the party's

2hbyid. . september 24, 1859.
285 151 4
2461514, , October 15, 1859.

2u7lbid., November 5, 1859.

Ibid., October 29, 1859.

2494 40ted in Ibid.
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nominations, the special convention produced only one change and that
was in the nominee for county clerk. Robert Parham of Emporia township
was replaced by David McMillan of Cottonwood Township, Baker .spoke at

the meeting ''respecting the positlons of parties and the object of the
252

Convention.''

Although not chosen a delegate to the Ottumwa convention, Baker
did attend, evidently replacing lra Sequr of Agnes City, who was an
elected delegate, but was not in attendance. At the convention, Baker
played no prominent role except to serve on the credentials commlttee.253
fn October 1859, the Breckinridge Democratic Party was organized
at Americus. Baker's law partner, R. M. Ruggles and long-~time friend,
Withington, were prominent in that organizational meeting.zsh Whether
party lines were clearly drawn by 1859 is unclear. {n listing the Re-
publican ticket for Breckinridge County, S. N. Wood, the editor of the

Council Grove Press, claimed '"that half of them . . .{(are) Democrats, we

always knew the Republicans of Breckinridge did not know their friends.”zSE
Although Wood was never directly involved in the factional dispute

in Breckinridge, his actions did become germane and thus indirectly affect-

ed its outcome. In September 1859, Wood was nominated as the Republican

candidate for the Territorial'legislature'in a district composed of Mad-

ison, Chase and Morris counties. The News reported, 'lt is claimed that

Wood was not fairly nominated . . . (and) the nomination does not give
252|bid., November 5, 1859.
253|bid., October 22, 1859 and Council Grove Kansas Press, October
31, 1859,

258 horia News, October 22, 1859.

255Council Grove Kansas Press, October 31, 1859.
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general satisfaction, and we understand that an independent candidate
will be run in opposition to him."256

The candidate chosen to run against Wood was a Democrat, T. S.
Huffaker, Baker's brother-in~law.257 Although he was not a member of
Huffaker's electoral district, Baker became involved wholeheartedly

in his behalf. Baker attempted to use his influence in Madison county

to gain votes for Huffaker. In October, Baker made a campaign trip
to Madison. In a letter to the Press, a resident of Madison questioned

Baker's credibility as a spokesman for Huffaker. According to that
letter, Baker had claimed that Huffaker, if elected would work in the
legistature '‘to give back to Madison county, the 'three mile strip'
which Breckinridge swindled us out of.”258

Evidently Baker's influence in Madison was not as great as he
had hoped. Huffaker, as shown in Table IX, lost his election bid in
Madison and Chase counties. Huffaker won only in Morris county, but
his victory there was not enough to overtake Wood's total.259

Just prior to the November election Baker renounced his allegiance
to the Republican Party and declared himself a Democrat. Baker's reasons
for switching parties were unclear. Possibly, it was due to his support
for Huffaker. The News, however, stated that Baker claimed '"to have
been impelled by an over-pressure of duty to his political principles to

go over to the Democracy in order to obtain them. 1260

256E@poria News, September 24, 1859.

257council Grove Kansas Press, October 31, 1859.
Ibid., November 7, 1859.
., November 28, 1859.

2605@poria News , September 24, 1859.
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Baker, in a letter to the 'Americus Sentinel], stated that

| have . . . for the last five years been faith-
fully struggling to make Kansas a Free State,
Kansas is FREE; was made so by the Organic Act,
which inaugurated our exjstence . . . . In con-
clusion | am a Democrat, a Douglas Democrat; and
so much do | admire S. A. Douglas, thag | would
regard his death a national calamity.2 1

Wood, in an editorial reference to this statement, attacked Baker for
considering himself the ''Napoleon of Breckinridge County,'" and ques-
tioned what affect his change in parties would have on the territory.262
Concerning Baker's political conversion, Wood concluded that ''we have
noticed however that the sun continues to rise and set as usual, and the
Earth continues its revolutions.“263
Baker's political conversion and his support for Huffaker provided
ammunition for Plumb and the Emporia faction to attack his credibility anc
that of the Americus faction. Prior to Baker's switch in parties, an un-~
named resident from Forest Hill township wrote the News and asked
Can a man be a good Republican and at the same time
work with the Black Democracy? Now, Judge Baker, who,
| understood, styles himself the 'Napoleon of Breckin-

ridge County,' stopped in our place a few nights since
with a pro-slavery Democratic candidate for the legis-

lature in the adjoining counties, . . . . If he is go-
ing with the Black Democracy, let him sever his con-
nection with the Republican Party . . . . {f men are

to pursue such a course as this, | say the sooner t?gh
party lines are drawn, and the tighter, the better.

Baker's response to the attacks on his integrity was to charge

the Republican Party, in a letter to the Americus Sentinel, for the

26]Quoted in Council Grove Kansas Press, November 28,
1859, '

2621 4.

—

263141 4.

2640u0ted in Ibid., December 5, 1859.
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1856 raid on Neosho Rap]ds.265 Plumb, said in an extremely acid re-
ply, '""No such proof exists now or ever has existed; and you well know

it. In making these charges you have violated all decency and truth,
1266

and all claims to respect as a man of honor. Plumb basically

called Baker a hypocrite by recounting his role in the Free State and
Republican parties.

Ever since the organization of the Republican party
in Kansas, you have been a (professedly at least)
zealous worker in Its ranks, and presistant (sic)
seeker after its offices and emoluments; and |
think that you will hardly be allowed at this late
date to turn '"'state's evidence'' to prove the dis-
reputable chaggster of the company you have been so
long keeping.

Plumb concluded his diatribe to Baker

In your eagerness to prove your sudden conversion to

"“sham democracy'' genuine, you have placed yourself

In a very unpleasant dilemma, in which | will take

leave of you, with a word of advice to your allies

-~ to be gareful how they allow you to ''rush into

print.“26

The major question concerning Baker's political allegiance in

1859 was not why he switched to the Democrats, but rather, why he had
joined the Republican Party in the first place. It is the opinion of
this writer that Bailey had been correct In stating that Baker ''always

t,”269

claimed to be a Democra It should be remembered that when Kansas
first became a territory, there were but two organized parties -- Free

State and Proslavery. To Baker, the act of making Kansas free was to

265Excerts quoted in Emporia News, February 4, 1860.
266 b d.

267 14.

268414,

269Bailey, p. k5.
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representation in the selection of delegates was effectively limiting
their voice, By the time of the 1859 fall election in Breckinridge
County, it had become evident to Baker that the two parties were sec-
tional with Emporia controlling the Republicans and Americus the Demo-
crats. Thus Baker jolnéd the Democratic Party because, flrst, he phil-
osophically agreed with it and, second, it was his last hope for retain-
Ing his political power base.

Although Baker had joined the Democrats, he never became as active
in party affairs as in his days with the Free State and Republican parties.
In March 1860 Baker spoke at a Democratic meeting in Americus, declaring
that as '"between Republicans he was for Lane all the time.”273 Wood, the
editor of the Press, commented, ''The meeting endorsed the remark by elect-

W2 74

ing Baker to the Atchison Convention. His name was not on the 1ist

275

of those attending, however, as printed in the Weekly Chamption.

By the beginning of 1860, the Emporia faction had all but accom-
plished its goal of gaining the county seat from Americus. Plumb and
the Emporians found success in the first two phases of their strategy
to gain the county seat, gaining not only the three-mile strip, which
placed Emporia 'in a more central location in the county, but also they
had discredited the Americus government and succeeded in dividing the
county into two political factions. Because of the consistency of these
efforts, there had been a steady erosion of the power of the Americus
backers in county affairs. The Americus group, led by Baker, found it-

self losing the initiative and resorting to a defensive position, one

273Quoted in the Council Grove Kansas Press, March 26, 1860.

27% b4,

275 ptchison Weekly Champion, March 31, 1860.
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in which they could only react to the Emporians' attacks.
Emporiasefforts to gain the county seat, and the resulting in-

crease In power from their attacks on Americus, began to cause alarm

in the counties adjacent to Breckinridge. WOOd; the editor of the

Kansas Press, became very critical of Emporia's actions and In July

1859 printed a scathing editorial. s 70
Q o—:’\’t e ” S (E_
We have no objection, even of Emporia's convolling
and dictating for the whole county of Breckinridge.
But must say that with all their greatness, we can-

not allow them to dictate for us; . . . We expect to go
without, '‘hat in hand,' saying to Emporia, ''by your
leave, sir."

Emporia must recollect that there are other places
In Breckinridge County, and that the selfish and
dictatorial policy pursued by her, must in the fu-
ture, as it has done in the past, result in her in-
jury. Better admit, that Forest Hill, Toledo, Fre-
mont, Waterloo, Risdale and Americus are good points
and encourage all parties to go ahead and build up
the county, than to try and force everything to Em-
poria.

|f Emporia is the natural point, for the great Em-

porium of Southern Kansas, no power on earth can

prevent it becoming such. |f not the natural point,

no amount of Newspaper puffing can make it such.27

By gaining control of the Republiican Party, the Emporians insured

that favorable candidates would not only be nominated, but have an ex-
cellent chance of obtaining office. As long as the county, however, was
governed by a board of supervisors, chosen at the township level, it
would be nearly impossible for Emporia to gain control of the board. It
should be remembered that Baker and Americus had managed to keep the num-
ber of townships in their favor and thus maintain control of the board.

For Emporia to gain control of the county board, it took a power

greater than the editorial prestige of the News. In February 1860, the

276

Council Grove Kansas Press, July 11, 1859,
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territorial legislature changed the make-up of county governments in
that ''the Board of Supervisors, as heretofore constituted, is done
away with, and instead thereof a board of three Commissioners are to
be elected, who are to constitute the tribunal to transact county bus-
iness.'"77 The law also provided for the election of a county asses-

l".278

SO

In an editorial praising this change, Plumb stated,
We hope now that our friends will see to it that
the very best men will be elected to these import-
ant offices. There has been much complaint -~ and
not without some cause -~ of the manner in which
our county and township affairs have been managed
heretofore, and it is desirable, at the approaching
election, to place in office men of integrity and
worth, who will economicallz and carefully conduct
the business of the county. 79
If there was any single moment when the hope of Americus retain-
Ing the county seat became a lost cause, it was when the legislature
replaced the board of supervisors with county commissioners. Since the
commissioners would be elected at large, yet represent districts, it
would be impossible for the Americus faction to retain control of the
county government.
When the new law went into effect, the Americus faction, led by
Baker, panicked. They called a meeting to be held at Americus '‘of the

friends of Breckinridge. . . . The object of the meeting will be to

adopt measures to prevent the enemies of said county from any further

attempts upon the welfare of the same.”280

277Emporia News, March 3, 1860.
278

ibid.

e —g—

273\ b4,

————

8
2801414, , March 10, 1860.
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Plumb, in an editorial, made jest of the call by the Americus
faction for a meeting. Plumb "interpreted'' the call for his readers
thusiy:

AMER|CUS to her friends, greeting: Dearly beloved
=~ |t is high time for you to 'gird on the whole
armor'' and come to my rescue. How can you be so
inactive -~ so regardless of my well-being? .

But alas! my edict to tax has been unheeded -~ my
people have denied the right of "intervention'' by
a foreign power, promounced it ''unconstitutional,"
and continue to resist the payment of this just
tax that | might have the means where with to ggo-
ceed with the erection of so noble an edifice.25!

The Americus faction attempted to ''gerrymander'' the commissioners'
districts. The board of supervisors waited until the Republicans nomin-
ated their candidates and then drew the districts ''so as to place two
of the nominees in one district, and leave one district without a mem-
ber.“282 This attempt, however, was not successful as the Republicans
managed to change their slate of candidates to fit the districts.283

The election, as shown in Table X, resulted in a complete vic-
tory for the Emporia faction. All three Emporia candidates for com-
missioner won by overwhelming margins. The candidate of the Emporia
faction for assessor also won, although by not as large a margin. Con-

cerning the election, Plumb concluded,

Two tickets were in the field at our county elec-

tion held last Monday -- one of which was styled
by a certain faction ''the Americus ticket' and the
other ''the Emporia ticket.'" The issue was drawn,
they said, upon the county seat question -- the
fate of which was to decide its location at one

or the other of the two places next fall. If this

be so, the result must be anything but gratifying

Ibid., March 24, 1860.



RESULT OF FOURTH COUNTY ELECTION
BRECKINRIDGE COUNTY

MARCH 26, 1860
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NAME TICKET OFFICE TOTAL VOTES

J. J. Campbell Americus Commissioner 223
District |

E. P, Bancroft Emporia Commissioner 371%*
District

E. L. David Americus Commissioner 240

' District 11|

Wm. T. Soden Emporia Commissioner 346%
District 1|l

Wm. Richardson Americus Commissioner 240
District 1|

W. B. Davis Emporia Commissioner 346
District 111

S. L. Kenyon Americus Assessor 276

Oliver Philips Emporia Assessor 308%*

*Designates winner.



to those g%ﬁ labored for, and are interested in
Americus.

Al though the Emporians had gained control of the county govern-
ent, the county seat, at least temporarily, officially remained in
A\mericus, The new board of commissioners, however, held all of their
sessions in Emporia, a fact that Plumb never failed to point out as he
braised the new county government in his editorials.

We are happy to inform our readers that the fin-
ancial credit and character of Breckinridge county
is fully redeemed. The new Board of County Com-
missioners, after a laborious session of five days
in this place, ending last evening, have brought
order out of the chaos that had so long existed,
and placed the fénancia] affairs of the county on
a good footing.2 5

Following the election victory of the Emporia ticket, Plumb be-
came as lavish in his praise for the new board, as he was vindictive
in his condemnation of the old.

The judicious action of our county board has re-
sulted very favorably to the best interests of the
county. It has not only relieved the people from
the fear of overwhelming taxation for the purpose of
building towns for speculators who were too imbe-
cile to build them for them selves, but it has put

a positive cash value on the scrip of the county,
which has since circulated freely. Before, it was
valueless; now it has become a medium of gxchange,
which hag faciliated trade wonderfully.28

It is not known if Baker ever really thought of himself as the

"Wapoleon of Breckinridge County,"

as previously charged by both the News
and the Press. By the fall of 1860, it was obvious to Baker that two re-

sults of the spring election would be the loss to Americus of the county

seat, and the loss of influence by the northern section and thus by Baker

284414,

L

285

286
Ibid., May 19, 1860.

[bid., May 5, 1860.
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in Breckinridge County affairs.

By October 1860, Baker had developed a new strategy for the deve-
lopment of a political power base. Thls strategy involved an agreement
with his old adversaries in Emporla, whereby he would support them for
the county seat and '"'in return the Emporia people had agreed to help
create a new county to be composed of the south part of Wabonsee(sic)

’ I w287
and the north part of Breckinridge.

Although Baker had made a deal with Emporia, it was clear that he
did not completely trust his old enemies. This distrust was shown in the
form of three affidavits sent by Baker to the News' editor. These were
sworn to by Baker's oldest friend, Withington; S. M. Leroy, a Justice of
the Peace; and Griffin Sweet, a Methodist minister. All three affidavits
charged that they had been informed by W. A. Shannon, an 0dd Fellow living
on Dow Creek, that the 0dd Fellows of Emporia ''said that they would not
let the people of the north side off until the Bridges are built across
the Neosho and Cottonwood, also a Courthouse and Jail.“288

The publication of the affidavits caused Plumb to deny that Emporia
would betray her new friends in the northern part of the county,.

Now a plain statement of facts should put to rest

all such reports. The citizens of this place have
guarantee to the county the free use of suitable
buildings for Court House, and county offices, for
five years, in case the seat of justice is located
here. This offer is not made to influence votes, but
because we do not want county buildings until the
county is able and willing to build good ones, such
as will be a credit to the town and county. The

building of bridges is a township matter entirely;
and this township is both able and willing to build

287\bid., October 13, 1860.
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her own bridges, and would no doutt have taken

the necessary steps to do so thic year, if the
season had been a good one. Witk regard to ec-
onomy in county matters, we can point with pride

to the action of the board of county commissioners,
elected by Emporia and its friends. (n one short
year, they have reduced the county tax from fifteen
mills to four mills on a dollar. This should con-
vince any candid mind that the "Emporia interest'
is In favor of economy.

In a later issue of the News, Plumb called Shannon a liar by stating

The affidavits . . . , have placed W. A. Shannon in

an unpleasant position, for which we are truly sorry;
but he must bear in mind, hereafter, that "honesty

is the best policy," or if that old proverb is too
strong for him, he can take this: ''a lie persisted in,
is nearly as good as the truth.' 9

Plumb's claims must have been able to reassure Baker, as he began
to campaign in the northern part of the county for Emporia and for a
possible change to be made in the county lines.29!

Regardless of Baker's endorsement, Plumb was not about to become
overconfident of final victory and let down on his attacks on any other
possible candidate for the county seat. In an editorial, Plumb turned
his defense of Emporia into a condemation of her enemies.

Emporia never has, and never will seek to influence

any man vote (sic), in any other way then by fair
arguments supported by facts, which are patent to
any unbiased mind. On the other hand there are
distributed throughout the county, within the past
six weeks, more than fifty deeds to property in
Americus and Fremont, for which there never has
been one cent ''value received;' the consideration
is expected to be a vote for county seat.

This is not mere assertion, but can be readily
proved at any time. Many of these deeds are im-

289

Ibid. ltalics in original.
230)bid., October 27, 1860.

29V |bid., October 13, 1860.
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mediately destroyed by the '‘grantess,'' and ''grant-
ors'' heaped with contempt as they justly deserve,
Emporia has not lots to dispose of in this way; for
these reasons; first it is not only morally wrong,
but is a punishable offence under the laws of the
country; and second our lots are too valuable.292

Plumb's charge against Fremont was denied by Thomas Armor, the

president of its town company. Armor challenged the News' editor for

proof by claiming '"Produce it and | will resign my place in the Com-

pany.

1293

Plumb's reply:

So much for Fremont. The Sentinel does not deny
the charge against them, and we predict will not
until the eve of the election, when there will
not be time to furnish the proof. There are now
at least twenty and probably thirty deeds to Am-
ericus property in the hands of men in Pike town-
ship alone; the holders of which state publicly
in our streets, that they never gave the value of
one cent for them, except to influence them to
vote for Americus.

When proprietors of paper towns, are obliged to
resort to such contemptible meanness as this,

it is time for the people to set the seal of their
condemnation upon them, as Ehey are sure to do on
the 6th of November next.29

Americus was not easily yielding its position as the county seat.

With Baker now supporting Emporia, the major spokesman for the Americus

cause was its paper, the Sentinel. Unfortunately, there is but one

known

issue

tinel

edition of the Sentinel in existence today, and it is a special
about the drought. Known political positions taken by the Sen-
are second-hand accounts printed and commented on in other papers.

Just as the News attacked the county government when it was under

2921bid. Italics in original.
2331bid., October 27, 1860

29l’ll:»ici. ltalics in original.
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ontrol of Americus, so, too, the Sentinel attacked the government
rolled by Emporia. The Sentinel's charges centered on the non-payment
i 11s by the new board.29% Piumb's response to those charges was
t. ""All the answer the above charges require is, that they are
and every one false, simply and rédiculously false.”296

The bidding for the county seat by Emporia and Americus literally
that form -~ bidding. The S€ntinel's response to Emporia's offer
ounty buildihgs free for five years:

The people of Americus township will guarantee to

Breckinridge county a suitable building for a

Court House, free of any expense whatever to

the county. The Court House will be sufficient-

ly large and comfortable to answer the county

for that purpose for ten or fifteen years.29 .

Sentnel added that they were more honest in their offer than Em-

a in that

It would be folly for us to say, as the News
does of their proposition, that this offer is
out of pure charity to the county, for even if
there were none but charitable motive, the peo-
ple would not believe such a statement. The
tax-payers of this township believe that the
value of their property will be increased (by
having the county-seat located at Americus)
sufficient to amply remgnerate them for the
cost of the building.29

Baker!s official endorsement for Emporia came just three days
r to the election. This endorsement was an extremely long article,
ed by Baker and two others, outlining their reasons for supporting

ria.

295Quoted in Ibid.

296Ibid.

2984u0ted in Ibid.
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We believe Emporia should be the county seat, be-
cause she is the center of population in the county

-- she would accomodate a majority of the people of
the county in the transaction of county, and all other
kinds of business. She is the center of trade in coun-
ty, and for upwards of a hundred miles south and west
of here, and for a considerable distance north and
east of her -- she is the largest, and, to-day, the
most flourishing town in central Kansas, made so by
her central position, in a rich, densely settled por-
tion of the Territory. == She is the only market in
this portion of the Territory, where the farmers of
the county can sell their stock, pork, produce, etc.
-- With five large dry goods stores and other branches
of business in proportion, with several large halls,
offices etc. She is better prepared to accomodate

the people of the county, . . . . She does not ask the
county seat to build her up as a town, for her central
position is a sufficient guarantee to her future pros-
perity, though you should locate the county seat with=
in three miles of her.

Most of Baker's endorsement, however, consisted of arguments for
changing the county llnes. Baker first discussed why land should be

taken from Wabaunsee County,

By reference to a correct map of the Territory,

you will see for yourselves, that Waubonsee (sic)

county . . . . is about thirty-five miles long, with

the Kansas river for her northern boundary, and that

her county seat is located at the town of Waubonsee, on
that river. The rich and heavily settled valley of the
Kaw prevents its removal, and the consequence is, that

a large number of people who have settled in the southern
part of that county, are compelled to travel the unrea-
sonable distance of about thirty-five miles, . . . to
transact their county business. We ask you, in all ser-
tousness, if this is not wrong and unjust to that people?
They feel that it is so, and, are working for the forma-
tion of the new county. The people of the northern part

should be cut off, and, will elect a Representative this
fall who will labor in the legislature to accomplish that
object.

Baker maintained that the people of southern Wabaunsee County had sim-

ilar interests to those of northern Breckinridge and thus they should be

299|bid., November 3, 1860.
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united. He further believed that the creation of a new county would

not only increase settlement, but ''you add to the interests of central
Kansas the influence of another county -- you increase our representa-
tion in all Legislatures, which we will greatly need when our lines of
railroads come to be estab]ished.”BOI Baker admitted that such a move

would abolish Madison, but added that such a move was natural and would

happen anyway.302

The Sentinel, however, decried any such change in county lines.

The disorganizers of our county avow the following
changes in county lines as their policy in the next
Legislature: --Winchell, of 0Osage, wants six miles
off the east of Breckinridge; Sam Wood, the Temperance
lecturer and bar-keeper, wants from two to four miles
of f the west; Emporia and its mercenary allies desire
to throw twelve miles off the north, and take all they
can get from the south. Their objects further avowed
that, to create a new town and county seat at 142,
(Withington's) to galvanize the town site of Superior
into existence again, and aid as such changes in lines
will, the forcing of Emporia and Council Grove into

a degree of importance and position which will gratify
the avarice and cupidity of the town speculators in-
terested. 03

Plumb responded to the Sentinel's charges by referring to them as
lies and the ''only thing that will be 'disorganized' will be a gang
at Americus, who have made a living out of the hard-earned money of
the tax-payers of the county.”3ou

The News also announced the discontinuance of the Americus

newspaper in an extremely satirical obituary.

The deceased leaves a large circle of (non-paying)

30T h4.

30211 4.

303Quoted in Ibid.

30h) ;4

—————
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friends, who can only console themselves with the
words of the poet;
"'"Man groweth up like the hopper-grass,
And is cut down like the sparrow grags;
and is burrled like the Jack-ask. (sic) 0
In his first edition following the election, Plumb proudly an-
wounced a victory for which he had worked so long
At last, after more than three years of constant
strife, the people of this county have settled
thelr local differences, and settled them effect-
ually. They have chosen Emporia for the seat of
justice, by an over-whelming majority over all
competitors -~ They have said by their votes in
the most emphatic manner, that they are in favor
of a change in the boundaries of the county on
the North and South. This question was forced
upon us by our opponents, and the opposing can-

didates canvassed the whole county on that issue,
and that alone.306

The vote totals, as shown in Table X!, show an overwhelming victory
for Emporia in the second and final county seat election. There is
no way to judge what influence Baker had on the election, as there

are no records indicating the vote by townships.

Following the election, Baker removed himself from Breckinridge
County politics by purchasing the Press and moving to Council Grove to
publish 1£.397 white editor of the Press, Baker remained optimistic
that his new county would soon be established. 1In May 1861, he announc-
ed the visit of Withington to Council Grove:

Mr. Withington, has laid out and surveyed a town
at this place, which is called Allen. This town,

will, one day, be the county seat of a new county,
305 bid.
306

1bid., November 10, 1860.

307¢or information concerning Baker as editor of the Press,
refer to Chapter |V.



TABLE X1

BRECKINRIDGE COUNTY

ELECTIONS CONCERNING THE ESTABLISHMENT

LOCAT!ON

MERICUS
RECKINRIDGE CENTER
MPORIA
REMONT

OREST HILL

OF A PERMANENT COUNTY SEAT

FINAL ELECTION
NOVEMBER 6, 1860

TOTAL VOTES

Ph1

14
384

73

1

*Designates winner of election,
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to be erectgd out of Breckinridge and Waubonsa (sic)
counties.30

Although Plumb and the Emporia faction had vowed that both the
northern and southern boundaries of the county would be changed, the
net result was that only the southern boundary was changed. This, of
course, resulted in the abolition of Madison Counéy, but not in the
creation of a new county in the northern part of Breckinridge.309

As shown in Figure XIX, the new county board redrew the bound-
aries of the townships. With thé dotted line representing the previous
southern boundary of the county, one can see that the names of two
townships, Cottonwood and Forest Hill,were changed to Pike and Jackson
and their southern boundaries, along with Emporia'% were extended into
the newly acquired strip of land. A new township, Madison, was added,
extending across the county south of these townships. Cahola Township
was abolished. The two mile strip of land on the west, shown on the

Chace,
map with diagonal lines, was given to Morris County.

The 1860 election did not completely settfe the county seat
question. The northern faction soon rejoined the Americus faction,
as they became incensed at not only being denied their part of the bar-
gain with Emporia, but the Emporians poured salt into their wounds by
tacking onto a bill changing the name of the county to Lyon, a resolu-

tion ''declaring that all votes cast by settlers on Indian land were il-

Iegal.“310

308Council Grove Press, May 25, 1861.

309Emporia News, March 9, 1861.

3lo“Americus Lost Out In County Seat War,' Lyon County Clippings,
lXJ September 1950 - June, 1957 (Property of Kansas State Historical
Society Library, Topeka, Kansas, n.d.), p. 273.
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According to a story attributed to Eskridge and told by George
Sié6;s of Americus, the Amerlcus people in retaliation for what they
considered to be an unwarranted act, refused to surrender the county
records to Emporia. Emporia then sent a band of men to liberate the
records. According to Simmons

Three of the horses carried double, and those extra
riders were Eskridge, John Watson and Bill Soden. At
Americus the doors of the courthouse were quickly
battered in and the records taken. Eskridge, Watson,

and Soden took the records, . . . and hid in the tall
grass and weeds, while the mounted bunch lit out west

to Chase County,
The Americus crowd gathered, mounted horses and took
out after them, while Eskridge, Watson and Soden
started on foot for Emporia 31 '
Simmons claimed that while the three were crossing the Neosho River

north of Emporia

Soden fell in. Watson instantly jumped in after him,

calling to Eskridge who was in the lead, to '"‘help me

save Soden.' Eskridge yelled back, '"to hell with

Soden, he can take care of himself. |[|'m saving the

records.'" . . . it is said that the record book Soden

had is water-stained yet:.:“2
Whether this story is true or false is not known, as the early county
records are now missing. This writer has been unable to uncover any
supportive information concerning Simmons's story.

In October 1861, Baker became involved with two protests against

Emporia's control of the county. In that month Baker once again was a
delegate to a Breckinridge County Republican Party convention. The Civil

War had seemingly greatly discredited the Democratic Party in the county,

and Baker was seemingly making an attempt to regain some political in-

31 bid.

312144 4.

P
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fluence in the county. The convention for Baker, however, represented
. . . . 313
his complete loss of political influence in the county.
The purpose of the convention was to nominate candidates of county
offices and "also to elect Delegates to the Judicial and Representative

n31h

Conventions. When the item of business of selecting delegates to

the Representative District convention came up, Baker '‘asked the Conven-
tion to take a recess for fifteén minutes, to give himself and friends

1315

time to caucus.
After the recess, Dr. D. Swim of Americus, who was serving as the
convention's secretary and had remained loyal to the Republican Party
throughout all the earlier factional problems,
complained that the majority were disposed to dictate
to the minority, and the rights of the north side
of the county were disregarded by the convention,
and that as Americus township could not have its
rights in the Convention the delegates from that
township would withdraw, Fremont seemed to be of
the same opinion, and followed Americus.3]
Following the vote on delegafes for the Representative Convention,
Baker "announced his withdrawal from the Convention.“3]7 Why Baker
waited to withdraw is not known. He perhaps hoped for election as a
delegate and possibly even becoming the candidate for representative
himself. When he failed to be elected a delegate, he withdrew. If

Baker had become a member of the House of Representatives, then he could

possibly have established a new county in the northern part of Lyon

3BErrqporia News, October 12, 1861, 27 T, d
34,

315 b1 4.
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County.

Plumb, in an editorIaL claimed, '""The County Convention . . . was
not as harmonious as we could have wished -- six of the delegates having
withdrawn for the alleged reason that they could not obtain what they
perceived to be their rights - - the nomination of certain men for cer-
.tain offices.“3]8

Baker then issued a call for a new political arganization in the
county ''believing that in the present crisis (the Civil War) all former
party organizations should be suspended, and that no organization should
now be recognized.“:)’]9 Plumb, however, two weeks later announced that
the convention ''did not amount to as much as its getters -- up anticipa-

ted it wou]d,”320

and was evidently a failureh This meeting was Baker's
last known political activity in the county.

| The political history of territorial Kansas was paradoxical and
confusing in its contradictions. Baker, as a microcosm of that history,
showed that confusion in his political activities. Even though Baker
was noted for his constant shifting from one political party to another,
he was consistant in his efforts to maintain a leadership role in local
politics.

All political questions seemed to have been directly or indirect-

ly related to the desires of one group or another to gain or maintain
control of the county government and its seat of power. This desire

was related to the benefits they might receive as land promoters and

speculators in their part of the county. The territorial history of

31814,
3191p14.

320lbid., October 26, 1861,
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reckinridge County was the history of the interaction between the
orthern and western townships, who as the county's earliest settled
irea were attempting to retain political control, and the southern and

astern townships, who were attempting to obtain control.



CHAPTER VI

THE FINAL PARADOX

The role of Arthur |. Baker as a person of prominence and in-
luence in Breckinridge County came to an end in November 1860, when
mporia captured the seat of government. By January 1861, Baker had
wved to Council Grove to become the editor and publisher of the

ouncil Grove Press and proprietor of the Union Hotel.‘

Throughout his life as a settler and frontiersman in the early
istory of Kansas, Baker employed himself in many diverse activities
nd roles. Although he had achieved during his lifetime sufficient
rominence in both his public and business lives, Baker was not primar-
ly remembered by the local histories for these achievements. For it
as not in Baker's life that the histories have shown their greatest
nterest, but in his death.

A1l histories concerning the early days of the Upper Neosho
/alley mention Baker's death as one of its most notable events. An
xample of the notoriety given the death of Baker can be seen in the
following account by William Jay, who wrote on local history for the

‘mporia Gazette in 1916:

The territory known as Lyon county had but two
political killings; one was the reckless firing
into a house near Neosho Rapids by some free-
state ruffians, resulting in the death of a
young wife. The other was the deliberate and
cowardly assassination of Judge Baker, gf Agnes
City, by a gang of pro-slavery bandits.

]For a discussion of Baker's economic activities in Council
Grove, refer to Chapter V.

2Quoted in "letter of John C. Van Gundy to William E. Connelley,"
Collections of the Kansas State Historical Society, 1926-1928 (Topeka:
Kansas State Printing Plant, 1928), XV11, p. 595.
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Jay's account was typical in that it generalized the motive of
Baker's death. The events leading up to the killing of Baker, however,
are much more intricate and complicated than the partrayal in local
histories.

The purpose of this chapter is to present a more detailed anayl-
sis of the events surrounding Baker's death and the reason for it. In-
deed, there was no “pqlitical assassination.'" There was a murder of
personal vengeance. As Jay's account indicates, Baker's deatH has been
traditionally considered an incident directly related to the Civil War,
Baker's death was related to the Civil War, but that relationship was
indirect. True, had it not been for the chaos and violence inherent in
the period just prior to and during the conflict, Baker would not have
been involved in many of the activities in which he found himself. Thus
the war years contributed an indirect explanation for the time of the
murder and reasons for it.

To understand the direct reasons for Baker's murder, one must

look at the events of his life. As noted, Baker, by the outbreak of

the Civil War, had become the publisher of the Council Grove Press.

Maloy maintained that, while an editor, Baker had 'in almost every is-
sue . . . denounced the South for her treason and pleaded for a union
of all the States.”3

A study of the editorials in the Press, while Baker was editor,
reveals that Maloy was correct in saying that éaker was opposed to seces-
sion. This does not mean, however, that Baker was in favor of the

North's immediate coercion of the South. It should be remembered that

Baker was ~at heart, a businessman, and such was interested in maintaining

3council Grove Kansas Cosmos, May 7, 1886.
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a stable political situation. |If stability could be maintained, then
business could continue as usual,

This attitude can be seen in an editorial in which Baker discus-
sed the advantages and {mportance of retaining Missouri in the Union.
According to Baker, {f Missouri could be induced to remain loyal to the
Union, then peaceful and profitable relations would be maintained between
that state and Kansas.

In every Interest the two commonwealths are identified, ex-
cept that of slavery, and that dwindles down into an abstract
question when compared with the multifarious advantages that

mus t resg!t from a perfect fraternal intimacy in commercial
affairs.

I'4
(e

R
The importance of these two states,S according to Baker, “that they

served jointly as the gateway to the far West and were dependent econom-
ically on that position. The economic interrelationship between the
two states was such that ""either one of which can lay an embargo that

Il6

would distress the other beyond calculation. If conflict did come
between Kansas and Missouri, however, Baker maintained that ''Kansas
would suffer the most . . . . Missouri would be an almost insurmountable
barrier against us, so feeble are we in resources, from the blighting
effects of the burning drought of lést year.”7

In his editorials, Baker took those to task who were calling for

the North to march their armies into the South to coerce it into return-

ing to the Union. For Baker, peace was perferable to war and

ACOuncil Grove Press, April 20, 1861.

Skansas was admitted as the thirty-ninth state of the Union,
January 29, 1861.

6council Grove Press, April 20, 1861.

71bid.

i tmiagpnre.
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This happy consumation can be realized if the war-
like spirit that irrepressibly is glowing in the
bosoms of thousands who are desperately longing
after glory on the gory battle field. {f men could
feel and know that ninety-nine out of a hundred who
go to war, never reap military honors, and that most
of them only find llngering, agonizing, and horrible
oblivious annihilation. This is a war picture, but
it is true. God grant that Missouri and Kansas wié]
not, like Media (sic), butcher their own children.

A second example of Baker's disdain of any possible coercion of

the South was in an editorial taking Massachusetts to task for advocating

it.

The State of Massachusetts is becoming rampant over
the secession of the Southern States; goes in for
coercion, and abuses the President because he didn't
hang Hayne, the South Carolina commissioner. Go slow,
you old Federal humbug. We would like to know if
your resolutions of 1814, declaring Massachusetts out
of the Union, have ever been gescinded. President
Madison graciously received your commissicners then,
We wonder if the people of that belligerent State,
recollects, that while they were hatching treason in
the year 1814, Gen. Jackson, with his Kentuckians,
were pouring hot shotand shell into the British at
New Orleans.

Baker was greatly disheartened by the schism in the country
and the growing possibility of war.
A deep, earnest, and growing solicitude prevades
the hearts of union loving, conservative men in all
parts of the country, as the period rapidly approaches

which is to_tell so vitally upon the future history of
the nation.

The editor of the Press blamed the nation's problems on those whom he
considered radicals in both the North and the South. He was particular-

ly contemptuous of what he felt to be the self-righteousness of the North.

e e——

8ibid.
9

Ibid., February 16, 1861.

[uERRaEY

10\bid., February 23, 1861.
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It is a fact that can not be controverted, that the
troubles that now environ the nation, have, in a
great measure, sprung from a kind of self-righteous=~
ness prevailing in the northern States, and more
especially in New England; men there run wild upon
the subject of philanthropy; they are outrageously
humane and sympathetic -- |If a moral undertaking is
impracticable, the more zealously they advocate it,
It Is this selfrighteous principle that pre-
mises, because the people of the south do not think
and act upon certain local subjects as we do at the
north, that the south must be necessarily wrong.‘]

Baker was equally critical of the South's radicals.

The South has refused all and every overture of a
peaceful nature. Nothing, say they, will ever in-
duce the Southern Confederation to listen to any
proposition coming from the government; very well,
let it be so. This country was a scene of peace,
but the Southern demon, of a fanatical war spirit,
is about to transform it into a scene of blood. 2

To Baker, the real culprits of the nation's problems were the
states of New England and the Peep South. Baker was constant in his
helief that these two regions were working against the Union and for

sectional interests.

The people of the United States, are paying 30 per
cent, on sugar imported from Cuba and other foreign
countries for the benefit of Louisiana; and that
State is not satisfied - - has gone out of the Union.
The people of New England have been waging a war
against the institutions of the South, at the same
time are protected in the carrying trade by discrim-
inating laws in their favor, by the United States, so
that no foreign bottom can compete with them. 13
~ Ay, Toaiton
Baker's conclusion was that the whole situation, as found at the be-

ginning of the Civil War, was ''a commentary . . . upon the madness of
n.Bn.ll]h
Hibid.

2yhid., April 20, 1861.

131bid., February 16, 1861.

PR —.

Thipid.
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The editor of the Press belleved that with New England pressing
its attitudes upon the South and the South reacting by secession from
the Union, that the only hope for saving the Union ''is now left entlirely
with the North and Qest. I f they fail to do it, posterity will hold
fhem responsible, the conservative people of the South are powerless.“]5

Although the EIEEEJS edi tor had long been an admirer and supporter
of Stephen A. Douglas, when Douglas was defeated by Abraham Lincoln in
the presidential election of 1860, Baker editorially supported the new
president, ''as far as his official acts shall compare with . . . (his)
ideas of right and justice, to the several sections of our c0untry.”]6

The editorial support by Baker, for the newly elected president,
was a potpourri of sympathy, apprehension and hope, The editor of the
Press made it clear that he supported Lincoln for the office which he
held, not for the issues or people who elected him to that office. In
fact, the sympathy which Baker expressed for Lincoln concerned the man-
ner in which he was elected.

Unfortunately for the peace of the country, the
President elect was bourne (sic) into office

upon the shoulders of a sectional party -- openly
hostile to the cherished institutions of a large
portion of the country.l7

The apprehension expressed by Baker concerned the uncertainty
which he felt for his country's future

A deep, earnest, and growing solicitude pervades
the hearts of Union-loving, conservative men in

all parts of the country, as the period rapidly
approaches which is to tell so vitally upon the

Ibid., March 30, 1861.

]7Ibid., February 23, 1861.

e
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future history of the nation.!8

For Baker, the best hope for the nation was in the new president.
Baker was pleased with Lincoln's Inaugural address and referred to it
as “'eminently conci]iatory.“19 Baker stated that the new president's
policy averted war and
. gives us infinite and unexpressible joy. The
Southern States will now all return in due course of
time. The border States are now satisfied of the
fraternal disposition of the northern people toward
them. 20
Unfortunately Lincoln's concilatory policy was unsuccessful
and war came. Baker resigned himself to this fact and called for
action.
Arm to the muster -- grim-visaged war is upon us;
we did not precipitate it, but we must meet it |ike
men == our cause is just -- the Constitution that
Washington and his compeers gave us, we must defend,
et what will come =-- it is right -- and God is al-~-
ways with the right.2]
Baker's loyalty to the Union was not just one of editorial support.
It was expressed more vividly in his actions concerning the formation of
a local militia unit. Baker was responsible for the organization of "A
Company of Volunteers called the Frontier Riflemen . . . organized at

n22

Council Grove, Kansas, numbering 50 men. At its first meeting, Baker

was chosen to lead the company as its Captain.23

]BLELQ

1bid., March 16, lésl.
ZOLELQ" March 23, 1861.
21ibid., May 11, 1861,

zzﬁmporia News, May 13, 1861,

23|bid.; Council Grove Press, May 11, 1861.
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Baker believed that there was a two-foid need for the organiza-
tion of local milita. At a meeting in Emporia, on May 15, 1861, Baker
discussed '"the issues of the day, and the duty of the citizens of Kansas
in general and of the Neosho Valley In particular In the present crisis
of affairs.“zu During that speech, Baker stated that the citizens should
prepare to defend themselves from ''the Indians should they become trouble-

S’
some, and figr~the Border Ruffians of Missouri, should they make any de-

monstration.''2?
Baker's primary concern for his company of volunteers was the
procurement of weapons. In his call for the unit's first drill; Baker
stated that ''all the members are expected to be present, with guns if
possible; any kind of guns will do.“26 As its commander, Baker had
hoped that "Arms and ammunition; . . . can be obtained of the proper
authorities free of charge.“27
By virtue of his command of the "Frontier Riflemen,' Baker met at
Emporia with the officers of the Sixth Regiment of the Southern Military
Division of Kansas to elect Regimental and Brigade officers. Baker ser-

28

ved as secretary of that meeting. Although Baker expected his com-

pany to be shortly called into active service,29 no evidence indicates

that this ever occurred. The unit probably served as a rallying point

2I*Errjporia News, May 18, 1861.

251pid.

Council Grove Press, May 11, 1861,

27\bid., May 4, 1861,

28Ibid., May 18, 1861; Emporia News, May 18, 1861.

29Council Grove Press, June 22, 1861,




207

for the local citizens of Council Grove during the uncertainty of those
chaotic beginning days of the war. As the war developed, those citizens
who fought in it evidently Joined with regular units of the state mili-
tia and the "Frontier Riflemen' thus quietly disbanded.

Shortly following his activity with the "Frontier Riflemen,' Baker
became involved with the most controversial event of his entire life.
That event was his arrest in Missouri and imprisonment and trial at Fort
Scott for attempting to join the Confederate Army.

Maloy claimed that "'in order that his {(Baker's) motives may not be
misunderstood, . . . (one must) give a detail of the circumstances attend-
ing, his capture by the Union forces, his subsequent impressment, trial
and other facts connected therewith.'3% Since Baker's activity in Mis-
souri immediately preceded and was indirectly related to his death, it is
important that this event be discussed.

The life of Arthur Baker was one of constant paradox for the his-
torian. When the Civil War began in 1861, Baker was a businessman, pub-
licist and military leader seemingly loyal to the Union., By the begin-
ning of the second year of the war, Baker was in prison at Fort Scott,
charged with supporting the secessionist cause. Although Baker claimed
he was innocent of any wrongdoing, testimony given by his contemporaries
indicated otherwise.

When Baker returned to Agnes City, in April 1862, he wrote a letter

to the editor of the Emporia News wherein he declared his innocence.

Baker charged that while he was imprisoned, he had been deserted by his
friends. In his letter, Baker compared his situation to the ''story of

the desertion of Christ by the Apostles, when he was arrested by Pilate's

30council Grove Kansas Cosmos, May 7, 1886.
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soldlers.”sl Although Baker promised to eventually tell why he went

to Missouri and what he did there, that explanation was not forthcoming.
It was for that reason Maloy claimed that 'We, of course, cannot know
what his (Baker's) motives were .32 Regardless of that acknowledgement,
Maloy stated that, in his opinion, the reason for Baker's venture into
Missouri was '"'to seek relief from the sorrow and anguish of mind caused
by the death of his wife.“33 Maloy claimed that he ''saw Baker the morn-
ing of his capture in Missouri . . . (and) he seemed to be laboring under

some kind of abnormal excitement, and we were at a loss to understand

w3

the man.
It is the opinion of this writer, however, that Baker's "anguish
of mind"' was undoubtedly caused by more than just the immediacy of his
wife's death. If Baker's venture into Missouri was caused by depression,
then that depression was the result of an accumulation of frustrations
in every phase of his life: public, private and business. Baker's wife,
Susan, died in March 1861, but his business activities in Council Grove
continued until October of that year.35
At the same time that Baker's Council Grove business enterprises
failed in October 1861, his frustrations were compounded by his failure
to reenter the mainstream of Breckinridge County politics when he was

36

forced to withdraw as a delegate to the county Republican Convention.

3]Emporia News, April 12, 1862.
32

Council Grove Kansas Cosmos, May 7, 1886,

331b1d.

[P

34 1pi4.

35For a discussion of the relationship of Susan Baker's death
to Baker's business activities in 1861, refer to Chapter V.

36Emporia News, October 26, 1861.
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There were possibly two other frustrations affecting Baker at that time.

His military career seemed temporarily stalled by the failure of his unit
to be called up and his long-promised hope of having a new county formed

out of northern Breckinrlidge and southern Waubaunsee counties was ob-

37

viously lost.

Despite Baker's profession of complete innocence, the circumstan-
tial evidence that he was Involved in some illicit activity is worth
noting. What precisely was that activity? Unfortunately, it is still
unclear because the various hlstorical accounts and records are in con-
tradiction to each other.

Maloy stated that ''Baker claimed to be on his way to join the South-
ern army, and exhibited a paper which he claimed was a commission as Colo-
.38 |

nel in the Confederate army. The Emporia News reported that when

Baker was captured, he was wearing ''a suit of secession soldier clothes.“39
Concerning such reports, Baker charged that

Strange and mysterious stories have been told and been
published concerning my arrest and incarceration, all
of which were deliberate lies from beginning to end.
My object in going to Missouri was not to act in anta-
gonism to my Government, but, on the contrary, was ad-
vised by those who have the welfare of the Nation and
Kansas at heart, for an entirely different purpose.

Baker did not elaborate on the nature of that '"entirely different pur-
pose.'"' He did, however, emphatically state ‘‘that it is impossible for

Wl

me to be a secessionist.

37For a discussion of Baker's hope for the creation of a new
county, refer to Chapter V.

38

Council Grove Kansas Cosmos, May 7, 1886.

3emporia News, December 7, 1861.
A

Otbid., April 12, 1862.

bbid.



A contemporary of Baker's, 0. F. 0'Dell, claimed that Baker was
the leader of a '"company of bushwhackers fromed on Bluff and Rock Creeks,
Lyon Co., Kansas . . . (who) went on a raid somewhere down on the bor-
der counties and near the Misséuri line and made a successful haul from
the 1’armers.“l’2 0'Dell stated that while in Missouri, ''They happened
to run into a squad of home guards, and Baker was captured and taken to
Fort Scott and put into the guardhouse.”l’3

O0'Dell's charge that Baker was the leader of a gang of bushwhackers
seems valid for several reasons. First, when Baker was tried by a mili-
tary commission, on March 24, 1862, it was in connection with a court-
martial of a member of the First Kansas Cavalry for jayhawking.h“

The second reason giving credence to 0'Dell's claim would be the
reputation of those with whom Baker went to Missouri. Maloy stated that

‘'‘Baker was accompanied by the man Ratcliffe, who was killed, and by Bill
Anderson and Bert Griffin, who escaped, together with Richard Pinson.“z*S
0'Dell stated that James Anderson, BIll's younger brother, and William

Reed, who with Griffin were cousins to the Andersons, were alsqﬁ in the

party.l+6 A1l of these individuals have been accorded unfavorable reputa-

420{ F. 0'Dell, "Along the Santa Fe Trail, And the Parts Respec~
tively Played by 'Jim' and 'Bill' Anderson, and Members of their Infa-
mous Gang, in the Early '60's," Border Ruffian Troubles in Kansas (Lyndon:
L. D. Bailey, 1899), p. 48.

431p 1.

qq”Proceeding of a Military Commission, A. J. {(l.) Baker,'" War
Department Collection of Confederate Records, Citizen File. (Copy
from The National Archives, Record Group No. 109.)

bSCouncil Grove Kansas Cosmos, May 7, 1886.

b6y, p. Bailey, ""Along The Santa Fe Trail, Bill Anderson's Gang,
And the Killing of Judge Baker, of Lyon County,'" Early Day's In Kansas
(0lathe: Charles R. Green, 1912), p. 46.
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tions. L. D. Bailey ;lained that '""The Andersons were from Missouri and
of a rough type, and their reputation as to horsg flesh was somewhat un-
savory.“b7

John Ratcliff, who was shot and killed at the time of Baker's cap-

‘ture,h8 likewise was of disreputable character. 1in a letter to Baker,

dated March 10, 1861, Ratcliff, who was at that time in Colorado Terri-

tory, admitted to have previously stolen some horses from S. N. \e-lood."'9
Ratcliff also commented on efforts in Colorado for secession.
We, however, had commenced arrangements for secession,
and consequently are not inclined to accept the kind
offering of Congress, but rather inclined to aggert
our rights as independent freemen .”?
Ratcliff claimed that they had ''made treaties of allaince (sic)
with all the Indians and . . . . Our merchants are going to the States

this Spring, to get all the goods they can on tick, before the articles
of secession are published.“sl

Although Ratcliff had requested of Baker that '"These things you
must keep to yourselif, for | would be pointed at as a traitor, if it
was known that | had peached,'l‘52 the Press's editor promptly printed
the letter.

The last reason why this writer agrees with 0'Dell's assertion is

the fact that Baker was captured ''by a detachment of the Sixth Kansas

TSR

hsEmporia News, December 7, 1861.

49Council Grove Press, April 20, 1861.

501bid.



According to Hane H. Haynes, whose husband was a Captaln

in the Sixth, “They done garrison duty, and duty around the border,

watching for the rebels and bushwackers, and s0 on.”sh
According to Maloy, Baker was ''acquitted, as there was no proof

of disloyalty.“ss

In reality, according to the transcript of the mili-
tary commission, this was not exactly true, as the Judge Advocate pre-
ferred '""no charges against the prisoner, the prisoner was ordered to be
discharged from custody forthwith.!'56 Baker claimed that the reason
why no charges were preferred, was ''Because they had none!'®7  0'pel)
however, claimed that Baker was released ''Through the influence of
friends."58
If Baker went to Missouri as a marauder or javhawker, it is pos-
sible that he did such not as part of the Confederate Army, but rather
as part of the Union. The '!Kansas Brigade,' under General James H.
Lane, was stationed in the vicinity of Fort Scott. Lane's brigade was

widely noted for its '"lawless and predatory character."®9 Lane's men

were notorious for activities not unlike those listed in Baker's accu-

53Council Grove Kansas Cosmos, May 7, 1886.

5l’”lnterview with Mrs. Jane H. Haynes, widow of Capt. Charles H.
Haynes of the Sixth Kansas Cavalry, January 17, 1980," (typed copy in

the Sixth Kansas Cavalry File; Archives, Kansas State Historical Society,
Topeka, Kansas).

55council Grove Kansas Cosmos, May 7, 1886.

56"Proceedings of a Military Commission.'

57Emgpria News, April 12, 1862,

5891pell, p. 48.

59%endell Holmes Stephenson, The Political Career of General
James H. Lane (Topeka: Publications of the Kansas State Historical
Society, 111, 1930), p. 114.
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sations. 'His requﬁgts ‘contained much of thatvfree and reckless
fighting material of the frontiet, which had been educated by the
Missouri border rufflans to guerrila me thods . 1160

Baker had long been a political supporter of James Lane, pic-
tured in Figure XX, and even had indicated an admiration for the ''Gen-
eral's'" military prowess. Politically, Baker once commented, '‘He was
for Lane all the time.”6] As editor of the Press, Baker fully supported
Lane's candidacy and election as the first United States Senator from
Kansas; Further, the Press's editor claimed, 'We believe him to be
a warrior and a statesman.“62

It is possible that if Baker was '"'laboring under some kind of ab-
n63

normal excitement, as Maloy observed, then he may have confused the

situation to the extent of actually believing that he was working in con-
junction with Lane. |t was perhaps Lane who was referred to by Baker as
being one of

those who have the welfare of the Nation and Kansas

at hearF .« . (and) advi§ed (me.in) . . . going ég

Missouri . . . for an entirely different purpose.

Regardless of Baker's reason for going to Missouri, following his

release from the Fort Scott Stockade, pictured in Figure XXI, Baker re-
turned to his home in Breckinridge founty. The exact date of that return

65

is not known. Maloy claimed that it was ''in March or April, 1862."

60quoted in Ibid.

6]Quoted in the Council Grove Kansas Press, March 26, 1860.

62/hid., March 16, 1861.
63

Council Grove Kansas Cosmos, May 7, 1886.

ehﬁmporia News, April 12, 1862.

6SCouncH Grove Kansas Cosmos, May 7, 1886.




FIGURE XX

General James H. Lane, early military leader and
first United States Senator from Kansas. Baker
had long been a follower and supporter of Lane's
political and military activities. It Is pos-
sible that in his own mind, Baker went to Mis-
souri as a Lane partisan. At the time of Baker's
arrest and imprisonment, Lane was the military
commander of the federal troops at Fert Scott.

His aquittal was possibly due indirectly to Lane's
influence. (Courtesy of the Kansas State Historical
Society.)



FIGURE XXI

"‘fh"“""‘f""‘n T‘h.

9, g " e =
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United States military stockade at Fort Scott,
Kansas. It was in this building that Baker
was imprisoned as a secessionist from November
1861, to the dismissal of charges against him
on March 24, 1862. (Courtesy of.Kansas State
Historical Society.)
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0'Del)l stated that Baker returned ''About the lst of May.”66 Available

evidence seems to agree with Maloy, in that Baker's trial was on March

24, 186267 and his letter to the News declaring his innocence was dated
April 9, 1862.68 Thus one could assume that Baker returned to Breckin-
ridge County sometime around the first of April.

Upon his return to Agnes City, Baker proceeded to put the various
pieces of his life back together. |In his letter to the News, Baker indi-
cated that he had everything to live for at this point in his life.
‘Baker claimed that all his relatives, as well as '"all i love best on
earth, is here.“69 He further stated that besides all his property
being still intact around Agnes City, his Sac and Fox claims, '"'of sever-
al thousand dollars,'" had just been settled in his favor by the govern-
nent.70

There is one aspect of his life that Baker almost immediately
moved to fulfill upon his return to Lyon County. This was an attempt to
fill the void created by the death of his wife, Susan. Upon his return,
Baker proceeded to date the young daughter of a neighbor, who was William
C. Anderson. From this moment on, Baker's future was directly tied to
the Anderson family.

Baker had once referred to Anderson as his "esteemed friend

whose pleasant family know how to entertain their friends.“71 Whether

660 1pe 11, p. 48.
67"Proccedings of a Military Commission."

68§gporia News, April 12, 1862.

69 1bid.

lbid.

Tlcouncil Grove Press, June 22, 1861}.
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Baker was making reference to Anderson's oldest daughter, Mary, at this
point is doubtful. Yet by the time of his return to the Upper Neosho
Valley, Baker was making such frequent visits to Anderson's home, at the
Bluff Creek crossing of the Santa Fe Trail, that one contemporary claimed
that "“Anderson chose to consider that he (Baker) was engaged to marry
his daughter."72
Before that engagement could be reallzed, however, Baker showed
the same inconsistancy in his dating life that he had previously shown
in his political life. ''‘Baker be came engaged to another young lady, the
daughter of a recent settler in the neighborhood, who had taught a school
there."73 Baker's new bride-to-be was Annis Segur, a young girl of sev-
enieen, born in the State of New York.7h Annis's father, Ira B. Segur,
and his family had moved to Kansas either in late 1859 or early 1860.75
Both Baker family history and Maloy claim that the Segur family had been
living with Baker at his home in Agnes City.76 The 1860 Census and the
1861 Tax Roll for Breckinridge County, however, state that Segur had his

own property.

About the time that Baker's engagement was announced, a team of hor-

728ailey, p. L6.

73Ibid.

741860 Kansas Census. The tombstone of Annis Segur Baker Sommers

in Greenwood Cemetary (Council Grove, Kansas) gives her birthdate as April
24, 1845 and death as May 14, 1875.

75The 1859 Territorial Census had no listing for Segur, but the
1860 Kansas Census listed him as a farmer.

7611gaker Family Genealogical History'' (Property of Fannie Axe);
Council Grove Kansas Cosmos, May 7, 1886.

771861 Tax Assessment Roll, Breckinridge County.; 1860 Kansas
Census.
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ses was stolen from Segur. The alleged horse thief was Lee Griffin,
a cousin of the Anderson brothers, and one of the gang of raiders who
rode with Baker to Missouri.79 it is not clear whether the two Andersons
were directly involved in the actual crime or whether they were only
_tied to It by rumor. It is clear, however, that there was only a warrant
Issued for Griffin at this point.8o

In response to the theft of not only Segur's horses, but also ''the
belief that an organized gang of thieves had their headquarters in their
midst,“81 Baker and his neighbors began a long search for Griffin and the

82

stolen horses. In that search '""Baker had gone west beyond Council
Grove, meeting Lee Griffin, who had been out west and had traded the
horses on the (Santa Fe) road.”83

Why Baker had not arrested Griffin at that time is not now known.
Perhaps Baker was primarily interested in only the return of the horses,
or, due to his previous association with Griffin, perhaps he for some
unknown reason did not wish to harm his former compatriot. For whatever
reason, Baker continued west where he found the two horses about eighty

84

mi les beyond Council Grove. Van Natta states that Baker found one of

78Jacob Van Natta, ''Santa Fe Trail Experiences,' Early Days In
Kansas (Olathe: Charles R. Green, 1912), !{, p. 54, Van Natta claimed
that they were ''a span of fine bay horses.'

0'Dell, p. 48. 0'Del) claimed that they were "a pair of large
iron-gray horses."

790'Dell.

80Van Natta.

Blgmporia News, May 17, 1862.

82114,
83Van Natta.

BQEmppria News, May 17, 1862.
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ur's horses on a ranch, and ''the other in the hands of a Mexican on
road.”85 Baker then arrested the Mexlcan and returned with him to
home on Rock Creek, where "he (the unnamed Mexican) was bound over

appear at District Court.'"88  The Emporia News later reported that the

ican was ''one of the gang of horse thieves and desperados to which

‘ ll87

- Andersons belonged.
When the news of the arrest warrant for Griffin reached the elder

lerson, he, with his oldest son, Bill, ''saddled up their horses, rode

to Baker's and told him if he did not have the warrant withdrawn by

A.M. next day they would surely kill him, and rode away.“88
The Emporia News, stated that '"Anderson, and his son, . . . were

nected by rumor, with the horse thieves, (and, that) Baker, among
ers, had spoken of Anderson in that connection.“89 It was for that,
d perhaps one or two other reasons, which it is not necessary to make
)lic, (that) Anderson sought his 1ife."90 Bailey claimed that one of
se other reasons was Baker's reneging on what Anderson supposed to be
engagement to marry his daughter.sl

The News claimed that the elder Anderson had taken a double-barrel-

d shotgun92 and was intent upon killlng Baker right then and there.

85Van Natta, p. 55.

86Emporia News, May 17, 1862.
87

Emporia News, July 12, 1862.

8851 pe11, p. 49.

89§mporia News, May 17, 1862.

901bid., July 12, 1862.
9]Bailey, p. L6,

92The weapon which Anderson carried had been previously borrowed
om Bailey, ''for the purpose of killing ducks.'" Ibid.
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Anderson's son, however, ''prevented the execution of the threat, and
Anderson went away."93

Anderson's threat to Baker occurred on Sunday, May 11, 1862.9q
That evening Anderson went to Emporia, where he proceeded to become quite
drunk. Van Natta, who had been a member of the posse In search of the
stolen horses, had a run-in with Anderson at hils home, early the follow-
ing morning, and claimed that Anderson 'was yet under the Influence of
liquor.”95

Later that morning as Van Natta was traveling east from Baker's on
the Santa Fe Road, he, along with several others, including Segur and
Baker's financee, again met Anderson, this time 'with his double-barrel-
led gun, loaded and cocked.”96 Van Natta claimed that Anderson ''was very
abusive and threatened us . . . . (and) insisted on us going back to
Baker's with him which we did.“97

The party reached Baker's about noon and Anderson went into the
house in search of Baker.98 Baker was upstairs in the house, where
the Mexican was being held. Anderson, who 'was in a bad humor,"99
started up the stairs ''avowing his intention to kill him (Baker).”]OO

When Anderson reached ''about half-way up, Baker appeared at the head of

93§mporia News, May 17, 1862.

341 bid.

95van Natta, P. 54,
9 bid., p. 55.
Ibid., p. 56,

98Emporia News, May 17, 1862.

99Van Natta.

‘OOEmporia News, May 17, 1862.
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he stairs and shot Anderson through the breast, killing him instant-

y'u]01

Baker family history claimed that Anderson had been ''crazy with
rink and walked Into . . . (Baker's) house and began shooting at him.
n defense, . . . (Baker) killed him.'102 Although no other accounts

laim that Anderson actually fired his weapon, both Maloy and the Empo-
ia News stated that Baker fired in self-defense.lo3 Van Natta, who
erved on the jury '"for the coroner's inquest trial' of Baker for
nderson's death, stated that he was acqultted.lou
Van Natta also claimed that the Mexican was tried and acquitted.
he News, however, reported that on the night of the day that Anderson
as kllled, "a crowd of armed men, numbering thirty or fourty (sic) had
ollected at Baker's, full of vengeance for all horse thieves. Soon
fter dark, the Mexican was suddenly seized and taken from the room and
he custody of the constable to the woods nearby, and hung to the near-
st tree until dead.“]05
Maloy claimed that upon returning Segur's horses, Baker ''at once
nade affidavit and had a warrant issued for the arrest of the Anderson

||]06

30ys . There is, however, no other record of any official charges

nade against the Andersons. Van Natta states that BI11 Anderson ''who

lbid.

'02ugaker Family."

103¢ouncil Grove Kansas Cosmos, May 7, 1886,; Emporia News
July 12, 1862.

104

Van Natta, p. 56.

losgmporia News, May 17, 1862.

]06Council Grove Kansas Cosmos, May 7, 1886,
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had gone as escort to Lee Griffin, returned in time to attend the
trial."1%7  The News reported that

during the afternoon of Monday (the day of his father's

death), young Anderson came to Baker's and deljvered

himself up to the authorities, to save himself from a

mob which he said was being ralsed . . . to hang him,.

Fearing, however, that the authorities would not be

able to protect him, he gave bail, mounted a fleet

horse, and started for Missouri.!08
It is possible that this was the same mob who upon reaching Baker's, and
finding that Bl1l Anderson was not there, proceeded to hang the ill-fated
Mexican,

0'Dell, however, presented a different version of basically the

same story. O0'Dell claimed that Bill Anderson came to ''One Hundred
Fourty Two Mile Creek (sic),' where 0'Dell lived, 'for the burial of his
father.”109 Van Natta confirmed the fact that that was where the elder
Anderson was buried.”0 0'Dell claimed that

after the burial, (Bill Anderson) stood his examination

before Squire Tenager, at 142 Creek. He employed an at-

torney by the name of Rug(g)les, of Emporia, Kansas. The
complaint or warrant being defective, Bill was set at lib-

erty, he mounted his horse (Silver Heels) and rode away
before other papers could be issued.
Just after Anderson's acquittal, C. H. Withington, Baker's close
friend, remarked ''that there had been a time in Kansas when there would

have been no chance for lawyers to pick flaws in papers; that such crimes

as Anderson's would have been punished on the spot.“”2 According to

lo7Van Natta.

108Emporia News, May 17, 1862.

10991 pe11, p. 9.
IIOVan Natta, p. 57,
1Mg1pert.

112 h14.

PRNSRER
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Dell, young Anderson, upon ''overhearing the remark, grabbed an ax
ndle and dealt the old man a fearful blow, knocking him down; he then
unted his horse and f"]e.d."”3 The News claimed that as he fled, Bill

nllh

derson ''swore vengence on Baker and others. In early June, just
ree weeks following the death of Anderson and Baker's marriage, 'a
ranger with a team came and moved the Anderson family away from the
:ighborhood.“”S

Two days after the tragedy of Ndb@rson's death Baker proceeded
th his planned wedding to Annis Segur.”6 Bailey sarcastically re~-
irked that ''the wedding was not postponed on account of the weather,
>r, yet, on account of the funeral."117

With the various parts of his life being put back together follow-
1g his marriage, Baker ''continued to reside at his old place and carry
' business as usual.””8 Baker's business was, at that time, almost
btally confined to running his farm and store at Agnes City.]]9 Ev-
djently his store was doing such a good business in supplying goods to

e wagon trains on the Santa Fe Trail, that a younger brother of his

ife lived in his family and acted as clerk and general helper.“]20

"3ibid., p. 50.

]]hﬁmporia News, July 12, 1862,

1150 pet7.

]]6Morris County Marriage Records, Book A (Office of the Probate
udge, Morris County Courthouse, Council Grove, Kansas). County records

ive the wedding date as May 14, 1862 and the ceremony was performed by
he Reverend Joab Spenser.

117

Bailey, p. L6.

llslbid.

]]9“Baker Family."

]zoBailey. p. L6,
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Thus Baker seemingly concerned himself with his business rather
than the stated threat against his life by the Anderson brothers. The
News later commented, ''It is a little surprising to us that, with his
natural shrewdness, he-shou]d not have been more guarded.”‘ZI

There is, however, ample evidence that Baker was concerned by the
threat on his 1ife. When his home was excavated in the summer of 1972,
gun parts and unspent shells were uncovered alongside each of the three
doors and by several of the windows; thus indicating that Bakér had al-

lowed for some preparedness in the event hils home should be attacked by

122

the Andersons. Maloy conflrmed Baker's readiness for the Andersons

when he stated that Baker had told him that ''he would sooner or later die
at the hands of Bill Anderson or his party, and he always went prepared

23

for the worst.”‘
The Andersons did return to fulfill their desire for vengeance.

They, along with three others, ''returned to Rock Creek on the second

of July, but learning that Baker was absent from home did not permit

anyone to know of their presence in the neighborhood.“lzu On the fol-

lowing day, Baker and his bride returned from Emporia and the Andersons

prepared their plans to strike against him.125

0'Dell claimed that Jim Anderson later described to him how ''they

had killed Baker and burned him up in his own house.“]26 The News reported

]2]Emporia News, July 12, 1862.

122/ Michael Shimeall, unpublished field notes taken on an archeo-
logical excavation of Arthur Baker's home at Agnes City, July, 1972.

]23Council Grove Kansas Cosmos, May 7, 1886.

125 b1 4.

125141 4.

12691peh11, p. s0.
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that the raid had occurred '"On Thursday evening, the 3rd of July, at
about 8 or 9 o'clock."27 o'pell quoted Jim Anderson as saying that
'They went to Baker's soon after dark and secreted themselves near the
grocery.“]28
The Andersons then sent a member of thelr party to Baker's door
to lure him out by claiming to be a wagon master who had come ahead to
procure supplies for his train.lzg' Maloy stated that '"This manner of
purchasing goods by the 'boss' of a train was an everyday occurrence,
and the Anderson party knew this ruse would not create any suspicion.“]30
Baker, nevertheless, took the precaution of strapping on a pair of re-
volvers and was accompanied by his young brother-{n—law, George Segur. 31
One of the items requested was whiskey, which Baker kept in the
cellar of the store. Both Baker and Segur descended through the trap
door to get the whiskey. As they did so, the remainder of the gang
rushed into the store and fired down at Baker, hitting both him and
Segur.]32 When this happened ''Baker reeled upon the steps, drew his
revolver, and fired into the crowd, hitting Jim Anderson in the thigh,

w133

but not seriously wounding him, 0'Dell claimed that when the Ander-

sons later visited him, however, that the leg was still '"'Bleeding some=-

]27Emporia News, July 12, 1862.

12801 pe 1.

]29Bailey, p. L6,

]30Council Grove Kansas Cosmos, May 7, 1886.

13V bid.

132Bailey, p. L46.
133

Council Grove Kansas Cosmos, May 7, 1886.
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what.“]314

The Andersons then closed the cellar door with their victims
trapped beneath, and "rolled a barrel of sugar up to the door and set
fire to the bui]ding.“]35 Bailey claimed that as they rushed into the
store, the Andersons ''with a triumphant yell told Baker that they 'got
him at last and were going to burn him up alive in his hole.'"136

Sequr had managed to egcape through a back window in the cellar
and eventually made his way to hide and cool his burns in the creek. The
young boy died the next day after telling of what happened in the store. 137
Young Segur claimed '‘that when Baker found that the store was on fire, he
shot himself through the head to keep from the horrible death of being
burned a]ive.”]38

After making sure that Baker would not escape from his firey grave,
the raiders ''then set fire to the remainder of his property, consisting
of a large stone dwelling, several out-houses, a carriage, 9553”139
The News reported that ''Baker's head, arms and legs were literally

burned to ashes.“”‘0

His wife and her family left in the house when
Baker went to the store, fled to the woods along the creek and hid until

the raiders left.]h] Family history claimed that the women had been pre-

13451 0e11, P. 50,
'35|bid.

‘368ailey, p. 46,

]37E@poria News, July 12, 1862.

1385111, p. 50.

]395meoria News, July.12, 1862.
0y hi4.

icouncil Grove Kansas Cosmos, May 7, 1886.
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paring apple pies for the fourth of July celebration in Council Grove.
These pies had been left unbaked on the kitchen table when the raiders
"struck. As the women were hiding along the creek they claimed that they
could smell the pies baking in the flames, as they consumed the house.]le

From the moment of Baker's death, Bill Anderson, illustrated in
Figure XXIl, became known in the histories of the West as ''Bloody Bill."
He and the other raiders fled back to Missouri. They managed to travel
a distance of over one-hundred-and-twenty miles in less than sixteen
hours. They did this by stealing fresh horses from the various stage
stops on the Santa Fe Road.”’3 Following his raid on Baker's, ''Bloody
Bil11'" Anderson became not only a trusted lieutenant to the guerrilla
leader Willjam Quantrill, but a notorious leader in his own right.]hu

Just as the life of Arthur 1. Baker was one of controversy and para-
dox, the events connected to his death were also highly enigmatic. Not
only had Baker's life been caught up in local grievances and issues, co-
lored by the overriding national climate, but so too was his death.
Baker was kllled because of a local grievance with his neighbors and
former compatriots. Since his deafh occurred, however, during the Civil
War, and at the hands of a man destined to be one of the most feared Con-
federate guerrilla leaders, official histories directly relate it to the
greater conflict.

There are a coupTe of possible reasons for this almost casual

treatment by historians of Baker's death. The first is that Anderson

Mz”Baker Family."

]b3ﬁmporia News, July 12, 1862,

L .
1 Wiley Britton, The Civil War on the Border, 1862-1865

(New York: The Knickenbacker Press, 1898}, passim.




FIGURE XXII

William "Bloody Bill' Anderson, as photographed during
the Civil War. Anderson murdered Baker on July 3, 1862,
in retaliation for Baker having previously killed his
father. Anderson, a former neighbor and compatriot of
Baker's, later became one of the most notorious Confed-
erate guerrilla leaders of the Civil War. (Courtesy of
the Missouri State Historical Society.)
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nself claimed that his death was directly related to the war.

l lived in Kansas when this war commenced. Because

| would not fight the people of Missouri, my native

State, the Yankees sought my li{fe, but failed to get

me. Revenged themselves by murdering my father,

destroying all my property, and have since that time

murdered one of my sisteﬂs and kept the other two in

jail for twelve months, 145
derson was referring to Baker's killing of his father as a reason for
s Confederate activity in the war. This would imply that his retal-
tion against Baker was also tied to the war. Hls reference to his
ster's death was In connection to the colliapse of the Union prison in
nsas City for female prisoners. Anderson's sisters had been arrested
€onfederate spies and quartered on the second floor of a temporary
ison. Due to the undue stress on the building, it collapsed and An-
rson's sister, Josephine, was ki]led.1h6

The second reason for tying Baker's death directly to the Civil

r is that his helrs and family made a concentrated legal effort to
ve it designated as a casualty of the war. The purpose of this effort
s to make those helirs eligible for a relmbursement "of losses of Citi-
ns of the State of Kansas by the invasion of bands of guerrillas and
rauders during the years 1861, 1862, 1863, 1864 and 1865.”]u7 Due to

e fact that Baker's helrs were successful in getting his death tied to

e war, instead of being a killing of personal vengeance, the state leg-

145Richard S. Brownlee, Gray Ghosts of the Confederacy, Guerrilla
rfare in the West, 1861-1865 {(Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University
ess, 1958), p. 201.

IA6William E. Connelley, History of Kansas (New York: The
erican Society, Inc., 1928), Il, pp. 632-35.
147

"Probate File of Arthur |. Baker, File 390" (Office of
obate Judge, Council Grove, Kansas).
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islature of 1887 certified the losses to his estate at $8,078 and

allowed for a payment of $2,500 to the heirs.]h8

Thus a cold=-blooded murder which ended the 1life of one of the
earllest Kansas ploneers, created not only for Baker, but for the his-

torian in his study of this frontiersman, the final paradox.

I1*8Journalof the Senate (Topeka: State Printer, 1887), p. 551.




CHAPTER VI

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

Few Kansans have been more closely associated with the events of
heir state's territorial history than Arthur Inghram Baker. Few of its
{oneers have béen so prominent, yet so misrepresented in her histories.
letween 1847 and 1862, Baker became one of the best known frontiersmen
f the Upper Neosho Valley. He was an articulate, yet largely sélf-
*ducated man with remarkable versatility, as evidenced by the diversity
f activities which he undertook. Since these activities have so close-
'y paralleled many of the more notable events in early Kansas history,
3aker has become, for this writer, a microcosmic study of those events.

Baker entered upon the Kansas scene in 1847, as a blacksmith with
the Mississippl Sac and Fox Indian nation, when they were removed by
treaty from their lowa lands. He remained in the service of the agency
for the next seven years, serving the last flve as a trader. In 1854,
however, Baker's intemperate attlitude and actions brought him into dis-
favor with the resident agent. His license to trade was not renewed
and he was ordered to vacate his claims on the reservation.

Baker did not acquiesce to the agent's edict, but proceeded to
fight back. He counter-charged and even took his case for reinstatement
to the Congress. The evidence shows that an investigation, by the Sup-
erintendent of Indian Affairs, found in favor of.the dismissal. In a
later investigation, however, Baker was awarded damages for any losses
he incurred as a result of his dismissal.

The fact that two Indian Commission investigations drew seemingly
two different conclusions illustrates the dilemma that the historian finds

himself in. Looking back at Baker's life, one finds unanswered questions,
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paradox and controversy concerning what was truth. In the matter of his
dismissal, like later charges brought against him, Baker steadfastly
pleaded his innocence.

It is at this moment of crisis, however, that Baker first showed
the resiliency and tenacity that was to characterize him as a frontiers-
man, Instead of abandoning the territory entirely, Baker relocated him-
self and his family on Kanza Indian land at the Rock Creek crossing of
the Santa Fe Trail. Here he began to reevaluate opportunities which
might arise, as a result of the territory being opened to permanent
white settlement.

The activities In which Baker employed himself are as diverse
as the needs of the settlers who paured into the Upper Neosho Valley.
Baker opened a store and was appointed one of the first postmasters in
what later became Lyon County. As a merchant, Baker not only served
the long wagon trains engaged in theSanta Fe trade, but also the squat-
ters who hoped to gain title to Kanza lands. |t was as a merchant at
Agnes City on Rock Creek that Baker began and ended his existence in
the Upper Neosho Vélley.

At Rock Creek on the Santa Fe Trail, Baker constructed one of the
first homes in the territory. The exact location of his home, a two-
story stone structure modeled after the Kaw Indian Mission, has been a
matter of local historical confusion. 1Its location was mistakenly
thought to be five miles east at the Bluff Creek crossing of the Santa
Fe Road. lronically, the location given by local historians was that
of the home of those who were later responsible for Baker's murder. Re-
search by this writer, however, has corrected this fallacy.

A second misconception concgrned when Baker settled in the county.

This error was grounded in the fact that Baker's home at Rock Creek was
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geographically associated with Council Grove. Following his death,

the two-mile strip on the western boundary of Lyon County, on which Baker's
home was located, was transferred to Morris and Chase counties. Baker's
assoclation with Council Grove was more than just geographical. His

family and closest friends were either living In or near the community,

and Baker himself lived and worked in Councll Grove for the better part

of a year before hls death. Regardless of thls associatlon, research

shows that when Baker relocated from the Sac and Fox reservation in

1854, he became one of the first, If not the first, settlers in Lyon
County.

Besides his store at Rock Creek, Baker developed what has been
described as one of the finest farms in the territory. Baker's princi-
ple activity as a farmer was that of a stockman. Available evidence in-
dicates that in all probility Baker did not actually personally engage
in husbandry. He used reservation Indians, hired hands, tenants, and
sharecroppers to work his farm.

While watching the Kansas frontier fill with settlers, and having
turned both his farm and store over to others to run for him, Baker
switched his energy to new and more profitable pursuits. By 1857 Baker
had hung out his shingle as an attorney and counsellor of law.

Although Baker did serve as an attorney in criminal cases, his
real forte seemed to be civil law, especially in the area of legal matters
concerning real estate. Being an attorney gave legitimacy to his most
notable economic pursuit, which was that of town promoter and land specu-
lator.

Baker sincerely beljeved that when Kansas eventually became a
state, its capital would be located In the Upper Neosho Valley. He

reasoned that the territory would be squared and its capital established
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in the center. Thus logically, the natural location would be near his
home at Rock Creek. His economic future would be directly tied to the
promotion of the area for settlement.

Baker's interest in land speculation was twofold; As a self-
proclaimed attorney and land agent he readily procured property for
migrants hoping to settle on choice sections of land in the new terri-
tory. As early as 1856, Baker was promoting the availability and advan-
tages of settling in the Upper Neosho Valley. He did this by publishing
letters in newspapers with either clrculation or editorial support in
the East.

A second and more profitable aspect of being a land speculator and
agent was in town development. Besides having established Agnes City at
his claim on Rock Creek, Baker soon became involved in the establishment,
plating and promotion of other new communities. Many of these, like Agnes
City, are now ghost towns and the location of some are lost to history.
Two of Baker's enterprises did survive, however, and they developed into
the two most prominent communities in Lyon County. Baker was primarily

responsible for obtaiﬁﬁzthe title and thus the incorporation of both

Americus and Emporia.

Since Baker's land agent activity preceeded land acts such as the
Homestead Act, Baker used other means to obtain title. The one most
often employed was in getting a veteran, or someone eligible for a vet-
erans claim, to allow Baker to file for the desired property in his or
her name, and then purchase it from them at a small price. The system
seemingly benefited both parties. The veteran was able to make some

extra money without having to leave his home, and Baker was able to ob-

tain valuable property at little expense.

Two factors affected Baker's town promotion and land speculation
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activities in 1861. First, the Union was dissolving and, with war ready
to erupt, the steady flow of new settlers from the East was cut to a
trickle, Second, although he continued being a land agent, Baker tem-
porarily moved his place of business to Council Grove.

The reason for this move was that Baker, the gentleman farmer, mer-
chant, attorney and land agent, added to his frontler roles by becoming

the editor and proprietor of the Council Grove Press. As editor, Baker

used the Press as an Instrument'of promotion for the economic interests
of the Santa Fe trade and the local business leaders involved in it.

His goal was to promote the trade and Council Grove, which was dependent
on It.

Shortly after becoming the Press's editor, Baker expanded his bus-
iness ties to Council Grove by purchasing the Unlon Hotel. Both activi-
ties were cut short late in 1861, however, when the death of his wife and
a poor return on his investment caused Baker to engage in other activi-
ties.

Although Baker became involved economically in a wide variety
of activities, he remained constant as a pioneer who attempted to deve-
lop, promote and give service to an untamed territory. To accomplish
and fulfill his economic life, Baker was thrust into the political af-
fairs of the territory. As an articulate promoter of the frontier, it
seemed only natural that Baker would enter local and territorial poli-
tics.

Although there is a direct relationship between Baker's economic and
political life, it is in the latter that he is remembered in local his-
tory. It is in his political life that Baker is best seen as a perplex-
ing and paradoxical study of a frontlersman. This is due In part to the

nature of the time and place that Baker became active in politics. It is
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also due to the fact that, unlike other pioneers such as Plumb and Wood,
Baker was first and foremost a frontier promoter and not a political
purist. Thus Baker could and did shift with relative ease from one po-
litical party or position to another, As a speculator, Baker was interes-
ted In maintaining a political climate favorable to economic growth, and
not In maintaining a constant political theory. As a result, to his
supporters Baker was an open, sincere and honest leader. To his detrac-
tors, however, he was considered arrogant and unprincipled, interested
only in gaining total control of the county by a smal) minority. They
ridiculed him as the '"Napoleon of Breckinridge County.“]

When the Kansas territory was created in 1854, Baker became almost
immediately involved in its politics. This was only natural, as the lim-
ited number of settlers in the territory and Baker's growing prominence
all but dictated his involvement.

The first mention of Baker in Kansas political history is in ref-
erence to the use of his home as the polling place for the western dis-
trict in the congressional delegate election of 1854, He is also mention-
ed as an election judge in both that election and in the 1855 territor-
ial legislature election. In January of that year, Baker was commissioned

Justice of Peace for the entire western district.

It is as a candidate in the 1855 election, however, that Baker is
Py
best remembered in territorial politics. Al though Baker is best rengr—
ed as a Free State candidate and considered one of its leaders in 1855,

available evidence and testimony state otherwise. in 1855 Baker was far

more sympathic to a Pro-Slavery position than a Free State one. The con-

fusion over his party allegiance stems from the fact that Baker later

Icouncil Grove Kansas Press, November 28, 1859,
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became active in the Free State party, and that at the conclusion of
the Civil War it was the former Free Staters who wrote the first state
histories. |t was these histories, striving to prove the consistency
of Republican and Free State principles, which defined the meanings of
the political labels used in the 1855 election.

Whereas the traditlonal definition of Free State and Pro-Slavery
has been dependent upon whether one was in favor or opposed to the ex-
tension of slavery in Kansas Territory, that definition for the Election
of 1855 is too simplistic. The year 1855 saw no organized political par-
ties In Kansas. The terms free State and Pro-Slavery were general lab-
els glven to two loose coalitions, The issue was not slave or free lab-
or for Kansas. Rather the issue was whether or not the leaders of Mis-
souri would be able to directly control the territorial government. With
this issue in mind, a proper definition for Free State becomes one of
freedom from that Missourian control. The name Pro-Slavery then is given
to the Missouri faction. Thus it was possible for many of the 1855 Free
State candidates, like Baker, to own slaves. Although Baker, a slave
owner, was certified as elected; the Missouri-controlled legislature
disavowed that election,

Baker again ran for the legislature in 1856, this time under the
Pro-Slavery label. As in 1855, Baker went down to defeat, losing to the
Free State candidate this time., The 1856 election saw the party lines
more formally drawn and the beginning of some centralized party organiza-
tion.

After his 1856 defeat, and having watched the influx of northern
settlers into the Upper Neosho Valley, Baker rid himself of his slaves

and began his conversion to traditional Free State principles,

Following this defeat, except for a try for a circuit judgeship



in the 1858 Leavenworth Constitution election, Baker concentrated his
political activities at the local level. His involvement at the local
level began when the 1857 Pro~Slavery legislature established Breckin-
ridge County, with its seat of government In Baker's home, and appointed
Baker as its first Probate Judge.

As a county political leader, Baker was drawn into a closer al-
llance with the newly established Free State Party. He quickly showed
his allegiance to the party by being elected to Its térritorial convention,
The reason for Baker's conversion was tied to his involvement in the
county government., With the majority of new settlers in the county com-
ing from the northern states, it became necessary for any aspiring poli-
tician, such as Baker, to ally himself with that faction.

As the chief executive and Judicial officer of the county, Baker
was the foremost leader in its early political life. In October 1857,
his service as Probate Judge and head of the County Commission was en-
dorsed by the voters when he was elected to continue in that post.

As a county official, Baker was interested in retaining con-
trol of the county by the northern and western townships. Such con-
trol was increasingly hindered by the fact that much of the land in
those townships was on the Kanza Reservation and thus closed to any le-
gal permanent white settlement. As a result, the majority of new set-
tlers gravitated to the eastern and southern townships. This tendency
accounted for the sharp rise in the population of Emporia in comparison
with other Breckinridge County communities.

Failure of the settlers on the '"Kanza lands' to successfully gain
ownership rights to their claims greatly aggravated Baker's efforts to
promote settlement In that area and thus retain political control of the

county. Along with its tremendous growth In population, the southern
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townships had the added advantage of some very ambitious leadership.
Emporians, such as Preston B, Plumb, had dedicated themselves to gaining
control of the county government and relocating its seat in their city.
The fulfillment of thelr desires brought a sharp end to Baker's leader-
ship in county politlcal affairs and helped to spur his removal to Council
Grove.

In the meantime, however, Baker concentrated his efforts in a
holding action against the Emporians. Since Agnes City was on the ''Kanza
lands," and to forestall continued critlcism by Plumb, the county seat
was moved to Americus. Americus was a city created by Baker for the
sole purpose of becoming the new county seat. Baker retained control of
Americus by becoming its first town company president.

nd

Baker g%é the county commissioners, however, could only designate
a temporary location for the county seat. A permanent location could be
decided only by a vote of the entire county. The county seat question was
the most hotly contested and divisive issue in the county's history. The
two major contenders for the seat were Americus and Emporia.

in 1858 Emporia was located on the southern border of the county
and thus suffered as a county seat candidate. Although Americus had won
the permanent county seat election in October 1858, Emporia managed to
have the southern boundary of the county extended and began to work for
a new election,

Yo counteract suéh a move Baker and the county commission created
three new townships, thus successfully splitting the southern vote.

Since the legislature ggfmchanged the physical make-up of county boards,
by having township representatives rather than a board of three commis-

sioners clected at large, such a move retained control in the hands of

the Baker faction,
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County government by township representatives was just temporary,
however, as the board of commissioners was restored the following year.
This was the beginning of the end for Baker and Amerlcus as county seat.

Until 1860 there had only been one political party organized in
Breckinridge County. What began as the Free State Party, had been re-
organlzed as the Republican. All political battles, up to this time,
had been fought within the eonfines of that party. The county seat
question of 1860, along with the national election, now ne&essitated
the formation of a county Democratic Party. This party was centered
around Americus, with the Republican controlled by Emporia.

With the party lines thus drawn, a new election was held for the
commission. The Republican-Emporia faction easily won control and soon

called for a new county seat election. The second election for a perma-

[Ty
o

nent county seat was the victor{vhhich the Emporians had fought so hard.

This victory was gained by swaying votes away from the northern
townships. The Emporians had promised that if the northerners would
vote for their city, then they in turn would support a legislative bill
creating a new COUSFY made up of the northern townships of Breckinridge
and the southergyéf Wabaunsee. This support, however, was not forthcoming
and the northerners, Baker included, bitterly disengaged themselves from
Breckinridge politics.

The loss was as complete for Baker as the victory for Plumb. Al-
though he later made one last attempt to rejoin the county Republican
party, Baker was never again a force in its politics. By January of the
following year he moved to Council Grove and became the editor of jts
paper.

With the Emporia victory in 1860 and the county seat question

settled, political actlvity became more and more concerned with national
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Issues, The year 1861 saw the dissolution of the Union and the be-
ginning of the Civil War. As editor, Baker was a staunch supporter of
Lincoln and the Unlon. As a commﬁnity ]eader; he was responsible for
the organization and recruitment of a company of volunteers, serving as
its captain.,

With the death of his wife In the spring of 1861 and the failure
of his Council Grove enterprises, Baker became involved in his greatest
controversy. In the fall of that yeér he led a gang of bushwhackers
into southern Missouri where they ran into the Union Army. Baker was
arrested and charged with supporting the secesslonist cause. He was held
for several months at Fort Scott without trial before the charges were
dropped and he was released. The question of whether Baker was acting
on his own when he went to Missouri or in some semi~official capacity,
perhaps under Lane, is left unanswered. The extent of Lane's involvement
in the promotion of jayhawking would be worthy of some future study.

When Baker returned to Lyon County, and his home at Rock Creek,
he took up once again the life of a store keeper, gentleman farmer and
town promoter. It was not long before he became involved, however, in
another controversy. This one ihvolved his personal, rather than his
business or political life.

Although he had been calling on a neighbor's daughter, causing the
neighbor to consider him interested in marriage, Baker, without prior
indication, announced his betrothal to another. The first young lady's
brothers, named Bill and Jim Anderson, took offense and became involved
in the theft of a team of horses belonging to_Baker's fiancee's father,
Baker's response was to swear out an arrest warrant for the theft and
to hunt down the horses. The Anderson's father, after having made pre-

vious threats, went to Baker, Intending to ki1l him. Baker, however,
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fired the first shot and killed Anderson in self~defense.

The Anderson brothers, after vowing revenge, fled to Missouri, where
they joined Quantroll. In July, 1862, the Andersons returned, and using
a ruse managed to trick and then kill Baker in his store. The murder of
Baker and the burning of his store and home to the ground was, according
to local history, the beginning of the notorious career of ''Bloody Bill"
Anderson. It was because 6f Anderson's Civil War notoriety that Baker's
death has been treated by local history as a Civil War casdalty. The tie
of his death to the war was enhanced by Baker's heirs, when they later
successfully had his name added to a claim bill for damages committed by
guerrilla activity In Kansas. Such a tle meant twenty-five hundred dol-
lars to his heirs,

Evidence has shown, however, that Baker was not a casualty of the
war, but a victim of personal revenge. Baker's death was perhaps a cata-
lyst for Anderson's Civil War career, but not a result of it.

The early history of Kansas was one of violence, a battleground of
conflicting ideologies and ways of }ife. It was the scene of the fre-
netic activities of speculation and settlement. [t was a time that
invited controversy rather than compromise. As one of its first pio-
neers, the life and death of Arthur Inghram Baker is thus of importance.
It is in that life that the myriad activities found on the frontier can
be seen.

Baker, the little<remembered pioneer, was responsible, perhaps more
than any other single individual, for the opening up and settlement of
the Upper Neosho frontier. He was its first true leader and promoter.

As a promoter, he reached for the stars, only to find that others were

to best him there,

Baker's potential for any further contribution to Kansas and the
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Upper Neosho Valley remained unfuifiiled due to his murder. Because
of thls, Baker, instead of holding a central place, has been relegated
to but a footnote of its history. Yet, as frontelrsman, pioneer leader
and promoter of its settlement, Baker's life and death is important
to any true understanding of the history of Kansas and the Upper Neosho,.
For that life is salient In the fact that Baker transcends Kansas' pre-
territorial, territorial and early state history.

it is for fhis reason, that the writer has seen fit to place

Baker's "little romance . . . before the pub]ic.“2

Zﬁmgoria News, April 12, 1862,
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Family Relationships of
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